UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 13D

Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.)*

QIWI plc (Name of Issuer)

American Depositary Shares, each representing one Class B ordinary share Class B Ordinary Shares, having a nominal value of €0.0005 per share (Title of Class of Securities)

> 74735M108 (CUSIP Number)

Evgeny Dankevich, Ruben Aganbegyan and Konstantin Olefir 2/4 Letnikovskaya Street, 115114, Moscow, Russia +7 (495) 232-03-00 (Name, Address and Telephone Number of Person Authorized to Receive Notices and Communications)

> June 2, 2015 (Date of Event which Requires Filing of this Statement)

If the filing person has previously filed a statement on Schedule 13G to report the acquisition that is the subject of this Schedule 13D, and is filing this schedule because of §§ 240.13d-1(e), 240.13d-1(f) or 240.13d-1(g), check the following box. □

Note: Schedules filed in paper format shall include a signed original and five copies of the schedule, including all exhibits. See Rule13d-7 for other parties to whom copies are to be sent.

The remainder of this cover page shall be filled out for a reporting person's initial filing on this form with respect to the subject class of securities, and for any subsequent amendment containing information which would alter disclosures provided in a prior cover page.

The information required on the remainder of this cover page shall not be deemed to be "filed" for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Act") or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section of the Act but shall be subject to all other provisions of the Act (however, see the Notes).

CUSIP No. 74735M108

13D

1.	Names of reporting persons				
	Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited ¹				
2.					
	(a) □	(b)			
3.	SEC use	only			
4.	Source o	f fun	ds (see instructions)		
5.	00 Chack be	v if	disclosure of legal proceedings is required pursuant to Items 2(d) or 2(e)		
5.	CHECK U		insciosure of regar proceedings is required pursuant to items 2(d) or 2(e)		
6.	Citizensł	nip or	r place of organization		
	Republ	ic of	f Cyprus		
	1	7.	Sole voting power		
Nı	umber of		5,593,0412		
:	shares	8.	Shared voting power		
	neficially vned by		11,877,8213		
	each	9.	Sole dispositive power		
	porting person		5 502 0412		
	with	10.	5,593,0412 Shared dispositive power		
		10.			
11.	Aggrage	to on	0 nount beneficially owned by each reporting person		
11.	Agglega		ount beneficiarily owned by each reporting person		
10	17,470,8624				
12.	2. Check box if the aggregate amount in Row (11) excludes certain shares (see instructions) \Box				
13.	8. Percent of class represented by amount in Row (11)				
	31.3%5				
14.			ting person (see instructions)		
	CO				
	СО				

- Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited ("OICL" or the "Reporting Person") is a private limited company organized under the laws of Cyprus.
 Based on 5,593,041 Class B ordinary shares acquired by OICL pursuant to a subscription agreement, dated May 14, 2015 (the "Subscription Agreement"), by and among QIWI plc ("QIWI" or the "Issuer"), OICL and Otkritie Holding JSC ("Otkritie Holding"). Of the 5,593,041 Class B ordinary shares acquired by OICL under the Subscription Agreement, 3,915,129 Class B ordinary shares were issued on June 2, 2015 and 1,677,912 Class B ordinary shares are expected to be issued around mid-July 2015, subject to the satisfaction of various closing conditions. OICL may deposit the Class B ordinary shares with the depositary for QIWI's American Depositary Share ("ADS") program and receive a number of ADSs representing Class B ordinary shares so deposited.
- Based on 11,877,821 Class B ordinary shares which may be received upon conversion of Class A ordinary shares beneficially held by Saldivar Investments Limited ("Saldivar"), over which the Reporting Person may be deemed to have beneficial ownership due to certain rights in the Voting Agreement described in Item 4(d) below. As a result of the rights under the Voting Agreement, Saldivar and OICL may be deemed to be a group under Rule 13d-5(b) of the Act. The Reporting Person disclaims the existence of a group with Saldivar.
- ⁴ Based on 5,593,041 Class B ordinary shares acquired by OICL pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, plus 11,877,821 Class B ordinary shares which may be received upon conversion of Class A ordinary shares beneficially held by Saldivar.
- 5 Based on 42,313,821 Class B ordinary shares outstanding as of June 3, 2015, as disclosed by QIWI in its Form F-3 Registration Statement (as defined below), plus 1,677,912 Class B ordinary shares to be issued and issuable to OICL pursuant to the Subscription Agreement and 11,877,821 Class B ordinary shares which may be received upon conversion of Class A ordinary shares beneficially held by Saldivar. Each Class B ordinary share is entitled to one vote, and each Class A ordinary share is entitled to ten votes. The percentage reported does not reflect the ten for one voting power of the Class A ordinary shares.

Explanatory Note:

This Schedule 13D records the acquisition by OICL of beneficial ownership of 5,593,041 Class B ordinary shares of QIWI. On May 14, 2015, OICL entered into the Subscription Agreement with QIWI and Otkritie Holding for the acquisition of 5,593,041 Class B ordinary shares of QIWI in exchange for all of the outstanding charter capital of CIHRUS Limited Liability Company ("CIHRUS"). On June 2, 2015, pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, QIWI acquired a 70% interest in CIHRUS from OICL in exchange for the issuance of 3,915,129 Class B ordinary shares to OICL. The parties anticipate that the remaining 30% interest in CIHRUS will be acquired by QIWI from OICL in exchange for the issuance of 1,677,912 Class B ordinary shares to OICL around mid-July 2015, subject to the satisfaction of various closing conditions. OICL may deposit the Class B ordinary shares with the depositary for QIWI's ADS program and receive a number of ADSs representing Class B ordinary shares so deposited.

Item 1. Security and Issuer.

This statement on Schedule 13D relates to the Class B ordinary shares and ADSs of QIWI. The address of the principal executive office of QIWI is Kennedy 12, Kennedy Business Centre, 2nd floor, P.C. 1087, Nicosia, Cyprus.

Item 2. Identity and Background.

This statement is filed by OICL, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus, whose principle business is investment activities and business address and registered address are at Angelou Vlachou, 4A, 6052, Larnaca, Cyprus.

To the knowledge of OICL, the name, business address, citizenship, and principal occupation or employment of (i) each director and executive officer of OICL, (ii) each person controlling such corporation and (iii) each executive officer and director of any corporation or other person ultimately in control of such corporation, are set forth in Schedule A and incorporated herein by this reference.

During the past five years, OICL has not, nor, to the knowledge of OICL, have any of the persons listed on Schedule A hereto (i) been convicted in any criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations or similar misdemeanors) or (ii) was a party to a civil proceeding of a judicial or administrative body of competent jurisdiction and as a result of such proceeding was or is subject to a judgment, decree or final order enjoining future violations of, or prohibiting or mandating activities subject to, federal or state securities laws or finding any violation with respect to such laws.

Item 3. Source or Amount of Funds or Other Consideration.

The consideration for the Class B ordinary shares acquired by OICL under the Subscription Agreement was the transfer by OICL to QIWI of an in-kind contribution in the form of 100% of the charter capital of CIHRUS.

Item 4. Purpose of Transaction.

The acquisition of beneficial ownership of the Class B ordinary shares reported in this Schedule 13D by OICL from QIWI was the result of the sale to QIWI of all of the charter capital of CIHRUS. See the Explanatory Note above, which is incorporated herein by reference. In connection with the acquisition of the Class B ordinary shares, QIWI and OICL entered into a cooperation agreement, dated June 2, 2015 (the "Cooperation Agreement"),

13D

pursuant to which they have agreed to strategically cooperate with each other in order to carry out certain joint projects related to certain areas of their respective businesses, including by virtue of establishing a steering committee.

(a) OICL may deposit the Class B ordinary shares with the depositary for QIWI's ADS program and receive a number of ADSs representing Class B ordinary shares so deposited. OICL may seek to sell the Class B ordinary shares or ADSs it owns in the ordinary course of its business.

On June 4, 2015, QIWI filed a Form F-3 Registration Statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), for the resale from time to time of ADSs beneficially owned by OICL (the "Form F-3 Registration Statement"). In addition, OICL may transfer Class B ordinary shares or ADSs by other means, including in a transaction pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act or in a transaction exempt from registration under the Securities Act, including pursuant to Rule 144 thereunder. There is no assurance that any such resales or other transfers will be made.

OICL expects to enter into repurchase, buy and sell back and other similar transactions with third parties from time to time covering Class B ordinary shares and ADSs it beneficially owns, and also may loan, pledge, hypothecate or sell Class B ordinary shares and ADSs to third parties.

(d) Pursuant to a voting agreement, dated June 2, 2015 (the "Voting Agreement"), between Saldivar and OICL, Saldivar has agreed to vote the shares held by it as are necessary in favor of electing or re-electing Mr. Evgeny Dankevitch, or if Mr. Evgeny Dankevitch does not consent to his appointment as director, a replacement nominee agreed with Saldivar (a "Designated Director"), for election or re-election as a director at any general meeting of QIWI shareholders during a one-year period following the date of the Voting Agreement.

(f) OICL, and the other persons listed on Schedule A hereto, may engage in discussions with management, QIWI's board of directors, other QIWI shareholders and other relevant parties concerning the business, operations, board composition, management, strategy and future plans of QIWI. Pursuant to the Voting Agreement, Saldivar has agreed to vote the shares held by it as are necessary in favor of electing or re-electing a Designated Director for election or re-election as a director at any general meeting of QIWI shareholders during a one-year period following the date of the Voting Agreement.

As a result of these activities, OICL may suggest or take a position with respect to potential changes in the business, operations, management or capital structure of QIWI. Such suggestions or positions may include one or more plans or proposals that relate to or would result in any of the actions required to be reported herein.

To the knowledge of OICL, each of the persons listed on Schedule A hereto may make the same evaluation and reserve the same rights.

Item 5. Interest in Securities of the Issuer.

(a) See Exhibit A hereto, which is incorporated herein by reference.

- (b) See Exhibit A hereto, which is incorporated herein by reference.
- (c) Not applicable.

(d) OICL expects to enter into repurchase, buy and sell back and other similar transactions with third parties from time to time covering Class B ordinary shares and ADSs it beneficially

CUSIP No. 74735M108

owns, and also may loan, pledge, hypothecate or sell Class B ordinary shares and ADSs to third parties. Such third parties may then hold an interest in some or all of OICL's ADSs, including the right to receive dividends and other distributions thereon and to sell or transfer such ADSs.

(e) Not applicable.

Item 6. Contracts, Arrangements, Understandings or Relationships with Respect to Securities of the Issuer.

Form F-3 Registration Statement

On June 4, 2015, QIWI filed the Form F-3 Registration Statement under the Securities Act, for the resale from time to time of ADSs beneficially owned by OICL.

Repurchase Agreements

OICL expects to enter into repurchase, buy and sell back and other similar transactions with third parties from time to time covering Class B ordinary shares and ADSs it beneficially owns, and also may loan, pledge, hypothecate or sell Class B ordinary shares and ADSs to third parties.

Subscription Agreement

QIWI, OICL and Otkritie Holding entered into the Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which they have agreed OICL will acquire 5,593,041 Class B ordinary shares of QIWI in exchange for all of the outstanding charter capital of CIHRUS.

Voting Agreement

Saldivar and OICL entered into the Voting Agreement, pursuant to which they have agreed to the nomination and appointment of a Designated Director as director of QIWI during a one-year period following the date of the Voting Agreement.

Item 7. Material to Be Filed as Exhibits.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit <u>Number</u>	Description
1.	Cooperation Agreement, dated June 2, 2015, between QIWI plc and Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited
2.	Subscription Agreement, dated May 14, 2015, by and among QIWI plc, Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited and Otkritie Holding JSC
3.	Voting Agreement, dated June 2, 2015, between Saldivar Investments Limited and Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited

13D

13D

SIGNATURE

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set forth in this statement is true, complete and correct.

Dated: June 12, 2015

Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited

/s/ Maria Pitta Maria Pitta

Director Insert Title

CUSIP No. 74735M108

13D

SCHEDULE A

Persons other than Individuals:

Name:	Address of Principal Office and Principal Business	Jurisdiction of Organization
Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda; Investments	Bermuda
OTKRITIE Capital LLC	Letnikovskaya street, 2, building 4, Moscow, 115114, Russia; Investments	Russian Federation
Otkritie Holding JSC	Letnikovskaya street, 2, building 4, Moscow, 115114, Russia; Investments	Russian Federation

Individuals:

Name:	Title/Principal Occupation or Employment	Citizenship
Maria Pitta	Director of Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	Cyprus
Androulla Mantoles	Director of Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	Cyprus
Christina Kei	Director of Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	Cyprus
Niel Leonard Jones	Director of Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	British
Angela Francine Atherden	Alternate Director for Niel Leonard Jones of Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	British Overseas Territories
Ekaterina Viktorovna Bogdanova	General Director of Otkritie Capital LLC	Russian Federation
Ruben Abelovich Aganbegyan	General Director and Member of the Board of Directors of Otkritie Holding JSC	Russian Federation
Vadim Stanislavovich Belyaev	Chairman of the Board of Directors of Otkritie Holding JSC	Russian Federation
Aleksandr Leonidovich Mamut	Member of the Board of Directors of Otkritie Holding JSC	Russian Federation
Olga Vladimirovna Plaksina	Member of the Board of Directors of Otkritie Holding JSC	Russian Federation
Dmitry Zakerievich Romaev	Member of the Board of Directors of Otkritie Holding JSC	Russian Federation

The business address for each of the individuals listed above, other than Maria Pitta, Androulla Mantoles, Niel Leonard Jones, Angela Francine Atherden and Christina Kei, is Letnikovskaya street, 2, building 4, Moscow, 115114, Russia. The business address for Maria Pitta and Androulla Mantoles is 4 Angelou Vlachou, 4A, 6052, Larnaca, Cyprus. The business address for Christina Kei is Chrysanthou Mylona 10, Magnum House, P.C. 3030, Limassol, Cyprus. The business address for Niel Leonard Jones and Angela Francine Atherden is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

CUSIP No. 74735M108

Each individual listed in the table above disclaims beneficial ownership of the Class A and/or B ordinary shares that may be beneficially owned by each of the other entities and individuals listed in this Schedule A and this report shall not be construed as an admission that such persons are the beneficial owner of such securities.

EXHIBIT A

Item 5(a)&(b) – Interest in Securities of the Issuer

	Class B Shares
(a) Amount Beneficially Owned	
Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	17,470,862
Otkritie Holding JSC	17,470,862
Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	14,672,794
OTKRITIE Capital LLC	14,672,794
(b) Percent of class	
Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	31.3%
Otkritie Holding JSC	31.3%
Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	26.3%
OTKRITIE Capital LLC	26.3%
(c) Number of Shares as to which such person has:	
(i) Sole power to vote or to direct the vote:	
Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	5,593,041
Otkritie Holding JSC	0
Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	0
OTKRITIE Capital LLC	0
(ii) Shared power to vote or to direct the vote:	
Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	11,877,821
Otkritie Holding JSC	17,470,862
Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	14,672,794
OTKRITIE Capital LLC	14,672,794
(iii) Sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of:	
Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	5,593,041
Otkritie Holding JSC	0
Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	0
OTKRITIE Capital LLC	0
(iv) Share power to dispose or to direct the disposition of:	<u>^</u>
Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited	0
Otkritie Holding JSC	5,593,041
Otkritie Advisory Services Limited	4,697,281
OTKRITIE Capital LLC	4,697,281

Explanatory Note:

Otkritie Holding may be deemed to beneficially own the Class B shares beneficially owned by OICL by virtue of its indirect ownership interest in OICL. OICL is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Otkritie Holding.

Otkritie Advisory Services Limited ("Otkritie Advisory") may be deemed to beneficially own approximately 84.0% of the Class B shares beneficially owned by OICL by virtue of its direct ownership interest in OICL. Otkritie Advisory is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Otkritie Holding.

OTKRITIE Capital LLC ("Otkritie Capital") may be deemed to beneficially own approximately 84.0% of the Class B shares beneficially owned by OICL by virtue of its indirect ownership interest in OICL. Otkritie Capital is a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Otkritie Holding.

CUSIP No. 74735M108

13D

Page 10 of 10 Pages

COOPERATION AGREEMENT

This Cooperation Agreement, dated as of <u>02</u> June, 2015, between Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with registration number HE 301373, whose registered address is at Angelou Vlachou, 4A, 6052, Larnaca, Cyprus ("<u>OICL</u>" and together with its Affiliates, "<u>Otkritie</u>") and QIWI plc, a public company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with registration number HE 193010, whose registered office is at Kennedy 12, Kennedy Business Centre, 2nd floor, P.C. 1087, Nicosia, Cyprus ("<u>OIWI</u>", and, together with its Affiliates, "<u>OIWI Group</u>").

RECITALS

- (A) On 14 May 2015, OICL, Otkritie Holding JSC and QIWI entered into a deed of subscription (the "<u>Deed of Subscription</u>"), pursuant to which OICL will acquire 5,593,041 class B ordinary shares in QIWI (the "<u>Subscription Shares</u>").
- (B) Under the terms of the Deed of Subscription, QIWI will acquire a one hundred (100) percent ownership interest in the charter capital of CIHRUS Limited Liability Company (Общество с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус») ("<u>CIHRUS</u>"), a limited liability company duly existing and incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation.
- (C) CIHRUS is the parent company of Rapida Ltd (Общество с ограниченной ответственностью Небанковская кредитная организация «Рапида»), a company duly existing and incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation under registration number 1037700111679, which QIWI will acquire as part of the transactions contemplated under the Deed of Subscription ("NKO Rapida" and, together with its Affiliates that are also being acquired pursuant to the transactions contemplated by the Subscription Agreement, "Rapida").
- (D) Following the acquisition of CIHRUS by QIWI and in order to promote their mutual interests, the parties wish to cooperate for their mutual benefit in the fields of their business, including digital payments, and establish a steering committee in order to analyse and develop potential areas of cooperation between the Parties.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Definitions and Interpretation.

1.1 Definitions

"<u>Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to any person, any other person directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, Controlling, Controlled by or under common Control with such person and, in the case of a trust, any trustee or beneficiary (actual or potential) of that trust and, in the case of an individual, any person connected with him; provided that, for the purposes of this Agreement, neither QIWI nor any of its subsidiaries is to be regarded as an Affiliate of Otkritie; "<u>Applicable Law(s)</u>" means all laws, regulations, directives, statutes, subordinate legislation, common law and civil codes of any jurisdiction, all judgments, orders, notices, instructions, decisions and awards of any court or competent authority having jurisdiction over Otkritie or QIWI, as applicable, or tribunal or in an administrative, regulatory or similar proceeding;

"Business Day" means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Moscow (Russia); New York (United States) and Nicosia (Cyprus);

"Committee Member" has the meaning given to it in Clause 3.2;

"Completion 1" has the meaning given to it in the Deed of Subscription;

"Confidential Information" means the existence and contents of this Agreement, the arrangements contemplated by this Agreement and:

- (a) any information of whatever nature concerning the business, finance, assets, liabilities, dealings, transactions, know-how, customers, suppliers, processes or affairs of the other parties and any of their group undertakings from time to time;
- (b) any information which is expressly indicated to be confidential in relation to the party disclosing it (or in relation to any of its group undertakings) from time to time,

which any party may from time to time receive or obtain (verbally or in writing or in disk or electronic form or by any other means) from any other party as a result of negotiating, entering into, or performing its obligations pursuant to this Agreement;

in each case except to the extent that such information is, has or does become available:

- (i) to a party through the public domain other than pursuant to a breach of an obligation of confidentiality in respect thereof by such party or its Representatives; or
- (ii) pursuant to disclosure, in a non-confidential manner, to a party by a source which to the knowledge of such party is not prohibited to disclose the information by reason of any legal, contractual or fiduciary obligation;

"<u>Control</u>" in relation to an undertaking means the direct or indirect holding or control of: (a) a majority of the voting rights exercisable at general meetings of the members of that undertaking on all, or substantially all, matters; (b) the right to appoint or remove directors having a majority of the voting rights exercisable at meetings of the board of directors of that undertaking on all, or substantially all, matters; (c) the right (whether pursuant to a contract, understanding or other arrangement) to direct or cause to be directed directly or indirectly a dominant influence over such other undertaking, and (i) where an undertaking is not a company, references above to directors, general meetings and members shall be deemed to refer to the equivalent bodies in such undertaking; and (ii) "Controlled" and "Controlling" shall have a corresponding meaning;

"Dispute" has the meaning given to it in Clause 9.2;

"Effective Time" has the meaning given to it in Clause 6.1;

"LCIA" has the meaning given to it in Clause 9.2;

"LCIA Rules" has the meaning given to it in Clause 9.2;

"<u>NKO Rapida</u>" has the meaning given to it in the Recitals;

"Parties" shall mean OICL and QIWI, together, and each of them a "Party";

"Representatives" has the meaning given to it in Clause 5.2;

"Steering Committee" has the meaning given to it in Clause 3.1;

- 1.2 In this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) references to a "party" mean a party to this Agreement and includes the successors in title to substantially the whole of its undertaking;
 - (b) references to a "person" include a body corporate, an unincorporated association, a trust and a partnership;
 - (c) references to any statutory provision, rule or law shall include references to such statutory provision, rule or law as it may, after the date of this Agreement, from time to time be amended, supplemented or re-enacted and any subordinate legislation made under such statutory provision;

- (d) references to "Clauses" are to clauses of this Agreement; and
- (e) words denoting the singular shall include the plural and vice versa and words denoting any gender shall include all genders.
- 1.3 The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect its interpretation or construction.

2. Joint Cooperation to Further Business.

- 2.1 Subject to Applicable Law, fiduciary duties and obligations, the best interests of their respective customers, existing contractual agreements, business and market conditions, the protection of confidential or competitively sensitive information and commercial determinations as to appropriate business, product and marketing efforts, each of Otkritie and QIWI Group agree to strategically cooperate with each other in order to carry out certain joint projects related to certain areas of their respective businesses, including by virtue of establishing the Steering Committee described further herein.
- 3. <u>Steering Committee</u>.
- 3.1 The Parties shall form a steering committee (the "<u>Steering Committee</u>"), which shall analyse and develop potential areas of strategic cooperation between the Parties and oversee the Parties' cooperation in these areas.
- 3.2 The Steering Committee shall consist of three representatives of QIWI Group and three representatives of Otkritie (each, a "<u>Committee</u> <u>Member</u>"). The representatives shall include:
 - (a) at least one representative from Otkritie occupying the position of Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Management Board or similar within Otkritie Holding JSC, PJSC Khanty-Mansiysk Bank Otkritie or JSC Bank Otkritie Financial Corporation; and
 - (b) QIWI's Chief Executive Officer.

Each of Otkritie and QIWI Group shall have the exclusive right to remove and replace any of its designees to the Steering Committee at any time by notice to the other party.

3.3 The Steering Committee shall meet at least once in each month and as otherwise agreed between Committee Member. Such meetings shall take place in Moscow, in a location agreed by Otkritie and QIWI Group or by telephone.

- 3.4 The presence of four Committee Members, including two representatives of Otkritie and two representatives of QIWI Group, shall constitute a quorum.
- 3.5 The Steering Committee shall validly act only at a duly convened meeting with the approval of at least four (4) of the Committee Members present at such meeting. Upon the approval of a proposal by the Steering Committee, the Steering Committee shall present such proposal to the respective governing body of each Otkritie and of QIWI for approval. For the avoidance of doubt, no decision of the Steering Committee if and to the extent that, such decision is properly approved/ratified by the relevant governing bodies of both Otkritie and QIWI.
- 3.6 The Parties agree that the following items are potential areas of joint cooperation to be discussed, among other matters, at Steering Committee meetings:
 - (a) Participation of Otkritie as a privileged party in banking projects established by QIWI where QIWI seeks a banking partner;
 - (b) Subject to Applicable Law, commercial terms for QIWI to provide consumer scoring data it has collected to Otkritie;
 - (c) Commercial terms for Otkritie to act as settlement bank of NKO Rapida in accordance with Clause 4.1;
 - (d) Commercial terms relating to the amounts of deposits to be placed by NKO Rapida in Otkritie;
 - (e) Separation of NKO Rapida's digital wallet business from the core business of NKO Rapida;
 - (f) Commercial terms of cooperation of the parties in the areas of pre-paid cards and loyalty programs;
 - (g) Commercial terms of the use by Otkritie of the NKO Rapida brands owned by QIWI Group; and
 - (h) Commercial terms of the potential sale of the NKO Rapida's banking license to Otkritie.
- 3.7 The Parties agree and acknowledge that no agreement has been reached between the Parties with respect to any of the matters referenced in Clause 3.6, the matters in Clause 3.6 merely reflects potential areas of discussion for the Steering Committee.

- 3.8 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed or construed as QIWI and Otkritie having reached a binding agreement in respect of any items listed in Clause 3.6.
- 3.9 The Parties agree and acknowledge that the Steering Committee shall not represent an exclusive forum through which any of the matters set forth in Clause 3.6 may be discussed between the Parties and that the Parties may reach agreement with respect to any of the matters set forth in Clause 3.6 or any other matter without Steering Committee approval or action.

4. Bank Services.

4.1 For two (2) years following the Effective Time, QIWI covenants that at least one half of the total transactions processed by the Contact money transfer system during such two-year period shall be settled through PJSC Khanty-Mansiysk Bank Otkritie, provided that QIWI may terminate its obligation under this Clause 4.1 at any time, in which case it shall pay to Otkritie a fee equal to the demonstrated costs incurred by Otkritie for such period starting from 1 September 2014, until the date of termination of QIWI's obligations under this Clause 4.1 in connection with (i) the transfer of settlement bank function to PJSC Khanty-Mansiysk Bank Otkritie ; and (ii) supporting the settlement bank functionality for the Contact money transfer system, provided further that such fee shall in no event exceed RUB 50 000 000 (fifty million roubles).

5. <u>Confidential Information</u>.

- 5.1 Except as provided in clause 5.2, no party shall, and each party shall procure that their Representatives shall not, disclose to any third party, or use or exploit commercially for its or their own purposes, any Confidential Information. The obligations of the parties under this clause 5.1 shall remain in force until the relevant information enters the public domain otherwise than by the default of a party.
- 5.2 The obligations of confidentiality in clause 5.1 do not apply in respect of the disclosing of Confidential Information in the following circumstances:
 - (a) in connection with the performance of each party's obligations hereunder or the enforcement of its rights hereunder;
 - (b) to its Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, and professional advisers or its and/or their Affiliates (the "<u>Representatives</u>") on a need to know basis to the extent reasonably required for purposes connected with this Agreement;

- (c) pursuant to any listing agreement with or the rules and regulations of any recognised security exchange on which securities of such Party or any of its Affiliates are listed and/or traded;
- (d) as required by Applicable Law,

provided in each case set out in Clauses 5.2(a) and 5.2(b) above, the Party disclosing the same shall take all reasonable steps to preserve the confidentiality thereof and to ensure that such information shall be used only for the purposes for which it has been disclosed.

- 5.3 If a Party becomes required, in circumstances contemplated by Clauses 5.2(c) or 5.2(d), to disclose any information, such party shall (save to the extent prohibited by such rules and regulations or Applicable Law) give to the other party such notice as is practical in the circumstances of such disclosure and shall co-operate with the other party, having due regard to the other party's views, and take such steps as the other party may reasonably require in order to enable it to mitigate the effects of, or avoid the requirements for, any such disclosure.
- 5.4 In the event that any Affiliate of any party who has received Confidential Information is requested in any Litigation to disclose Confidential Information, that party shall give each other party prompt written notice of such request (if permitted by Applicable Law) so that each other party may seek an appropriate protective order. If in the absence of a protective order a party's Affiliate is compelled to disclose Confidential Information, such Representative may disclose such portion of the Confidential Information that in the opinion of the disclosing party's counsel such Affiliate is compelled to disclose without liability under this Agreement; provided, however, that the disclosing party shall give the other party written notice of the Confidential Information to be disclosed as far in advance of its disclosure as is practicable (if permitted by Applicable Law) and shall use reasonable efforts to obtain assurances that confidential treatment will be accorded to such Confidential Information.

In this Clause 5.4, "<u>Litigation</u>" means any action, cause of action, claim, demand, suit, proceeding, citation, summons, subpoena, inquiry or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, regulatory or otherwise, in law or in equity, pending or threatened, by or before any court, tribunal, arbitrator, expert or other governmental authority.

6. Effectiveness and Termination.

6.1 This Clause 6 and Clauses 1, 5, 7 through 9 (inclusive) come into force and effect upon the execution of this Agreement by the Parties. The remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be effective only upon Completion 1 (the "Effective Time").

- 6.2 Unless otherwise mutual agreed between the Parties, this Agreement shall remain in effect until the earlier of the below events occur:
 - (a) The fifth (5th) anniversary of this Agreement; and
 - (b) Otkritie ceasing to own more than 2,237,216 class B shares or American depositary shares of QIWI.
- 6.3 Notwithstanding Clause 6.2, this Clause 6 and Clauses 1, 5, 7 through 9 (inclusive) shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
- 7. <u>Miscellaneous</u>.
- 7.1 Nothing in this Agreement or in any document referred to in it shall constitute any of the Parties a partner of any other, nor shall the execution, completion and implementation of this Agreement confer on any Party any power to bind or impose any obligations to any third parties on any other Party or to pledge the credit of any other Party.
- 7.2 If any provision or part of this Agreement is void or unenforceable due to any Applicable Law, it shall be deemed to be deleted and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. Each party shall use its reasonable endeavours to replace the invalid provision in that respect with a valid and enforceable substitute provision the effect of which is as close (commercially and legally) to its intended effect as possible.
- 7.3 No variation of this Agreement (or any of the documents referred to in it) shall be valid unless it is in writing (which, for this purpose, does not include email) and signed by or on behalf of each of the parties. The expression "variation" includes any variation, supplement, deletion or replacement however effected.
- 7.4 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the parties to it on separate counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original, but all the counterparts together constitute one instrument.
- 7.5 No Party shall assign (whether absolutely or by way of security and whether in whole or in part), transfer, mortgage, charge or otherwise dispose in any manner whatsoever of the benefit of this Agreement or sub-contract or delegate in any manner whatsoever its performance under this Agreement.
- 7.6 No term of this Agreement is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or otherwise by a person who is not a Party to this Agreement.

- 8. <u>Notices</u>.
- 8.1 A notice (including any approval, consent or other communication) in connection with this Agreement and the documents referred to in it or with any arbitration under this Agreement:
 - (a) must be in writing in English;
 - (b) for the avoidance of doubt, must not be sent by electronic mail;
 - (c) must be delivered by hand, fax or courier using an internationally recognised courier company to the address specified below in relation to the Party to whom the notice is addressed, and marked for the attention of the person so specified, or to such other address or fax number or marked for the attention of such other person, as the relevant party may from time to time specify by notice given in accordance with this clause.

The relevant details of each party at the date of this Agreement are:

OICL

Address:	2\4 Letnikovskaya street, 115114, Moscow, Russia		
Fax number:			
Attention:	Evgeny Dankevich		
Ruben Aganbegyan\Konstantin Olefir			

and

QIWI

Address:	Kennedy 12, Kennedy Business Centre, 2nd floor, P.C. 1087, Nicosia, Cyprus
Fax number:	

Attention: Mr. Philios Yiangou / Mr. Sergey Solonin

8.2 In the absence of evidence of earlier receipt, any notice shall take effect from the time that it is deemed to be received in accordance with Clause 8.3.

- 8.3 A notice is deemed to be received:
 - (a) in the case of a notice delivered by hand or courier at the address of the addressee given above, upon delivery at that address; and
 - (b) in the case of a notice delivered by fax, at the time of transmission (provided that a transmission report from the machine from which the fax was sent is received by the sender which indicates that the fax was sent in its entirety to the fax number of the recipient).
- 8.4 A notice received, or deemed to be received, on a day which is not a business day in the place of receipt, or after 5pm on any business day in the place of receipt, shall be deemed to have been received on the next following business day in the place of receipt (and for the purposes of this clause, a business day in the place of receipt shall mean a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open for general business in that place).
- 8.5 The parties agree that the provisions of this clause shall not apply to the service of any writ, summons, order, judgment or other document relating to or in connection with any legal proceedings and service of any request for arbitration or other document in arbitral proceedings commenced pursuant to this Agreement shall be at the address given in Clause 9.
- 9. <u>Governing Law and Dispute Resolution</u>.
- 9.1 This Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter, existence, negotiation, validity, termination, breach or enforceability (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 9.2 Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter, including any question regarding its existence, negotiation, termination, breach, validity or enforceability (including any non-contractual disputes or claims) ("<u>Dispute</u>") shall be referred to, and finally resolved by, arbitration under the Rules of Arbitration (the "<u>LCIA Rules</u>") of the London Court of International Arbitration (the "<u>LCIA</u>") which rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Clause 9.2.
- 9.3 There shall be three (3) arbitrators appointed in accordance with the LCIA Rules. The claimant party and the respondent party shall each nominate one (1) arbitrator. Where either party fails to nominate an arbitrator within the time provided by the LCIA Rules, that arbitrator shall be appointed by the LCIA. The third arbitrator, who shall act as the chairman of the tribunal, shall be nominated by agreement of the first two (2) party-appointed arbitrators within fifteen (15) Business Days of the confirmation of the appointment of the second arbitrator, or

in default of such agreement, appointed by the LCIA. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the LCIA Rules, in agreeing upon a third arbitrator, the two arbitrators may communicate directly with each other and their respective appointing parties. Each party expressly agrees and consents to this process for nominating and appointing the arbitrators and, in the event that this Clause 9.3 operates to exclude a party's right to choose its own arbitrator, irrevocably and unconditionally waives any right to do so.

- 9.4 The seat, or legal place, of arbitration shall be London, England.
- 9.5 The language of the arbitration proceedings shall be English.
- 9.6 The award of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on the parties, their successors and assigns.
- 9.7 Nothing in Clauses 9.2 to 9.6 shall limit the rights of the parties to bring proceedings against another party in any court of competent jurisdiction in order to:
 - (a) enforce an arbitration award rendered in accordance with Clauses 9.2 to 9.6; or
 - (b) make a claim for interim or injunctive relief.
- 9.8 Each party agrees that if more than one arbitration is commenced under this Agreement or any document related to this Agreement, and any party contends that two or more arbitrations are substantially related and that the issues should be heard in one proceeding, the arbitral tribunal appointed in such proceedings as have been filed with the LCIA first in time shall have the discretion to determine whether, in the interests of justice and efficiency and taking into account the stage of the proceedings and all other relevant circumstances, the proceedings should be consolidated before that arbitral tribunal and any party should be joined to such proceedings.
- 9.9 Each party agrees that it may be joined as an additional party to an arbitration involving other parties under this Agreement or any document related to this Agreement. Any joined party (even if it chooses not to participate in the arbitral proceedings) shall be bound by any award rendered by the arbitral tribunal.
- 9.10 The law of this arbitration agreement shall be the law of England and Wales.
- 9.11 QIWI and OICL hereby irrevocably undertake to at all times maintain an agent with an address in England and Wales for service of process and any other documents in proceedings in England or any other proceedings in connection with

this Agreement, and to keep the other party advised of the identity and address of such agent, for so long as it has any obligations under this Agreement. Any claim form, request for arbitration, judgement or any other notice of legal process whatsoever shall be sufficiently served on:

(a) QIWI, if delivered to:

 QIWI plc
 c/o Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited Fifth Floor
 100 Wood Street
 London EC2V 7EX
 United Kingdom

or

- (ii) if delivered to the last address notified to OICL as an address for service under this Clause 9.
- (b) OICL, if delivered to:
 - Otkritie Capital International Limited 12 Floor, 88 Wood Street London EC2V 7RS United Kingdom

(or to any other registered office in England and Wales of Otkritie Capital International Limited from time to time); or

(ii) if delivered to the last address notified to QIWI as an address for service under this Clause 9.

This Agreement has been duly executed by the parties (or their duly authorised representatives) on the date specified at the beginning of this Agreement.

[Signature page follows]

¹²

Signed in the presence of:

Witness Signature

Witness Name

Witness Occupation

Witness Address

13

)))

EXECUTED and **DELIVERED** as a **DEED** for and on behalf of **OTKRITIE INVESTMENTS CYPRUS LIMITED**

Signed in the presence of:

Witness Signature

Witness Name

Witness Occupation

Witness Address

14

)))

Exhibit 2

EXECUTION VERSION

<u>14</u> May 2015

QIWI plc and Otkritie Holding JSC and Otkritie Investment Cyprus Limited

> DEED OF SUBSCRIPTION in respect of shares in QIWI plc

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Clause	Headings	Page
1.	INTERPRETATION	1
2.	SUBSCRIPTION	10
3.	CONDITIONS	11
4.	COMPLETION	12
5.	WARRANTIES	13
6.	INDEMNITIES	16
7.	PRECOMPLETION OBLIGATIONS	16
8.	POST-COMPLETION OBLIGATIONS	17
9.	GUARANTEES	18
10.	MISCELLANEOUS	19
11.	NOTICES	23
12.	GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION	24
	i	

THIS DEED OF SUBSCRIPTION (this "Agreement") is made on

May 2015

BY AND BETWEEN:

- Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with registration number HE (1)301373, whose registered address is at Angelou Vlachou, 4A, 6052, Larnaca, Cyprus (the Investor);
- (2) Otkritie Holding JSC, a joint stock company incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation with registration number 1107746979196, whose registered address is at 2/4 Letnikovskaya street, 115114, Moscow, Russia (the Investor Guarantor); and
- (3) QIWI plc, a public company limited by shares incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with registration number HE 193010, whose registered office is at Kennedy 12, Kennedy Business Centre, 2nd floor, P.C. 1087, Nicosia, Cyprus (QIWI).

RECITALS:

The entire authorised share capital of QIWI as at the date of this Agreement is EUR 115,425.00 divided as follows: (A)

CLASS A	133,855,793	Shares of nominal value	EUR 0.0005
CLASS B	96,999,207	Shares of nominal value	EUR 0.0005

(B) The entire issued share capital of QIWI as at the date of this Agreement is EUR 27,280.685 divided as follows:

CLASS A	16,350,793	Shares of nominal value	EUR 0.0005
CLASS B	38,210,577	Shares of nominal value	EUR 0.0005

- On the date of this Agreement, the Instalment 1 (as defined herein) is held by the Investor. Instalment 2 (as defined herein) is held by (C) Investaktiv (as defined herein) and the Investor will acquire from Investaktiv prior to Completion Date 2 (as defined herein) the full legal and beneficial title of Instalment 2.
- (D) QIWI has determined to issue and allot in total 5,593,041 Shares (as defined herein) to the Investor in exchange for an in-kind contribution of the Interest (as defined herein), with each Share representing a value of RUB 1,430.35 or a total transaction value of RUB 8,000,000,000 (the Transaction Amount) as agreed between QIWI and the Investor, in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Agreement.
- The Investor has agreed to subscribe in total for 5,593,041 Shares and to contribute the full legal and beneficial title to the Interest (as (E) defined herein) to QIWI in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Agreement.
- (F) The Investor Guarantor has agreed to guarantee the performance of the obligations of the Investor under this Agreement.

IT IS AGREED as follows:

INTERPRETATION 1

1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement, the following words and terms shall have the meaning give to them below:

"Accounting Period" means any period by reference to which any Income, Profits or Gains, or any other amounts relevant for the purposes of Tax, are measured or determined;

"Accounts" means (a) the balance sheet, as of the Accounts Date, and the profit and loss account of the twelve (12) month period ended on the Accounts Date of each of CIHRUS, LLC Attenium and LLC Gikor; (b) the balance sheet, as of 31 March 2015, and the profit and loss statement for the three months ended 31 March 2015 of each of LLC "Processing center "Rapida" and NKO Rapida; and (c) the audited balance sheet, as of the Accounts Date, and the audited profit and loss statement for the year ended on the Accounts Date of each of LLC "Processing center "Rapida" and NKO Rapida, each such Accounts prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting Principles (a copy of such Accounts is attached to the Disclosure Letter);

"Accounts Date" means 31 December 2014;

"Actual Tax Liability" means any liability of a Group Company to make or suffer a payment of, in respect of or on account of Tax (including Tax for which a Group Company: (i) is not primarily liable; and (ii) has indemnified another person) arising in connection with or as a result of an Event which occurred on or before the Completion Date 1, or in respect of or with reference to any Income, Profits or Gains which were earned, accrued or received on or before Completion 1;

"ADSs" means American depositary shares of QIWI, each representing one Share.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any person, any other person directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, Controlling, Controlled by or under common Control with such person and, in the case of a trust, any trustee or beneficiary (actual or potential) of that trust and, in the case of an individual, any person connected with him, provided that, for the purposes of this Agreement, neither QIWI nor any of its subsidiaries is to be regarded as an Affiliate of the Investor;

"Applicable Law(s)" means all laws, regulations, directives, statutes, subordinate legislation, common law and civil codes of any jurisdiction, all judgments, orders, notices, instructions, decisions and awards of any court or competent authority or tribunal and all codes of practice having force of law, statutory guidance and policy notes;

"Articles" means the memorandum and articles of association of QIWI, as amended from time to time;

"Assets" means the assets owned and/or used by a Group Company in connection with the Ordinary Course of Business, including, without limitation, those assets listed in Schedule 7 (Leases);

"Business Day" means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Moscow (Russia); New York (United States) and Nicosia (Cyprus);

"Claim" means any claim made by a party to this Agreement arising out of, or in connection with, this Agreement, the Documents or the Transactions contemplated hereby, or referred to herein, howsoever arising;

"CIHRUS" means CIHRUS Limited Liability Company (Общество с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус») duly existing and incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation under the primary state registration number 1127746224792, tax identification number 7722772200, which registered office is located at: bldg. 1, Aviamotornaya str. 11, 111020, Moscow, Russia;

"Competition Law" means Russian Federal Law No. 135-FZ of 26 July 2006 "On Protection of Competition" (as amended);

"Completion 1" has the meaning given to that term in clause 4.2.1;

"Completion 2" has the meaning given to that term in clause 4.2.2;

"Completion Date" means any of the Completion Date 1 or the Completion Date 2, as the case may be;

"Completion Date 1" means the fifth Business Day following the day when the last of the Conditions Precedent 1 has been satisfied or waived, in accordance with this Agreement or at such other time as may be agreed in writing between QIWI and the Investor;

"Completion Date 2" means the fifth Business Day following the day when the last of the Conditions Precedent 2 has been satisfied or waived, in accordance with this Agreement or at such other time as may be agreed in writing between QIWI and the Investor;

"Conditions Precedent" means the Conditions Precedent 1 or the Conditions Precedent 2;

"Conditions Precedent 1" means the conditions set out in clause 3.1;

"Conditions Precedent 2" means the conditions set out in clause 3.2;

"Confidential Information" means the existence and contents of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, the arrangements contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and:

- (a) any information of whatever nature concerning the business, finance, assets, liabilities, dealings, transactions, know-how, customers, suppliers, processes or affairs of the other Parties and any of their group undertakings from time to time;
- (b) any information which is expressly indicated to be confidential in relation to the Party disclosing it (or in relation to any of its group undertakings) from time to time,

which any Party may from time to time receive or obtain (verbally or in writing or in disk or electronic form or by any other means) from any other Party as a result of negotiating, entering into, or performing its obligations pursuant to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document;

in each case except to the extent that such information is, has or does become available:

(i) to a Party through the public domain other than pursuant to a breach of an obligation of confidentiality in respect thereof by such Party or its Representatives; or

(ii) pursuant to disclosure, in a non-confidential manner, to a Party by a source which to the knowledge of such Party is not prohibited to disclose the information by reason of any legal, contractual or fiduciary obligation;

"Control" in relation to an undertaking means the direct or indirect holding or control of: (a) a majority of the voting rights exercisable at general meetings of the members of that undertaking on all, or substantially all, matters; (b) the right to appoint or remove directors having a majority of the voting rights exercisable at meetings of the board of directors of that undertaking on all, or substantially all, matters; or (c) the right (whether pursuant to a contract, understanding or other arrangement) to direct or cause to be directed directly or indirectly a dominant influence over such other undertaking, and (i) where an undertaking is not a company, references above to directors, general meetings and members shall be deemed to refer to the equivalent bodies in such undertaking; and (ii) "Controlled" and "Controlling" shall have a corresponding meaning;

"Conversion Rate" means the official exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the currency in question against the Russian rouble as determined by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation on any date on which a conversion rate is to be determined in accordance with this Agreement or, if no such rate is quoted on that date, on the first preceding day on which such rates are determined by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation;

"Cooperation Agreement" means the cooperation agreement to be entered into between Qiwi and Investor on or around the date of this Agreement;

"Costs" means costs, charges and expenses (including those suffered or incurred in establishing or enforcing a right to be indemnified under this Agreement);

"Credit Facilities" means credit facility agreements entered into by LLC "Processing center "Rapida" (primary state registration number 5077746771196) and Public JSC Bank Otkritie

Financial Corporation (primary state registration number 1027739019208) namely: Credit Agreement No. 5294-13/K dated December 27, 2013, and Revolving Credit Agreement No. 3575-12/BK dated November 01, 2012;

"Cyprus Appraiser" means any chartered auditor or appraiser acting under the Applicable Law in Cyprus;

"Cyprus Valuation Report" means a report on the valuation of the Interest prepared by the Cyprus Appraiser expected to be delivered to QIWI on or around 20 May 2015 in accordance with the Applicable Law in Cyprus;

"Deposit Agreement" the Deposit Agreement, dated as of 2 May 2013, between QIWI plc and The Bank of New York Mellon;

"Documents" means the documents and information provided by the Investor to QIWI and/or its advisers in respect of the Group Companies as part of QIWI's due diligence exercise;

"Disclosed" means disclosed in the Disclosure Letter;

"Disclosure Letter" means the letter of the same date as this Agreement from the Investor to QIWI for the purpose of clause 5.7 which is accepted as such by QIWI;

"Dispute" has the meaning given to that term in clause 12.2;

"Encumbrance" means any claim, option, charge (fixed or floating), mortgage, lien, pledge, equity, encumbrance, right to acquire, right of pre-emption, right of first refusal, title retention or any other third party right, or other security interest or any other agreement or arrangement having a similar effect or any agreement to create any of the foregoing;

"EUR" means the Euro, the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that adopted the single currency in accordance with the Treaty of Rome establishing the European Economic Community, as amended;

"Event" means any event, transaction (including the execution of the Agreement and Completion 1), action, circumstance or omission whether alone or in conjunction with any other event, transaction, action, circumstance or omission and includes further (without limitation) becoming, being or ceasing to be a member of a group of companies (however defined) for the purposes of any Tax, and references to an Event occurring on or before a particular date shall include an Event deemed for the purposes of any Tax to occur or which is otherwise treated or regarded as occurring on or before such date, and references to an Event occurring after a particular date shall include an Event deemed for the purposes of any Tax to occur or which is otherwise treated or regarded as occurring and to occur or which is otherwise treated or regarded as occurring after such date;

"Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Act of 1934;

"FAS" means the Federal Antimonopoly Service of the Russian Federation or its departments and divisions or any successor authority or body.

"Governmental Authority" means any nation or government or any state or other political subdivision thereof; any entity, authority or body exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to the government, including any governmental authority, ministry, agency, department, board, commission or instrumentality or subdivision thereof; any court, including tribunal (whether standing or ad hoc), arbitration panel or arbitrator (including an arbitrator of international commercial arbitrations); and any self-regulatory organisation acting on behalf of the government or itself pursuant to the rights granted thereto by Applicable Law;

"Group Company" means CIHRUS and any other legal entity Controlled by CIHRUS from time to time and the expression "Group Companies" will be construed accordingly. A list of Group Companies is attached as Schedule 1 (Details of the Group Companies) hereto;

"Income, Profits or Gains" means income, receipts, turnover, revenue, profits, chargeable gains and any other similar measure by reference to which Tax is chargeable or assessed, and references to Income, Profits or Gains earned, accrued or received on or before a particular date or in respect of a particular Accounting Period or part of an Accounting Period includes Income, Profits or Gains which are deemed for the purposes of any Tax to have been earned, accrued or received at or before that date or in respect of that Accounting Period or that part of an Accounting Period;

"Instalment 1" means 70 (seventy) percent of the Interest to be transferred by the Investor to QIWI as contribution in kind for the Subscription Shares 1 as set out in this Agreement;

"Instalment 2" means 30 (thirty) percent of the Interest to be transferred by the Investor to QIWI as contribution in kind for the Subscription Shares 2 as set out in this Agreement;

"Intellectual Property" means patents, rights to inventions, copyright and related rights, trademarks, trade names and domain names, rights in get-up, rights in goodwill or to sue for passing off, rights in designs, rights in computer software, database rights, rights in confidential information (including know-how and trade secrets), software, brand, and any other intellectual property rights, in each case whether registered or unregistered and including all applications (or rights to apply) for, and renewals or extensions of, such rights and all similar or equivalent rights or forms of protection which may, now or in the future, subsist in any part of the world owned by the Group Companies;

"Interest" means a 100 (one hundred) percent ownership interest in the charter capital of CIHRUS of RUB 410 000 (four hundred ten thousand) par value, providing 100 (one hundred) percent of the voting rights exercisable at any general meeting of CIHRUS;

"Investaktiv" means Investaktiv Limited liability Company (Общество с ограниченной ответственностью «Инвестактив») duly existing and incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation under the primary state registration number 5107746004031, tax identification number 7716677678, which registered office is located at: Samotechnaya str. 11, 127473, Moscow, Russia;;

"LCIA" has the meaning set forth in clause 12.2;

"LCIA Rules" has the meaning set forth in clause 12.2;

"Lease" means all lease (sub-lease) agreements entered into by the Group Companies with respect to the premises or real estate and valid and effective on the date of this Agreement listed in Schedule 7 (Leases);

"LLC Attenium Interest" means any interest in LLC Attenium not otherwise held by CIHRUS, including any such interest held by Investaktiv as of the date of this Agreement;

"LLC Law" means Russian Federal Law No. 14-FZ of 8 February 1998 "On Limited Liability Companies" (as amended);

"Longstop Date 1" means 31 July 2015, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties;

"Longstop Date 2" means the thirtieth (30th) Business Day following the Completion Date 1, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties;

"Losses" or "Loss" means all losses, liabilities, costs (including legal costs and experts' and consultants' fees), charges, expenses, actions, proceedings, claims and demands, except in relation to any Relief, Loss shall mean the loss, non-availability, reduction, nullification, disallowance or clawback of such Relief;

"Material Adverse Change" means any change, effect, event, fact, variation, circumstance or development that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have: (i) a material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities, operations, financial condition or results of (x) QIWI and its subsidiaries; or (y) the Group Companies taken as a whole or (ii) any material impairment of the Investor or QIWI to perform its respective obligations hereunder;

"Material Adverse Effect" means any change, effect, event, fact, variation, circumstance or development that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have: (i) a material adverse effect on the business, assets, liabilities, operations, financial condition or results of the Group Companies taken as a whole or (ii) any material impairment of the Investor to perform its obligations hereunder;

"Material Contract" means a contract that has a contract value of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) per annum or more;

"NKO Rapida" means Rapida Ltd (Общество с ограниченной ответственностью

Небанковская кредитная организация «Рапида») duly existing and incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation under the primary state registration number 1037700111679, tax identification number 7744000775, registration number of credit organization assigned by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation No.3371-K, which registered office is located at: bldg. 2, Usievicha str. 20, 125190, Moscow, Russia;

"Notary" means a public notary in the Russian Federation acting under the Fundamental Principles of the Legislation of the Russian Federation Concerning Notarial Services adopted by the decree of the High Court of the Russian Federation as of February 11, 1993, No.4462-1;

"Ordinary Course of Business" means usual, regular and necessary activities and transactions, including auxiliary, relating to the acceptance and transfer of payments and money remittance, which are normal and routine for the Group Companies, including all projects of the Group Companies existing as of the date of this Agreement;

"Otkritie Director" means any person nominated by the Investor and elected (or re-elected) as a director of QIWI;

"Party" or "Parties" means a party or the parties to this Agreement;

"QIWI Warranties" means the representations and warranties on the part of QIWI contained in clause 5 (Warranties), including the General Warranties as given by QIWI;

"QIWI Warranty Claim" means a claim by the Investor or any person deriving title from it for any breach or alleged breach of any of the QIWI Warranties;

"Regulatory Approval" means with respect to any person, (i) any authorization, consent, approval, licence, ruling, permit, certification, exemption, filing, variance, order, judgment, decree or publication of, by or with, (ii) any notice to, (iii) any declaration of, by or with or (iv) any registration by or with, any Governmental Authority required to be obtained or made by such person;

"Related Party" means (a) any enterprise that, directly or indirectly, Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control with, the Investor; (b) an unconsolidated enterprise in which the Investor, directly or indirectly, has a significant influence or which has, directly or indirectly, a significant influence over the Investor; (c) any individual who owns, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Investor that gives such shareholder significant influence over the Investor and such shareholder's family members; (d) any director, nominee for director, officer or other key member of the management of the Investor, and such persons' family members, and (e) any enterprise in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or indirectly, by any person described in (c) or (d), or over which such a person is able to exercise significant influence.

For the purpose of this definition, "family member" means with respect to a person, (i) such person's spouse, (ii) such person's parent, child or sibling, in each case whether by blood, marriage or adoption, or (iii) such person's mother- or father-in-law, son- or daughter-inlaw, brother- or sister-in-law, or (iv) anyone residing in such person's home. For the purpose of this definition, shareholders beneficially owning a ten (10) per cent interest in the voting power in any entity are presumed to have a "significant influence" on such entity.

"Relief" means any relief, loss, allowance, credit, exemption, deduction or set off, or any right to repayment of Taxation;

"Representative" has the meaning given to that term in the clause 10.3.1;

"Restricted Actions" means the matters listed in Schedule 6;

"**Restricted Business**" means the business substantially the same as the cash remittance business being the core business of Contact Payment System and carried out on the Completion Date 1 by any Group Company and any development thereof which is currently being implemented in any Group Company.

"RUB" means the lawful currency of the Russian Federation;

"Russian Appraiser" means any chartered auditor or appraiser acting under the Applicable Law in Russia;

"Russian Valuation Report" means a report on the valuation of the Interest prepared by the Russian Appraiser expected to be delivered to QIWI on or around 20 May 2015 in accordance with the Applicable Law in Russia;

"Sanctions" means the economic, financial and trade embargoes and sanctions laws, regulations, rules and/or restrictive measures administered, enacted or enforced (from time to time) by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury, the United States Department of State, any other U.S. government entity, the United Nations Security Council, any United Nations Security Council Sanctions Committee, the European Union, any Member State of the European Union, and the Russian Federation;

"Sanctions Target" means a person or entity that is (from time to time):

(a) listed on any Sanctions List or targeted by Sanctions;

(b) located in or incorporated under the laws of any country or territory that is the target of comprehensive, country- or territory-wide Sanctions (being, as at the date of this agreement, Cuba, Iran, Syria, Sudan and North Korea); or

(c) directly or indirectly owned or controlled by, or acting on behalf, or at the direction, of any person falling within (a) or (b) above;

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission;

"SEC Filing" means all forms, reports, schedules, declarations, statements, applications and other documents filed by QIWI with the SEC under the Exchange Act;

"Securities Act" means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933;

"Shares" means class B shares, par value EUR 0.0005 each, in QIWI, which each confers upon its holder the right to one (1) vote at the general meeting of QIWI;

"Subscription" has the meaning given to that term in clause 2;

"Subscription Shares" means the Subscription Shares 1 and the Subscription Shares 2;

"Subscription Shares 1" means the number of Shares specified in clause 2.1.1;

"Subscription Shares 2" means the number of Shares specified in clause 2.1.2;

"Subsidiary" means in relation to an undertaking (the holding undertaking), any other undertaking which the holding undertaking (or persons acting on its, or their behalf) Controls and any undertaking which is a Subsidiary of another undertaking which is also a Subsidiary of any undertaking of which that other is a Subsidiary;

"Systems" means any security, information and/or data protection systems of the Group Companies;

"Taxation" or **"Tax"** means all statutory, governmental, state, federal, provincial, local, customs, government or municipal taxes, charges duties, imposts, contributions, levies or withholdings, deductions or liabilities of any kind arising in any part of the world including without limitation:

- (a) corporation tax, income tax, capital or chargeable gains tax, inheritance tax, value added tax, national insurance contributions, capital duty, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax, stamp duty land tax, transfer taxes, insurance premium tax, landfill tax, climate change levy, aggregates levy, withholdings and deductions in respect of tax, duties of customs and excise and all taxes on gross and net income, profits or gains, receipts, sales, use, occupation, franchise, added value, personal property or net worth;
- (b) all penalties, fines, surcharges, charges, costs, interest or other liabilities included in or relating to any of the above; and
- (c) any amount due as if it were an amount of Tax,

in all cases, wherever and whenever imposed and regardless of whether such taxes, penalties, charges, costs and interest are directly or primarily chargeable against or attributable to one person or any other person and regardless of whether that first person has or may have any right of reimbursement against any other person;

"Tax Authority" means any government, state or municipality or any local, state, federal or other fiscal, revenue, customs or excise authority, body or official in Cyprus, Russia or elsewhere having authority in the assessment, collection or administration of Tax;

"Tax Return" means any return, report, information return, statement, declaration or other document (including any related or supporting computations and information) filed or required to be filed with any national, local or foreign governmental authority in connection with any determination, assessment or collection of any Tax or other administration of any laws regulations or administrative requirements;

"Tax Warranties" means the Warranties set forth in part 14 (Tax) of Schedule 3 and any other Warranty to the extent related to Tax;

"Tax Warranty Claim" means a claim by QIWI arising out of or in connection with the Tax Warranties;

"Third Party Claim" has the meaning given to it in Schedule 4 (Limits on Warranty Claims) and Schedule 5 (Limits on QIWI Warranty Claims);

"Title Warranties" means the Warranties set forth in paragraphs 2(c) through (e) of Schedule 3;

"Transaction" means the Subscription for the Subscription Shares in consideration for the in-kind contribution of the Interest as contemplated by and subject to the terms of this Agreement;

"Transaction Amount" has the meaning given to the term in the Recitals;

"Transaction Documents" means this Agreement, the Cooperation Agreement, the Transfer Agreement 1 and the Transfer Agreement 2 and any documents referred to in or to be entered into in the agreed form by the Parties pursuant to any of the foregoing;

"Transfer Agreement 1" means the agreement on transfer of the Instalment 1 by the Investor to QIWI as attached in Schedule 9 (Form of the Transfer Agreement 1) hereto;

"Transfer Agreement 2" means the agreement on transfer of (i) the Instalment 2 by the Investor to QIWI as attached in Schedule 10 (Form of the Transfer Agreement 2) hereto;

"USD" means the United States dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America;

"Use" means in relation to any Relief, the utilisation or set-off of such Relief;

"Valuation Reports" means the Cyprus Valuation Report and the Russian Valuation Report;

"VAT" means the value added tax charged under the provisions of Russian legislation;

"Voting Agreement" means a written agreement between the Investor and one or more shareholders of QIWI to vote their shares held in QIWI in favour of the election of Otkritie Director to the Board of Directors of QIWI.

"Warranties" means the representations and warranties on the part of the Investor contained in clause 5 (Warranties), including the General Warranties as given by the Investor, and Schedule 3 (Warranties); and

"Warranty Claim" means a claim by QIWI or any person deriving title from it for any breach or alleged breach of any of the Warranties.

- 1.2 In this Agreement:
 - 1.2.1 any reference to this Agreement includes the Schedules to it each of which forms part of this Agreement for all purposes;
 - 1.2.2 a reference to an enactment or statutory provision shall include a reference to any subordinate legislation made under the relevant enactment or statutory provision and is a reference to that enactment, statutory provision or subordinate legislation as from time to time amended, consolidated, modified, re-enacted or replaced;
 - 1.2.3 words in the singular shall include the plural and vice versa;
 - 1.2.4 references to one gender include other genders;
 - 1.2.5 a reference to a person shall include a reference to an individual, a firm, a company, a body corporate, an unincorporated association, a trust, a joint venture a partnership, an individual's executors or administrators or a Governmental Authority; references to a "company" shall be construed so as to include any company, corporation or any other body corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established;
 - 1.2.6 a reference to a particular person shall include a reference to the person's executors, administrators, successors, substitutes (including persons taking by novation) and assigns;
 - 1.2.7 a reference to a clause, paragraph, Schedule (other than to a schedule to a statutory provision), or Recital shall be a reference to a clause, paragraph, Schedule, or Recital (as the case may be) of or to this Agreement;
 - 1.2.8 if a period of time is specified as from a given day, or from the day of an act or event, it shall be calculated exclusive of that day;
 - 1.2.9 references to any English or Russian legal term for any action, remedy, method of judicial proceeding, legal document, legal status, court, official or any legal concept or thing shall in respect of any jurisdiction other than England or Russia (as relevant) be deemed to include what most nearly approximates the English or Russian legal term in that jurisdiction and references to any English or Russian statute or enactment shall be deemed to include any equivalent or analogous laws or rules in any other jurisdiction;
 - 1.2.10 references to writing shall include any modes of reproducing words in any legible form and shall include email except where expressly stated otherwise;
 - 1.2.11 a reference to a balance sheet or profit and loss account shall include a reference to any note forming part of it;
 - 1.2.12 a reference to "includes" or "including" shall mean "includes without limitation" or "including without limitation";
 - 1.2.13 the contents page and headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect its interpretation;

- 1.2.14 the Parties acknowledge that they have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event that a question of interpretation arises (including as to the intention of the Parties), no presumption or burden of proof will arise in favour or against any Party based on the authorship of any provisions;
- 1.2.15 in relation to any provision where a person pays, indemnifies or reimburses the "costs" and/or "expenses" of another person, the references to "costs" and/or "expenses" incurred by the other person will not include any amount in respect of VAT comprised in such costs or expenses for which that person or, if relevant, any other member of the group to which that person belongs (for VAT purposes) is entitled to a credit or refund as input VAT under any applicable provisions;
- 1.2.16 any reference to a document in the "agreed form" is to the form of the relevant document in the terms agreed between the Parties prior to the execution of this agreement and signed or initialled for identification purposes only by or on behalf of the Parties (in each case with such amendments as may be agreed by or on behalf of the Parties);
- 1.2.17 in construing this Agreement, the so-called "ejusdem generis" rule does not apply and accordingly the interpretation of general words is not restricted by (i) being preceded by words indicating a particular class of acts, matters or things or (ii) being followed by particular examples; and
- 1.2.18 references to any document (including this Agreement) or a provision of any document includes such document or provision thereof as amended or supplemented in accordance with its terms, and whether or not such other document or provisions thereof is or becomes ineffective for any reason.

2. SUBSCRIPTION

- 2.1 Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, and in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements contained herein or made pursuant hereto, the Investor agrees to purchase, and QIWI agrees to issue and sell:
 - 2.1.1 on Completion Date 1, 3,915,129 Shares (the *Subscription Shares 1*) as consideration for an in-kind contribution of the Installment 1; and
 - 2.1.2 on Completion Date 2, 1,677,912 Shares (the *Subscription Shares 2*) as consideration for an in-kind contribution of the Instalment 2.
- 2.2 QIWI shall allot and issue the Subscription Shares with full title guarantee, fully paid, free from all Encumbrances and ranking *pari passu* with other Shares in QIWI and with all the rights attaching to them under the Articles.
- 2.3 By executing and delivering this Agreement, the Investor:
 - 2.3.1 applies for and accepts, with effect from the relevant Completion Date, delivery of the relevant number of Subscription Shares as consideration for an in-kind contribution of the relevant Instalment;
 - 2.3.2 authorises QIWI to place the Investor's name upon the register of members on the relevant Completion Date in respect of the Subscription Shares acquired on such Completion Date; and
 - 2.3.3 requests that the share certificates evidencing the Investor's ownership over the Subscription Shares be issued to the Investor on each Completion Date in relation to all of the respective Subscription Shares so subscribed for by it on such Completion Date.

3. CONDITIONS

- 3.1 The obligations of the Parties to enter into the Transfer Agreement 1 and complete the transfer of Instalment 1 and the issuance of the Subscription Shares 1 are subject to the reasonable satisfaction or waiver by the Party entitled to receive the relevant documents or confirmations (as applicable) on or prior to Completion Date 1 of the following conditions:
 - 3.1.1 QIWI has obtained the consent of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation and FAS in respect of the legal and beneficial transfer of the Interest to QIWI, in each case such approvals being unconditional or on terms satisfactory to the Investor and QIWI and remaining in full force and effect;
 - 3.1.2 all approvals from any court, administrative agency, commission, or other federal, state, county, local or other foreign Governmental Authority, instrumentality, agency, or commission, if any, necessary for the consummation of the Transaction have been timely obtained;
 - 3.1.3 corporate bodies of each Party have duly approved entry into the Transaction;
 - 3.1.4 the Valuation Reports have been finalised and delivered to QIWI;
 - 3.1.5 no Material Adverse Change has arisen or occurred;
 - 3.1.6 none of the following has occurred prior to or as of the Completion Date 1: (i) any claim made by any person (other than (1) in respect of Instalment 1, QIWI or any of QIWI's Affiliates, or (2) in respect of Instalment 2 (A) prior to the transfer of Instalment 2 from Investaktiv to the Investor, QIWI, the Investor, Investaktiv or any of their Affiliates and (B) following the transfer of Instalment 2 from Investaktiv to the Investor, QIWI or any of QIWI's Affiliates) asserting that such person is entitled to all or any of the Interest; or (ii) any injunction, judgment, order, decree or ruling of any Governmental Authority in effect preventing or limiting consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
 - 3.1.7 the Investor has complied with clause 7.1;
 - 3.1.8 there shall not have occurred any development or event caused by QIWI as a result of which the Investor is not able, immediately following Completion Date 1, to deposit the Subscription Shares 1 in QIWI's American depositary shares program in accordance with the provisions of the Deposit Agreement;
 - 3.1.9 the Warranties given by the Investor and the QIWI Warranties given by QIWI are, as of the dates given, true, correct and not misleading;
 - 3.1.10 QIWI has obtained evidence to its reasonable satisfaction that on Completion Date 1 the LLC Attenium Interest will be transferred to QIWI or its Affiliates; and
 - 3.1.11 the Voting Agreement has been executed by the parties thereto, and,
 - 3.1.12 the Cooperation Agreement has been executed by the parties thereto.
- 3.2 The obligations of the Parties to enter into the Transfer Agreement 2 and complete the transfer of Instalment 2 and the issuance of the Subscription Shares 2 are subject to the reasonable satisfaction or waiver by the Party entitled to receive the relevant documents or confirmations (as applicable) on or prior to Completion Date 2 of the following conditions:
 - 3.2.1 the completion of the transfer of Instalment 1 and the issuance of the Subscription Shares 1 prior to the Longstop Date 1;
 - 3.2.2 The Investor acquires full and beneficial title to the Instalment 2 from Investaktiv;
 - 3.2.3 QIWI has obtained the consent of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation and FAS in respect of the legal and beneficial transfer of the Interest to QIWI, in each case such approvals being unconditional or on terms satisfactory to the Investor and QIWI and remaining in full force and effect;
 - 3.2.4 there shall not have occurred any development or event caused by QIWI as a result of which the Investor is not able, immediately following Completion Date 2, to deposit the Subscription Shares 2 in QIWI's American depositary shares program in accordance with the provisions of the Deposit Agreement;

- 3.2.5 none of the following has occurred prior to or as of the Completion Date 2: (i) any claim made by any person (other than (1) in respect of Instalment 1, QIWI or any of QIWI's Affiliates, or (2) in respect of Instalment 2 (A) prior to the transfer of Instalment 2 from Investaktiv to the Investor, QIWI, the Investor, Investaktiv or any of their Affiliates and (B) following the transfer of Instalment 2 from Investaktiv to the Investor, QIWI or any of QIWI's Affiliates) asserting that such person is entitled to all or any of the Interest; or (ii) any injunction, judgment, order, decree or ruling of any Governmental Authority in effect preventing or limiting consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
- 3.2.6 the Warranties given by the Investor and the QIWI Warranties given by QIWI are, as of the dates given, true, correct and not misleading.
- 3.3 Upon a request from QIWI, the Investor shall promptly co-operate with QIWI with respect to the satisfaction of the condition set forth in clauses 3.1.1 and 3.2.3, and in particular, the Investor shall promptly provide, or procure that the Group Companies provide, all necessary information and documents with respect to the Investor, the Investor's group and the Group Companies as reasonably requested by QIWI in connection with filing of the relevant applications with FAS.
- 3.4 A Party shall notify the other immediately on becoming aware of anything which will or may prevent any Condition Precedent 1 from being satisfied by Longstop Date 1 or any Condition Precedent 2 from being satisfied by Longstop Date 2.
- 3.5 If one or more of the Conditions Precedent 1 remains unsatisfied as at, or becomes impossible to satisfy before, the Longstop Date 1, then this Agreement shall terminate with immediate effect. In such a case, other than this clause 3.5, clause 1 (*Interpretation*), clause 6 (*Indemnities*), clause 9 (*Guarantees*), clauses 10.1 (*Announcements*) through and including clause 10.14 (*Unenforceable provisions*), clauses 10.16 (*Waiver*) through and including clause 10.22 (*Costs*), clause 10.24 (*Language*), clause 10.25 (*Independent advice*), clause 11 (*Notices*), and clause 12 (*Governing Law and Dispute Resolution*), this Agreement shall automatically terminate with immediate effect and each Party's rights and obligations other than those specified above shall cease immediately on termination. Such termination shall not affect any rights and obligations of any Party existing before termination of this Agreement.
- 3.6 If, as of the Longstop Date 2, all of Conditions Precedent 2 are satisfied except for the condition set forth in clause 3.2.2, the Investor shall pay to QIWI an additional amount totalling RUB 250,000,000 (two hundred and fifty million roubles) as liquidated damages and not as a penalty, in recognition of the fact that under such circumstances it would be impossible to calculate precisely the monetary damages incurred by QIWI and that such sum represents a genuine covenanted pre-estimate of, and prior consideration for, the costs, expenses and lost value to QIWI resulting from the failure of the Investor to satisfy such condition. Following such liquidated damages payment, the Investor shall no longer be under any obligation to deliver Instalment 2 and QIWI shall no longer be under any obligation to issue Subscription Shares 2, each pursuant to clause 2.1.2.

4. COMPLETION

4.1 Subject to the relevant Conditions Precedent being satisfied or waived, on the relevant Completion Date, (i) the Investor shall transfer Instalment 1 or Instalment 2 (as applicable) to QIWI in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Agreement and with those implied covenants set out in Part 1 of the U.K. Law of Property Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1994 where a disposition is expressed to be made with full title guarantee, and (ii) QIWI shall issue the Subscription Shares 1 or Subscription Shares 2 (as applicable) with full title guarantee, fully paid, free from all Encumbrances and ranking *pari passu* with other Shares in QIWI and with all the rights attaching to them under the Articles.

- 4.2 Pursuant to clause 4.1, the Completion shall be arranged as follows:
 - 4.2.1 on Completion Date 1, QIWI shall issue and allot to the Investor the Subscription Shares 1, and in consideration of the issue and allotment of the Subscription Shares 1 the Investor shall transfer to QIWI Installment 1 as a contribution in kind (the *Completion 1*) pursuant to Transfer Agreement 1; and
 - 4.2.2 on Completion Date 2, QIWI shall issue and allot to the Investor the Subscription Shares 2, and in consideration of the issue and allotment of the Subscription Shares 2 the Investor shall transfer to QIWI Installment 2 as a contribution in kind (the *Completion 2*) pursuant to Transfer Agreement 2.
- 4.3 Each of Completion 1 and Completion 2 shall take place simultaneously at the offices of QIWI in Nicosia, Cyprus and the offices of the Notary in Moscow, Russia or at such other place as the Investor and QIWI may agree.
- 4.4 On each Completion Date the Parties shall observe, deliver or perform (or ensure that there is observed, delivered or performed) all those documents, items and actions respectively listed in relation to that Party in Schedule 2.

Default at Completion

- 4.5 No Party shall be obliged to continue to Completion 1 or Completion 2, as the case may be, unless the other Party complies fully with the respective provisions of clause 4 and Schedule 2.
- 4.6 If either Party fails to comply with its respective obligations under clause 4 above in any respect, the other Party may, without prejudice to any other rights it may have, elect by notice to the other Party to defer the Completion 1 or Completion 2, as the case may be, to a date being not more than 15 (fifteen) Business Days after the Completion Date 1 or the Completion Date 2 would otherwise have taken place.

5. WARRANTIES

General Warranties

- 5.1 Each Party hereby warrants to the other Party that, as of the date of this Agreement and each Completion Date:
 - 5.1.1 such Party is a company duly organised and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organisation;
 - 5.1.2 such Party has the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction Documents, to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents;
 - 5.1.3 neither the execution by such Party of this Agreement nor the performance by such Party of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will (i) violate any provision of any Applicable Law, (ii) violate or contravene any Governmental Approval by which such Party or any of its properties or assets is bound or affected; (iii) violate any provision of such Party's organizational or constitutional documents; or (iv) require any consent of or other action by any Person under, constitute a default or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, or cause or permit termination, cancellation, acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit under, any provision of any material agreement or other instrument to which such Party is a party; and
 - 5.1.4 this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligations of such Party.

Investor Warranties

5.2 The Investor represents and warrants to QIWI that each of the statements set out in Schedule 3 is at the date hereof, and will be at Completion 1, true and correct and not misleading.

- 5.3 The Investor represents and warrants to QIWI that each of the statements set out in paragraphs 1 through 4 and paragraph 19 of Schedule 3 are, and will be at Completion 2, true and correct and not misleading.
- 5.4 The Investor represents and warrants to QIWI as of the date hereof and as of the Completion 1 that the Documents as well as all written information given by, or on behalf of the Investor and the Group Companies to QIWI, its advisers or agents are true and accurate and nothing has been omitted from the Documents or that information which renders any of that information incomplete or misleading.
- 5.5 The Investor acknowledges that each of the Warranties set out in this Agreement is separate and independent and except as expressly provided to the contrary in this Agreement is not limited:
 - 5.5.1 by reference to any other paragraph of that Schedule; or
 - 5.5.2 by any other provisions of this Agreement.
- 5.6 The Investor acknowledges that QIWI is entering into this Agreement on the basis of, and in reliance on, the Investor's Warranties set forth herein.
- 5.7 Except with respect to any Claim arising out of a breach of any Title Warranty, the Investor shall not be liable under the Warranties to the extent that the facts which cause any of the Warranties to be breached were Disclosed.
- 5.8 From time to time prior to Completion 1 and without limiting the rights of QIWI under this Agreement, the Investor shall promptly disclose by written notice to QIWI with respect to any matter arising after the date of this Agreement that, if existing or known at, or occurring on or prior to, the date of this Agreement, would have or might have given rise to a claim under the Warranties.
- 5.9 In each Warranty, where any statement is qualified as being made "to the Investor's knowledge" or any similar expression the Investor warrants and undertakes that it has made all such due, diligent and careful enquiries as are reasonable in the circumstances before giving such Warranty or making such statement.
- 5.10 The liability of the Investor in connection with the Warranties shall be subject to the limitations contained in, and to the other provisions of, Schedule 4 (*Limits on Warranty Claims*) and any Warranty Claim shall be subject to the provisions of that Schedule.

QIWI Warranties

- 5.11 QIWI represents and warrants to the Investor that at the date hereof, at the Completion Date 1 and the Completion Date 2:
 - 5.11.1 As of the date of this Agreement, 54,561,370 Shares (16,350,793 class A shares, nominal value EUR 0.0005 per share, and 38,210,577 class B shares, nominal value EUR 0.0005 per share) are issued and outstanding. The authorized capital stock of QIWI consists of 230,855,000 Shares (133,855,793 class A shares, nominal value EUR 0.0005 per share, and 96,999,207 class B shares, nominal value EUR 0.0005 per share).
 - 5.11.2 Subject to the occurrence of Completion 1 and Completion 2 in accordance with the terms set forth in this Agreement, the Subscription Shares will be duly authorised and validly issued and fully paid and nonassessable and free and clear of any liens, pledges, charges or other Encumbrances.
 - 5.11.3 (i) Neither QIWI nor any of its consolidated Subsidiaries is involved in or subject to any Insolvency Proceedings. For the purposes of this Warranty, Insolvency Proceedings means the proceedings contemplated by the Russian Federal Law No. 127-FZ On Insolvency dated October 26, 2002 (as amended) or analogous proceedings under the laws of Cyprus; (ii) there are no circumstances which require or would enable any



Insolvency Proceedings to be commenced in respect of QIWI or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries and (iii) neither QIWI nor any of its consolidated Subsidiaries has ceased or suspended repayment of its indebtedness, have become incapable of paying its indebtedness or have become insolvent under any other grounds in any jurisdiction.

- 5.11.4 Except as disclosed in SEC Filings filed prior to the date hereof, (i) there are no (A) outstanding options, warrants, or other rights, of any kind relating to the sale, purchase, redemption, issuance or voting of any shares of capital stock of any class (whether issued or unissued) or other equity or voting securities of QIWI, or (B) securities convertible into, exchangeable for or evidencing the right to purchase from QIWI any shares of capital stock of any class or other equity or voting securities of QIWI, or (C) equity equivalents, stock appreciation rights, phantom stock or other rights similar to or derived from the economic benefits and rights accruing to holders of any equity interest in QIWI; (ii) there are no preemptive or similar rights with respect to the issuance, sale or other transfer (whether present, past or future) of the Subscription Shares; and (iii) there are no agreements or other obligations (contingent or otherwise) which may require QIWI to issue, repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock.
- (i) QIWI has timely filed all forms, reports, schedules, declarations, statements, applications and other documents required to 5.11.5 be filed pursuant to the Exchange Act, (ii) each SEC Filing, when filed, complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and other applicable federal securities laws as in effect on the date so filed, and none of the SEC Filings (including any financial statements or schedules included or incorporated by reference therein), when filed, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated or incorporated by reference therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and (iii) there has not occurred any change, or any development involving a prospective change in the condition, financial or otherwise, or in the earnings, business, operations or prospects of QIWI and its consolidated Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, from that set forth in the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on March 12, 2015 that is material and adverse other than any such change or development relating to general economic, regulatory or political conditions, except to the extent such change or development disproportionately affects QIWI and its consolidated Subsidiaries, or relating to the payment services industry generally, except to the extent any such or development disproportionately affects QIWI and its consolidated Subsidiaries; and to QIWI's knowledge, there is no information regarding QIWI or its consolidated Subsidiaries or its securities that is not public which if made public would be likely to have a significant effect on the price of the ADSs.
- 5.11.6 QIWI is a "foreign issuer" (as such term is defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act).
- 5.11.7 Neither QIWI nor any of its affiliates (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) or any person acting on its or their behalf has engaged in any directed selling efforts (as such term is defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act) in connection with the issuance of the Subscription Shares.
- 5.11.8 Other than the registration of the ADSs on Form F-3 with the SEC as a result of the deposit of the Subscription Shares in QIWI's ADS program and subject to the Warranties and undertakings of the Investor set forth herein, the initial deposit of the Subscription Shares in QIWI's ADS program in accordance with the provisions of the Deposit Agreement shall not be subject to any other registration, filing, regulatory requirement or consent in the United States or Cyprus.
- 5.11.9 QIWI is, and has been, in compliance in all material respects with Applicable Laws, including securities laws of the United States, and, to the knowledge of QIWI, is not under investigation with respect to any material violation of any Applicable Laws.

- 5.11.10 QIWI has been and is in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- 5.11.11 QIWI has designed disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its Subsidiaries, is made known to the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of QIWI by others within those entities.
- 5.12 QIWI acknowledges that the Investor is entering into this Agreement on the basis of, and in reliance on, QIWI's Warranties set forth herein.
- 5.13 In each QIWI Warranty, where any statement is qualified as being made "to QIWI's knowledge" or any similar expression, QIWI warrants and undertakes that it has made all such due, diligent and careful enquiries as are reasonable in the circumstances before giving such QIWI Warranty or making such statement.
- 5.14 The liability of QIWI in connection with the QIWI Warranties shall be subject to the limitations contained in, and to the other provisions of, Schedule 5 (*Limits on QIWI Warranty Claims*) and any QIWI Warranty Claim shall be subject to the provisions of that Schedule.

6. INDEMNITIES

Subject to the limitations set out in Schedule 4 (*Limits on Warranty Claims*) and without prejudice to any other provisions of this Agreement, the Investor hereby unconditionally and irrevocably agrees to indemnify in full and hold harmless on demand QIWI, without reference to the general rule of law relating to damages for breach of warranty, from and against any and all Losses suffered or incurred by QIWI or any Group Company as a result of or in connection with any Actual Tax Liability, or a breach of a Tax Warranty.

7. PRECOMPLETION OBLIGATIONS

- 7.1 Subject to clause 7.2, the Investor shall procure that during the period from the date of this Agreement to the Completion Date 1, (i) each of the Group Companies shall continue to carry on its business in the normal course in compliance with all laws and regulations applicable to it and in substantially the same manner as the business has been carried on before the date of this Agreement and (ii) no Group Company shall undertake any of the Restricted Actions.
- 7.2 Clause 7.1 shall not operate so as to restrict or prevent:
 - 7.2.1 any matter undertaken at the written request of QIWI or with its prior written approval;
 - 7.2.2 any matter reasonably undertaken by any Group Company in an emergency or disaster situation with the intention of minimising any adverse effect thereof (and notified to QIWI as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter);
 - 7.2.3 the completion or performance of any obligations undertaken pursuant to any contract or arrangement entered into by any Group Company in the Ordinary Course of Business prior to the date of this Agreement;
 - 7.2.4 any act or conduct which any Group Company are required to take, or omit to take, as a result of, or in order to comply with, any law or regulation or any order, decision or formal request of any Governmental Authority;
 - 7.2.5 the entering into in the Ordinary Course of Business of any contract or commitment which is terminable in accordance with its terms by written notice of six months or less and which is not material in relation to any Group Company;

- 7.2.6 any increase in emoluments of any category of employees any Group Company where such increase is made in accordance with the normal practice of the relevant employing Group Company;
- 7.2.7 any matter, transaction, action or conduct aimed to distribute the profit earned by any Group Company to the Investor or its Affiliates in the amount not more than RUB 400 000 000 (four hundred million roubles) provided that any such distribution shall not (i) breach the normative standards of the Central Bank of Russia and/or (ii) decrease the equity funds of the relevant Group Company by more than 5%, or (iii) breach the adequacy of the working capital of the relevant Group Company; or
- 7.2.8 any matter contemplated in this Agreement or another Transaction Document;

provided that wherever practicable prior to undertaking any of the above matters the Investor shall notify and agree the relevant matter with QIWI.

- 7.3 So far as permitted by law, the Investor will promptly inform and consult, and will cause all Group Companies to promptly inform and consult, with QIWI, with respect to any action between the date of this agreement and the Completion Date 1 which may materially affect the business of any Group Company. The Investor Guarantor and the Investor will promptly provide, and will cause all Group Companies to provide, to QIWI such information as QIWI may reasonably request for this purpose.
- 7.4 The Investor shall notify QIWI immediately of any matter, fact or circumstance which is or could reasonably be expected to be, in breach of this clause 7.

8. POST-COMPLETION OBLIGATIONS

- 8.1 QIWI covenants that (i) within thirty (30) days of Completion Date 1, it shall cause to be registered on Form F-3 and the related prospectus supplement all but not less than all of the Subscription Shares 1 in the form of ADSs owned by the Investor to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 of the Securities Act; and (ii) within ten (10) days of Completion Date 2, it shall cause to be registered on a prospectus supplement to the Form F-3 previously filed pursuant to this clause 8.1 all but not less than all of the Subscription Shares 2 in the form of ADSs owned by the Investor to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 of the Securities Act. In both cases, QIWI shall maintain the effectiveness of such Form F-3 until all of the Subscription Shares included on such Form F-3 have been disposed of, if and to the extent that the Investor is deemed an affiliate of QIWI under the Securities Act as reasonably determined by QIWI. It shall be a condition precedent to the obligations of QIWI to take any action pursuant to this clause 8.1 with respect to the registration of the Subscription Shares that the Investor furnish to QIWI such information regarding itself and the intended method of disposition of the Subscription Shares and, prior to Completion 1, other information concerning the Group Companies (including any financial information of the Group Companies required to be filed pursuant to Form F-3) as is reasonably requested by QIWI to effect the registration of the Subscription Shares. Any such information furnished to QIWI by the Investor for use in the registration statement on Form F-3 shall not contain any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. All expenses incurred in connection with the registration of the Subscription Shares on Form F-3, including all registration, filing, and qualification fees, printers' and accounting fees, and fees and disbursements of counsel for QIWI, shall be borne by QIWI.
- 8.2 The Investor Guarantor and the Investor agree and covenant with QIWI that they and their Affiliates and Related Parties will establish appropriate policies in accordance with best practices in the financial industry restricting the flow of information concerning QIWI, including any material non-public information, between the Otkritie Director and any division within the Investor Guarantor, the Investor and each of their Affiliates and Related Parties carrying out brokerage or trading activities (including repurchase transactions) within the Investor Guarantor group of companies (including those policies known as "Chinese Walls").

- 8.3 Following the registration of the Subscription Shares under the Securities Act pursuant to clause 8.1, QIWI shall, and shall procure that its Affiliates shall, do, execute and perform all such further deeds, documents, assurances, acts and things as may be reasonably requested by the Investor in order to assist the Investor with the initial deposit of the Subscription Shares in QIWI's American depositary shares program in accordance with the provisions of the Deposit Agreement.
- 8.4 Unless the Form F-3 and the related prospectus supplement have been registered in accordance with Clause 8.1 above, the Investor shall not offer or sell, and shall procure that any transferee of the Subscription Shares shall not offer or sell, within forty (40) days of issuance of the Subscription Shares 1 and of the Subscription Shares 2, the Subscription Shares 1 and/or the Subscription Shares 2 to any U.S. person (as such term is defined under Regulation S of the Securities Act) or for the account or benefit of a U.S. person.
- 8.5 If QIWI fails to file Form-F-3 of either the Subscription Shares 1 or the Subscription Shares 2 in accordance with clause 8.1, then QIWI shall pay to the Investor an amount totalling RUB 250,000,000 (two hundred and fifty million roubles) as liquidated damages and not as a penalty, in recognition of the fact that under such circumstances it would be impossible to calculate precisely the monetary damages incurred by the Investor and that such sum represents a genuine covenanted pre-estimate of, and prior consideration for, the costs, expenses and lost value to the Investor resulting from the failure of QIWI to satisfy such covenant. Following such payment, QIWI shall no longer be under any obligation with respect to the registration of the Subscription Shares pursuant to clause 8.1.
- 8.6 None of the Investor, the Investor Guarantor or any of their Related Parties shall, and each shall procure that each of their Affiliates shall not, directly or indirectly:
 - 8.6.1 for a period of five (5) years from the Completion Date 2, participate, directly or indirectly, in any projects in the Russian Federation as well as in any Persons, irrespective of their place and form of incorporation, if their core business is a Restricted Business; and
 - 8.6.2 at any time after Completion Date 1, attempt to use any Intellectual Property owned by any Group Company at Completion Date 1.

Neither Party, nor any of its Related Parties, for a period of two (2) years from the Completion Date 1 shall employ or solicit for employment, hire or otherwise retain, any person knowing such person or a related person to be an employee of the Group Companies, provided that such Party or Related Party may (i) solicit for employment or employ or attempt to employ any persons who are no longer employed by the Group Companies at the time of their first contact with them, (ii) engage in general solicitations of employment not specifically directed at employees of the Group Companies, or (iii) employ any person (other than a person who becomes known to such Party or Related Party in connection with the Transaction) who contacts such Party or Related Party on his or her own initiative without any direct or indirect solicitation (other than general solicitations described in the foregoing clause (ii)) by or encouragement from such Party or Related Party.

9. GUARANTEES

- 9.1 The Investor Guarantor as primary obligor unconditionally and irrevocably agrees that if and each time that the Investor fails to make any payment when it is due under or pursuant to the Transaction Documents, the Investor Guarantor shall on demand (without requiring QIWI first to take steps against the Investor or any other person) pay that amount to QIWI.
- 9.2 Each payment to be made by the Investor Guarantor under this clause 9 shall be made in the currency in which the relevant amount is payable by the Investor, free and clear of all deductions or withholdings of any kind.
- 9.3 The Investor Guarantor's obligations under this clause 9 shall not be affected by any matter or thing which but for this provision might operate to affect or prejudice those obligations, including, without limitation:
 - 9.3.1 any time or indulgence granted to, or composition with, the Investor or any other person; or

- 9.3.2 the taking, variation, renewal or release of, or neglect to perfect or enforce this Agreement, any other Transaction Document or any right, guarantee, remedy or security from or against the Investor or any other person; or
- 9.3.3 any unenforceability or invalidity of any obligation of the Investor, so that this clause shall be construed as if there were no such unenforceability or invalidity.
- 9.4 Subject to the provisions of Schedule 4 (*Limits on Warranty Claims*), including but not limited to paragraph 1.2 thereof, the aggregate liability of the Investor Guarantor under this Agreement shall be limited to RUB 4,000,000 (four billion Roubles). For the avoidance of doubt, (i) any liability for a Warranty Claim in relation to a breach of Title Warranties shall not exceed RUB 4,000,000,000 (four billion Roubles); (ii) any liability for a Warranty Claim other than for a breach of Title Warranties shall not exceed RUB 2,000,000,000; and (iii) the aggregate liability with respect to Warranty Claims, whether Title Warranties or other, shall not exceed RUB 4,000,000,000 (four billion Roubles).

10. MISCELLANEOUS

Announcements

10.1 Subject to the remaining provisions of this clause 10.1, no Party shall release any announcement or despatch any announcement or circular, relating to this Agreement unless the form and content of such announcement or circular have been submitted to, and agreed by, the other Party. Nothing in this Clause 10.1 shall prohibit any Party from making any announcement or despatching any circular as required by Applicable Law or the regulations or rules of any stock exchange or any other regulatory body to which the Party is, or may become, subject. To the extent a Party is obliged to make such an announcement or despatch such a circular, it shall give the other Party such notice as is practicable in the circumstances and shall co-operate with the other Party, having regard to the other Party's views, and take such steps as the other Party may reasonably require in order to enable it to mitigate the effects of, or avoid the consequences of making such an announcement or despatching such a circular.

Confidentiality

- 10.2 Subject to clause 8.2 and save as provided in clause 10.3, no Party shall disclose to any third party, or use or exploit commercially for its or their own purposes any Confidential Information. The obligations of the parties under this clause 10.2 shall remain in force until the relevant information enters the public domain otherwise than by the default of a Party.
- 10.3 The obligations of confidentiality in clause 10.2 shall not apply in respect of the disclosing of Confidential Information in the following circumstances:
 - 10.3.1 in connection with the performance of each Party's obligations hereunder or the enforcement of its rights hereunder;
 - 10.3.2 to its Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, and professional advisers or its and/or their Affiliates (the *Representatives*) to the extent reasonably required for purposes connected with this Agreement or any other Transactional Document;
 - 10.3.3 pursuant to any listing agreement with or the rules and regulations of any recognised security exchange on which securities of such Party or any of its Affiliates are listed and/or traded;
 - 10.3.4 as required by Applicable Law,

provided in each case set out in clauses 10.3.1 and 10.3.2 above, the Party disclosing the same shall take all reasonable steps to preserve the confidentiality thereof and to ensure that such information shall be used only for the purposes for which it has been disclosed.

- 10.4 If a Party becomes required, in circumstances contemplated by clause 10.3.3 or 10.3.4, to disclose any information such Party shall (save to the extent prohibited by such rules and regulations or Applicable Law) give to the other Party such notice as is practical in the circumstances of such disclosure and shall co-operate with the other Party, having due regard to the other Party's views, and take such steps as the other Party may reasonably require in order to enable it to mitigate the effects of, or avoid the requirements for, any such disclosure.
- 10.5 In the event that any Affiliate of any Party who has received Confidential Information is requested in any Litigation to disclose Confidential Information, that Party shall give each other Party prompt written notice of such request (if permitted by Applicable Law) so that each other Party may seek an appropriate protective order. If in the absence of a protective order a Party's Affiliate is compelled to disclose Confidential Information, such Representative may disclose such portion of the Confidential Information that in the opinion of the disclosing Party's counsel such Affiliate is compelled to disclose without liability under this Agreement; provided, however, that the disclosing Party shall give the other Party written notice of the Confidential Information to be disclosed as far in advance of its disclosure as is practicable (if permitted by Applicable Law) and shall use reasonable efforts to obtain assurances that confidential treatment will be accorded to such Confidential Information.

In this clause 10.5, "Litigation" means any action, cause of action, claim, demand, suit, proceeding, citation, summons, subpoena, inquiry or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, regulatory or otherwise, in law or in equity, pending or threatened, by or before any court, tribunal, arbitrator, expert or other Governmental Authority.

Currency Conversion

- 10.6 Any payment to be made under or pursuant to this Agreement shall, unless otherwise specified to the contrary or agreed in advance by the payee, be paid in USD and to the extent necessary any other currency shall be converted into USD at the Conversion Rate prevailing on the day immediately preceding the date on which payment is due or, where the payment is to be made in respect of any Claim, at the Conversion Rate prevailing on the date on which the parties agree that the payment is to be made or on the relevant judgment date.
- 10.7 Where any calculation to be made under or pursuant to this Agreement requires the base currency to be converted into USD the parties shall adopt the Conversion Rate prevailing on the day immediately preceding the date on which the calculation is required to be performed.

Joint and several liability

10.8 Where in this Agreement any liability is undertaken by two or more persons (including in respect of any Claim) the liability of each of them shall be joint and several.

No partnership

10.9 Nothing in this Agreement or in any document referred to in it shall constitute any of the Parties a partner of any other, nor shall the execution, completion and implementation of this Agreement confer on any Party any power to bind or impose any obligations to any third parties on any other Party or to pledge the credit of any other Party.

Assignment

10.10 No Party shall assign (whether absolutely or by way of security and whether in whole or in part), transfer, mortgage, charge or otherwise dispose in any manner whatsoever of the benefit of this Agreement or sub-contract or delegate in any manner whatsoever its performance under this Agreement.

Third party rights

10.11 No term of this Agreement is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by a person who is not a Party to this Agreement.

Entire agreement

- 10.12 Each of the Parties to this Agreement confirms on behalf of itself and its Affiliates that this Agreement together with the other Transaction Documents, represents the entire understanding, and constitutes the whole agreement, in relation to its subject matter and supersedes any previous agreement between the Parties with respect thereto and, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, excludes any warranty, condition or other undertaking implied at law or by custom, usage or course of dealing.
- 10.13 Each Party confirms on behalf of itself and its Affiliates that:
 - 10.13.1 in entering into this Agreement it has not relied on any representation, warranty, assurance, covenant, indemnity, undertaking or commitment which is not expressly set out or referred to in the Transaction Documents or the agreed form documents; and
 - 10.13.2 in any event, without prejudice to any liability for fraudulent misrepresentation or fraudulent misstatement, the only rights or remedies in relation to any representation, warranty, assurance, covenant, indemnity, undertaking or commitment given or action taken in connection with this Agreement or with any of the agreed form documents are those pursuant to this Agreement or such agreed form document, and for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, no Party has any other right or remedy (whether by way of a claim for contribution or otherwise) in tort (including negligence) or for misrepresentation (whether negligent or otherwise, and whether made prior to, or in, this Agreement).

Unenforceable provisions

10.14 If any provision or part of this Agreement is void or unenforceable due to any Applicable Law, it shall be deemed to be deleted and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. Each Party shall use its reasonable endeavours to replace the invalid provision in that respect with a valid and enforceable substitute provision the effect of which is as close (commercially and legally) to its intended effect as possible.

Effect of Completion

10.15 So far as it remains to be performed, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect after Completion 1 and Completion 2. The rights and remedies of the Parties shall not be affected by Completion 1 and Completion 2.

Waiver

10.16 The rights and remedies of the Parties shall not be affected by any failure to exercise or delay in exercising any right or remedy or by the giving of any indulgence by any other Party or by anything whatsoever except a specific waiver or release in writing and any such waiver or release shall not prejudice or affect any other rights or remedies of the Parties. No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy shall prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy.

Variation

10.17 No variation of this Agreement (or any of the documents referred to in it) shall be valid unless it is in writing (which, for this purpose, does not include email) and signed by or on behalf of each of the Parties. The expression "variation" includes any variation, supplement, deletion or replacement however effected.

Counterparts

10.18 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the Parties to it on separate counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original, but all the counterparts together constitute one instrument.

Taxation of payments

10.19 Any payment made by or due from the Parties under, or pursuant to the terms of, this Agreement shall be free and clear of all Taxation whatsoever save only for any deductions or withholdings required by law.

Payments net of Tax

10.20 If any deductions or withholdings are required by law, or any payments made by or due from any Party under this Agreement are subject to Taxation (whether in the hands of the Investor, QIWI or otherwise), or would have been liable for Taxation but for the utilisation of any Relief in respect of such liability, the paying Party shall (unless the relevant payment is a payment of interest or the deduction, withholding or Tax arises in connection with the consideration under this Agreement) be liable to pay to the receiving Party such further sums as shall be required to ensure that the net amount received by the receiving Party will equal the full amount which would have been received under the relevant provisions of this Agreement in the absence of any such deductions, withholdings or Taxation.

No set off, deduction or counterclaim

10.21 Every payment payable by the Parties under this Agreement shall be made in full without any set off or counterclaim howsoever arising and shall be free and clear of, and without deduction of, or withholding for or on account of, any amount which is due and payable to the paying Party under this Agreement.

Costs

10.22 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, QIWI, the Investor and the Investor Guarantor shall each be responsible for their own costs, charges and other expenses (including those of their respective Affiliates) incurred in connection with negotiating, preparing, entering into and completing this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents (including any notarization and/or registration fees).

Further assurance

10.23 The Parties shall after each Completion Date execute all such deeds and documents and do all such things as it may be required for perfecting the transactions intended to be effected under, or pursuant to, this Agreement and for giving the Parties the full benefit of the provisions of this Agreement.

Language

10.24 This Agreement was negotiated in English and, to be valid, all certificates, notices, communications and other documents made in connection with it shall be in English, excluding when it is required under the Applicable Law to execute, perform and deliver any documents in another language. If all or any part of this Agreement or any such certificate, notice, communication or other document is for any reason translated into any language other than English the English text shall prevail. Each of the Parties understands English and is content for all communications relating to this Agreement to be served on it in English.

Independent advice

10.25 Each Party confirms it has received independent legal advice relating to all the matters provided for in this Agreement, including the provisions of this clause 10.25, and agrees, having considered the terms of this Agreement as a whole, that the provisions of this Agreement, including this clause 10.25, are fair and reasonable.

11. NOTICES

- 11.1 A notice (including any approval, consent or other communication) in connection with this Agreement and the documents referred to in it or with any arbitration under this Agreement:
 - 11.1.1 must be in writing in English;
 - 11.1.2 for the avoidance of doubt, must not be sent by electronic mail;
 - 11.1.3 must be delivered by hand, fax or courier using an internationally recognised courier company to the address specified below in relation to the Party to whom the notice is addressed, and marked for the attention of the person so specified, or to such other address or fax number or marked for the attention of such other person, as the relevant Party may from time to time specify by notice given in accordance with this clause.

The relevant details of each Party at the date of this Agreement are:

Investor

III (CStor				
Address:	2/4 Letnikovskaya street, 115114, Moscow, Russia			
Fax number:				
Attention:	Evgeny Dankevich / Ruben Aganbegyan / Konstantin Olefir			
Investor Guarantor				
Address:	2/4 Letnikovskaya street, 115114, Moscow, Russia			
Fax number:				
Attention:	Evgeny Dankevich / Ruben Aganbegyan / Konstantin Olefir			
Company				
Address:	Kennedy 12, Kennedy Business Centre, 2nd floor, P.C. 1087, Nicosia, Cyprus			
Fax number:				

Attention: Mr. Philios Yiangou / Mr. Sergey Solonin

- 11.2 In the absence of evidence of earlier receipt, any notice shall take effect from the time that it is deemed to be received in accordance with clause 11.3.
- 11.3 Subject to clause 11.4, a notice is deemed to be received:
 - 11.3.1 in the case of a notice delivered by hand or courier at the address of the addressee given in clause 11.1.3 above, upon delivery at that address; and
 - 11.3.2 in the case of a notice delivered by fax, at the time of transmission (provided that a transmission report from the machine from which the fax was sent is received by the sender which indicates that the fax was sent in its entirety to the fax number of the recipient).
- 11.4 A notice received, or deemed to be received, on a day which is not a business day in the place of receipt, or after 5pm on any business day in the place of receipt, shall be deemed to have been received on the next following business day in the place of receipt (and for the purposes of this Clause, a business day in the place of receipt shall mean a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open for general business in that place).
- 11.5 The parties agree that the provisions of this clause shall not apply to the service of any writ, summons, order, judgment or other document relating to or in connection with any legal proceedings and service of any request for arbitration or other document in arbitral proceedings commenced pursuant to this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents shall be at the address given at clause 12.

12. GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- 12.1 This Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter, existence, negotiation, validity, termination, breach or enforceability (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 12.2 Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter, including any question regarding its existence, negotiation, termination, breach, validity or enforceability (including any non-contractual disputes or claims) (*Dispute*) shall be referred to, and finally resolved by, arbitration under the Rules of Arbitration (the *LCIA Rules*) of the London Court of International Arbitration (the *LCIA*) which rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this clause 12.2.
- 12.3 There shall be three (3) arbitrators appointed in accordance with the LCIA Rules. The claimant Party and the respondent Party shall each nominate one (1) arbitrator. Where either Party fails to nominate an arbitrator within the time provided by the LCIA Rules, that arbitrator shall be appointed by the LCIA. The third arbitrator, who shall act as the chairman of the tribunal, shall be nominated by agreement of the first two (2) party-appointed arbitrators within fifteen (15) Business Days of the confirmation of the appointment of the second arbitrator, or in default of such agreement, appointed by the LCIA. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the LCIA Rules, in agreeing upon a third arbitrator, the two arbitrators may communicate directly with each other and their respective appointing parties. Each Party expressly agrees and consents to this process for nominating and appointing the arbitrators and, in the event that this clause 12.3 operates to exclude a Party's right to choose its own arbitrator, irrevocably and unconditionally waives any right to do so.
- 12.4 The seat, or legal place, of arbitration shall be London, England.
- 12.5 The language of the arbitration proceedings shall be English.
- 12.6 The award of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on the Parties, their successors and assigns.
- 12.7 Nothing in clauses 12.2 to 12.6 shall limit the rights of the Parties to bring proceedings against another Party in any court of competent jurisdiction in order to:
 - 12.7.1 enforce an arbitration award rendered in accordance with clauses 12.2 to 12.6; or
 - 12.7.2 make a claim for interim or injunctive relief.
- 12.8 If a Dispute between the Parties under this Agreement is referred to arbitration pursuant to clause 12.2 above, any other Dispute or any dispute, controversy or claim between the same Parties under or connected to any other Transaction Document may be brought in the same arbitration.
- 12.9 Each Party agrees that if more than one arbitration is commenced under this Agreement or any document related to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, and any Party contends that two or more arbitrations are substantially related and that the issues should be heard in one proceeding, the arbitral tribunal appointed in such proceedings as have been filed with the LCIA first in time shall have the discretion to determine whether, in the interests of justice and efficiency and taking into account the stage of the proceedings and all other relevant circumstances, the proceedings should be consolidated before that arbitral tribunal and any Party should be joined to such proceedings.
- 12.10 Each Party agrees that it may be joined as an additional party to an arbitration involving other Parties under this Agreement or any document related to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document. Any joined Party (even if it chooses not to participate in the arbitral proceedings) shall be bound by any award rendered by the arbitral tribunal.
- 12.11 The law of this arbitration agreement shall be the law of England and Wales.

12.12 QIWI and the Investor hereby irrevocably undertake to at all times maintain an agent with an address in England and Wales for service of process and any other documents in proceedings in England or any other proceedings in connection with any of the Transaction Documents, and to keep the other Party advised of the identity and address of such agent, for so long as it has any obligations under any of the Transaction Documents. Any claim form, request for arbitration, judgement or any other notice of legal process whatsoever shall be sufficiently served on:

(a) QIWI, if delivered to:

QIWI plc c/o Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited Fifth Floor 100 Wood Street London EC2V 7EX United Kingdom

or

(ii) if delivered to the last address notified to the Investor as an address for service under this clause 12.

(b) The Investor, if delivered to:

(i) Otkritie Capital International Limited 12th Floor, 88 Wood Street, London, EC2V 7RS United Kingdom

or

(ii) if delivered to the last address notified to the Investor as an address for service under this clause 12.

(c) (b) The Investor Guarantor, if delivered to:

(i) Otkritie Capital International Limited

(or to any other registered office in England and Wales of Otkritie Capital International Limited from time to time); or

(ii) if delivered to the last address notified to the Investor as an address for service under this clause 12.

This Agreement has been duly executed by the Parties (or their duly authorised representatives) on the date specified at the beginning of this Agreement.

SCHEDULE 1

INVESTAKTIV, LLC - 30%

CIHRUS

1

1.	Company name:	CIHRus Limited Liability Company
2.	State registration number:	1127746224792
3.	Date of registration:	March 29th, 2012
4.	Place of registration:	Moscow
5.	Address of registered office:	11k1, Aviamotornaya street, 111020 Moscow, Russia
6.	General Director:	Mr. Alexei Yur'evich Abrameytsev
7.	Board of Directors:	None
8.	Tax residence:	Russian Federation
9.	Tax identification number:	7722772200
10.	Registrar:	N/A
11.	Registered shareholders (names and stakes):	Otkritie Investments Cyprus Limited - 70%;

NKO Rapida

1.	Company name:	Nonbank Credit Institution Rapida, Limited Liability Company
2.	State registration number:	1037700111679
3.	Date of registration:	May 15th, 2001
4.	Place of registration:	20 bldg. 2, Usievicha street, 125190, Moscow, Russia
5.	Address of registered office:	20 bldg. 2, Usievicha street, 125190, Moscow, Russia
6.	General Director:	Mr. Oleg Aleksandrovich Grishin
7.	Board of Directors:	Mr. Evgeny Leonidovich Dankevich Mr. George Anatolyevich Shabad Ms. Elena Vladimirovna Budnik Mr. Oleg Aleksandrovich Grishin
8.	Tax residence:	Russian Federation
9.	Tax identification number:	7744000775
10.	Registrar:	N/A
11.	Registered shareholders (names and stakes):	Attenium LLC - 100%
Attenium LLC		

1.	Company name:	Attenium Limited Liability Company
2.	State registration number:	1057749008844

3.	Date of registration:	November 10th, 2005
4.	Place of registration:	Moscow, Inter-District Inspectorate No. 46 of Federal Tax Service
5.	Address of registered office:	8 bldg. 5A, Barrikadnaya street, 123242 Moscow, Russia
6.	General Director:	Ms. Olga Vasilievna Shamanina
7.	Board of Directors:	None
8.	Tax residence:	Russian Federation
9.	Tax identification number:	7728564446
10.	Registrar:	N/A
11.	Registered shareholders (names and stakes):	1) CIHRus LLC – 99,999%
		2) INVESTAKTIV, LLC – 0,001%
1.	Company name:	Processing Center Rapida, Limited Liability Company
2.	State registration number:	5077746771196
3.	Date of registration:	May 10th, 2007
4.	Place of registration:	Moscow, Inter-District Inspectorate No. 46 of Federal Tax Service
5.	Address of registered office:	8 bldg. 5A, Barrikadnaya street, 123242 Moscow, Russia
6.	General Director:	Mr. Aleksandr Aleksandrovich Dibrov
7.	Board of Directors:	None
8.	Tax residence:	Russian Federation
9.	Tax identification number:	7703633754
10.	Registrar:	N/A
11.	Registered shareholders (names and stakes):	Attenium LLC – 100%
1.	Company name:	Gikor, Limited Liability Company
2.	State registration number:	5087746545959
3.	Date of registration:	December 05th, 2008
4.	Place of registration:	Moscow, Inter-District Inspectorate No. 46 of Federal Tax Service
5.	Address of registered office:	2A, Sharikopodshipnikovskaya street, 115088, Moscow, Russia
6.	General Director:	Mr. Vladimir Vladimirovich Sorokin
7.	Board of Directors:	None
8.	Tax residence:	Russian Federation
9.	Tax identification number:	7723689508
10.	Registrar:	N/A
11.	Registered shareholders (names and stakes):	Attenium LLC – 100%
		27

SCHEDULE 2

COMPLETION OBLIGATIONS

PART 1 – OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES AT THE COMPLETION 1

1. **Completion obligations**

- 1.1 At the Completion Date 1, QIWI shall:
 - 1.1.1 procure that the Investor is entered into the register of members of QIWI as the registered holder of the Subscription Shares 1 and deliver to the Investors a copy of the same;
 - 1.1.2 execute in the presence of the Notary and under the Notary's certification the Transfer Agreement 1 and any applications required under the Applicable Law for state registration of transfer of the Instalment 1 from the Investor to QIWI;
 - 1.1.3 deliver an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors (or a duly constituted committee thereof) of QIWI authorising the execution by QIWI of this document and any document to be delivered by QIWI at or prior to the Completion Date 1, and, where such execution is authorised by a committee of the board of directors of QIWI, an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors constituting such committee or the relevant extract thereof); and
 - 1.1.4 deliver an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors (or a duly constituted committee thereof) of QIWI authorising the issue and allotment of Subscription Shares to the Investor;
 - 1.1.5 deliver a copy of the power of attorney authorising the representative of QIWI to execute this Agreement and the Transaction Documents on behalf of QIWI, if any, certified by a director or secretary of QIWI to be a true and complete copy.
- 1.2 At the Completion Date 1, the Investor shall:
 - 1.2.1 execute in the presence of the Notary and under the Notary's certification the Transfer Agreement 1 and any applications required under the Applicable Law for state registration of transfer of the Instalment 1 from the Investor to QIWI;
 - 1.2.2 deliver an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors (or a duly constituted committee thereof) of the Investor and of the Investor Guarantor authorising the execution by the Investor of this document and any document to be delivered by the Investor and by the Investor Guarantor at or prior to the Completion Date 1, and, where such execution is authorised by a committee of the board of directors of the Investor or of the Investor Guarantor, an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors constituting such committee or the relevant extract thereof);
 - 1.2.3 deliver a copy of the power of attorney authorising the representative of the Investor to execute this Agreement and the Transaction Documents on behalf of the Investor, if any, certified by a director or secretary of the Investor to be a true and complete copy;
 - 1.2.4 deliver the seals, minute books, statutory registers and share certificate books of each Group Company (in each case up to the date up to but not including Completion Date 1), to the extent not in the possession of the relevant Group Company; and
 - 1.2.5 to the extent not in the possession of the Group Companies, deliver to QIWI all books and records of the Group Companies.
- 1.3 At the Completion Date 1, the Parties shall give irrevocable instructions to the Notary to initiate registration of QIWI as the registered owner of Instalment 1 with the Unified State Register of Legal Entities as soon as practicable pursuant to Article 21(14) of the LLC Law.

2. **Post-Completion obligations**

- 2.1 Within 30 (thirty) calendar days after the Completion Date 1 QIWI shall execute and deliver (or procure the execution and delivery of) share certificate in respect of the Subscription Shares 1 to the Investor.
- 2.2 Within 3 (three) Business Days after the Completion Date 1 QIWI shall notify in writing CIHRUS about the transfer of the Instalment 1 from the Investor to QIWI.
- 2.3 Within 30 (thirty) calendar days after the Completion Date 1 QIWI shall notify in writing, if required, the Governmental Authorities about its acquisition of Instalment 1.
- 2.4 Within 20 (twenty) calendar days after the Completion Date 1, with respect to the operation of each bank account of any Group Company, the Investor shall procure that such changes are made to the mandates as QIWI may reasonably require by notice in writing given to the Investor not less than 10 Business Days prior to Completion 1.

PART 2 – OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES AT THE COMPLETION 2

1. Completion obligations

- 1.1 At the Completion Date 2, QIWI shall:
 - 1.1.1 procure that the Investor is entered into the register of members of QIWI as the registered holder of the Subscription Shares 2 and deliver to the Investor a copy of the same;
 - 1.1.2 execute in the presence of the Notary and under the Notary's certification the Transfer Agreement 2 and any applications required under the Applicable Law for state registration of transfer of the Instalment 2 from the Investor to QIWI;
 - 1.1.3 deliver an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors (or a duly constituted committee thereof) of QIWI authorising the execution by QIWI of this document and any document to be delivered by QIWI at or prior to the Completion Date 2, and, where such execution is authorised by a committee of the board of directors of QIWI, an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors constituting such committee or the relevant extract thereof); and
 - 1.1.4 deliver a certified copy of any power of attorney under which any of the foregoing documents are executed.
- 1.2 At the Completion Date 2, the Investor shall:
 - 1.2.1 execute in the presence of the Notary and under the Notary's certification the Transfer Agreement 2 and any applications required under the Applicable Law for state registration of transfer of the Instalment 2 from the Investor to QIWI;
 - 1.2.2 deliver an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors (or a duly constituted committee thereof) of the Investor and of the Investor Guarantor authorising the execution by the Investor of this document and any document to be delivered by the Investor and by the Investor Guarantor at or prior to the Completion Date 2, and, where such execution is authorised by a committee of the board of directors of the Investor or of the Investor Guarantor, an extract of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors constituting such committee or the relevant extract thereof);
 - 1.2.3 deliver a certified copy of any power of attorney under which any of the foregoing documents are executed.
- 1.3 At the Completion Date 2, the Parties shall give irrevocable instructions to the Notary to initiate registration of QIWI as the registered owner of Instalment 2 with the Unified State Register of Legal Entities as soon as practicable pursuant to Article 21(14) of the LLC Law.



2. **Post-Completion obligations**

- 2.1 Within 30 (thirty) calendar days after the Completion Date 2 QIWI shall execute and deliver (or procure the execution and delivery of) share certificate in respect of the Subscription Shares 2 to the Investor.
- 2.2 Within 3 (three) Business Days after the Completion Date 2 QIWI shall notify in writing CIHRUS about the transfer of the Instalment 2 from the Investor to QIWI.
- 2.3 Within 30 (thirty) calendar days as from the Completion Date 2 QIWI shall notify in writing, if required, the Governmental Authorities about its acquisition of Instalment 2.

SCHEDULE 3

WARRANTIES

1. Capacity

- (a) The Investor has the requisite capacity, power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligation under each Transaction Document to which it is a party.
- (b) Each Transaction Document to which the Investor is a party constitutes or will, when executed, constitute legally valid and binding obligations on the Investor in accordance with its terms.
- (c) The execution of and the compliance with the terms of each Transaction Document to which the Investor is a party do not and will not conflict with or constitute a default under any provision of:
 - (i) any agreement to which the Investor is a party; or
 - (ii) the constitutional documents of the Investor; or
 - (iii) any lien, order, judgement, decree or regulation or any other restriction by which the Investor is bound.
- (d) No announcements, consultations, notices, reports or filings are required to be made in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents other than the filling of the notice on the transfer of ownership over the Instalment 1 and the Instalment 2 with the Unified State Register of Legal Entities.
- (e) No person is entitled to receive from the Group Companies any finder's fee, brokerage or commission in connection with this Agreement or the sale of the Interest.

2. Title

- (a) Each Group Company is a company duly organised and validly existing under the laws of the Russian Federation and has all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on the business and to own, use, lease and operate the assets which it currently owns, uses, leases and operates in connection with the Ordinary Course of Business.
- (b) The charter capital of each Group Company is fully paid-up in accordance with the laws of the Russian Federation and is not subject to any rights of first refusal, buy-out and similar rights, calls or assessments other than those provided for by the LLC Law.
- (c) No person is entitled to require any Group Company to issue any share or charter capital either now or at any future date whether contingently or not.
- (d) As of the date of this Agreement and as of Completion Date 1, the Investor is the sole legal and beneficial owner of Instalment 1 and there are no Encumbrances over Instalment 1.
- (e) As of Completion Date 2, the Investor is the sole legal and beneficial owner of Instalment 2 and there are no Encumbrances over Instalment 2.

3. Authority

- (a) The execution of and the compliance with the terms of the Transaction Documents by the Investor do not and will not conflict with or constitute a default under any provision of (i) the constitutional and corporate documents of any Group Company; or (ii) any lien, order, judgement, decree or regulation or any other restriction of any kind by which a Group Company is bound.
- (b) All consents, approvals, registrations, authorisations or permits which are required to be obtained by the Investor in connection with the execution and performance of the Transaction Documents, including the transfer of the Interests to QIWI, have been duly obtained.

4. Insolvency

- (a) For the purposes of this Warranty, **Insolvency Proceedings** means the proceedings contemplated by the Russian Federal Law No. 127-FZ On Insolvency dated October 26, 2002 (as amended) or analogous proceedings under the laws of Cyprus.
- (b) None of the Group Companies, the Investor, nor the Investor Guarantor are involved in or subject to any Insolvency Proceedings.
- (c) There are no circumstances which require or would enable any Insolvency Proceedings to be commenced in respect of any Group Company or the Investor.
- (d) Neither the Investor nor any Group Company has become incapable of paying its indebtedness or has become insolvent under any other grounds in any jurisdiction.

5. Subsidiaries

- (a) CIHRUS has no Subsidiaries and has not agreed to acquire any securities of any other corporation (whether incorporated in the Russian Federation or elsewhere) other than those companies identified in Schedule 1 (Details of the Group Companies).
- (b) Except as Disclosed, no Group Company has any branch or any permanent establishment outside its country of incorporation.
- (c) No Group Company is or has agreed to become a member of any partnership, joint venture, consortium or other similar enterprise or arrangement.

6. Compliance with Statutes

- (a) No Group Company nor, to the Investor's knowledge, any of its officers, agents and employees (during the course of their duties), has done or omitted to do anything which is a contravention of any statute (including but not limited to the Competition Law), order, regulation or the like giving rise to any fine, penalty or other liability or sanction that is or exceeds RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) on the part of that Group Company.
- (b) No Group Company nor, to the Investor's knowledge, any of its officers, agents and employees (during the course of their duties), has done or omitted to do anything which is a contravention of any local legislation which, in the Ordinary Course of Business, be reasonably likely to lead to the termination of Material Contracts of a Group Company.
- (c) Each Group Company has complied in all material respects with its constitutional documents and internal regulations including but not limited to all corporate approvals, consents, waivers and procedures required to enter into any transaction.

7. Licenses

Each Group Company has all licences (including statutory licences) consents, permits and authorisations necessary to own and operate its assets and to carry on its business as it does at

present and, to the Investor's knowledge, there is nothing that might result in the revocation, suspension or modification of any of those licences or consents or that might prejudice their renewal and no notices have been received by any Group Company relating to the termination or cancellation of such permits or authorisations.

8. Litigation

- (a) No Group Company is engaged in any litigation or arbitration proceedings against it (civil, criminal, administrative or otherwise) and, to the best of Investor's knowledge, there are no such proceedings threatened or pending against any Group Company and there is no such action threatened or pending against any chief executive officer or a member of the management board of any Group Company in connection with activities carried out in their relevant capacity, which in each case if ruled against the Group Company would result in a liability in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles).
- (b) To the Investor's knowledge and except as Disclosed, no Group Company is the subject of any investigation, enquiry or enforcement proceedings or process by any governmental, administrative or regulatory body nor is the Investor aware of anything which is likely to give rise to any such investigation, enquiry, proceedings or process, other than regular and routine enquires from the Central Bank of Russia.

9. Assets and Leases

- (a) No Group Company is a party to any Lease or has entered into any arrangement in respect of a Lease other than the Leases of the premises at the addresses listed in Schedule 7.
- (b) The Leases listed in Schedule 7 are in full force and effect and the parties to each of the Leases have complied with their respective obligations under the Leases.
- (c) No holder of any Lease has, since the Accounts Date, informed any Group Company that it will or is likely to modify, amend or terminate any lease contract with the relevant Group Company or reduce the level of business it currently does with that Group Company whether as a result of the proposed acquisition of that Group Company by QIWI or otherwise.
- (a) The Assets and the Leases comprise all the assets sufficient for the continuation of the same business as carried on by the Group Companies as at the date of this Agreement.
- (b) In respect of the Assets:
 - (i) each Asset is held by a Group Company that has the legal, valid and exclusive ownership right to such Asset;
 - (ii) no third party has any right title or interest in any of the Assets;
 - (iii) there is no Encumbrance on, over or affecting any of the Assets or any commitment to give or create any of the foregoing;
 - (iv) all payments required to be made by each Group Company in respect of any of the Assets have been made by the relevant Group Company; and
 - (v) no Group Company has outstanding liabilities in respect of any of the Assets.

For the purpose of this clause **Assets** means the assets owned and/or used by Group Companies and which are necessary for the Ordinary Course of Business.

10. Banking regulations

- (a) NKO Rapida holds a licence on banking operations issued by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation which enables it to carry on its business as it does at present and, to the Investor's knowledge, there is nothing that might result in the revocation, cancellation or suspension of the license, and no notices have been received by the Investor relating to the revocation, cancellation or suspension of such license.
- (b) Except as Disclosed, NKO Rapida carries out its banking activity in accordance with applicable legislation, including without limitation Russian legislation on credit organizations and the requirements of Central Bank of the Russian Federation. All internal documentation of NKO Rapida for that purpose is duly drafted and approved and any and all mandatory notices to the Central Bank of the Russian Federation have been duly provided.
- (c) Except as Disclosed, NKO Rapida has rectified any and all violations identified by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation and Federal Service on financial monitoring on the basis of orders and acts received therefrom and, to the Investor's knowledge, there is nothing that might result in such orders or acts to be provided to QIWI.
- (d) Except as Disclosed, NKO Rapida has all necessary compliance procedure in place for the purpose of bank secrecy regime and, to the Investor's knowledge, there is nothing that might result in a breach or violation of such regime and no notices have been received by NKO Rapida relating to the breach of such regime.
- (e) Except as Disclosed, NKO Rapida has duly prepared and submitted in time all required bank reports, including reporting to the Central Bank of the Russian Federation in accordance with applicable laws.
- (f) Except as Disclosed, the security systems of NKO Rapida meet the requirements of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation on informational security of the banking systems in all material respects and there is nothing that has resulted or, to the Investor's knowledge, might result in a breach of the security systems of NKO Rapida and no notices, orders, or acts have been received by NKO Rapida regarding such a breach.
- (g) Except as Disclosed, each Group Company is in compliance with Applicable Law regulating Russian national payment systems and, to the Investor's knowledge, and there is nothing that might result in breach by any Group Company of that law or incur any potential financial liability or undertaking on any Group Company in connection with it.

11. Financials

- (a) No Group Company has any liabilities other than those disclosed in the Accounts.
- (b) The Accounts:
 - (i) have been prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting Standards;
 - (ii) correctly state the assets of each Group Company and give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of each Group Company and of the profit or loss of each Group Company in respect of the periods for which they were prepared;
 - (iii) contain either provisions adequate to cover, or full particulars in notes of, all Taxation (including deferred Taxation) and other liabilities (whether quantified, contingent or otherwise) of each Group Company as at the Accounts Date.

- (i) Except as Disclosed, no Group Company has:
 - (A) entered into any Material Contract or any unusual contract or commitment or otherwise departed from its Ordinary Course of Business; or
 - (B) assumed, guaranteed, endorsed or otherwise become liable or responsible (whether directly, contingently or otherwise) for the obligations of any other person other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; or
 - (C) permitted or allowed any real property or any movable property to be mortgaged, pledged or subjected to any other Encumbrance other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; or
 - (D) entered into any transaction with the Investor or other participant of that Group Company or any Affiliate of the Investor or other participant of that Group Company other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; or
 - (E) suffered any casualty loss, physical damage or destruction, whether or not covered by insurance, adversely affecting the business of the Group Companies; or
 - (F) satisfied and discharged any Encumbrances, or paid any obligation or liability other than current liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with its past practice; or
 - (G) amended its constitutional documents, entered into any agreement or merger, consolidation or reorganisation, dissolved or entered into any plan of liquidation or dissolution, purchased or issued any interests or other securities or entered into any commitments or arrangements for the voting, purchase, redemption or issuance of any interests or other securities.
- (ii) there has been:
 - (A) no material deterioration in the turnover, the financial or trading position or the prospects of any Group Company;
 - (B) no loans, credits, guarantees in respect of liabilities of third parties or transactions which have resulted or may result in any indebtedness of QIWI to third parties.
- (d) No Group Company has disposed of any of the assets included in the Accounts or acquired or agreed to acquire any asset since the Accounts Date other than in the Ordinary Course of Business.

12. Commercial

- (a) Each Group Company has observed and performed its trading contracts in all material respects.
- (b) No Group Company is a party to any existing contract, arrangement, or obligation which, whether by reason of its nature, term, scope, price or otherwise, is or is likely to be of material importance to its business, profits or assets, and which:
 - (i) is not in the Ordinary Course of its Business; or

- (ii) is expected to result in a loss in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) to QIWI on completion of performance; or
- (iii) is of an onerous nature or cannot be fulfilled or performed by QIWI on time and without undue or unusual expenditure of money and effort.

13. Records

(a) All records or other documents recording or evidencing any contract of each Group Company or required for the exercise of any such right are in the possession or under the exclusive control of each Group Company.

14. Tax

- (a) Each Group Company has within the time and in the manner prescribed by law:
 - (i) duly filed with the appropriate taxing authorities all Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to the relevant Group Company or with respect to their assets, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects;
 - (ii) timely paid in full all Taxes shown to be due on such Tax Returns or otherwise due and payable with respect to the relevant Group Company or the assets of the relevant Group Company; and
 - (iii) complied with all applicable laws, rules and regulations relating to the withholding of Taxes and the payment of withheld Taxes.
- (b) The Tax Returns referred to in paragraph (a) above are not currently the subject of any audit or other proceeding by a tax administration or any local or foreign Governmental Authority and no such audit or proceeding is threatened against the relevant Group Company.
- (c) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes upon the assets of any Group Company.
- (d) No Group Company has received any notice of deficiency or assessment from any national, local or foreign Governmental Authority with respect to any liability for Taxes or with respect to its business or the assets of the relevant Group Company, which liability has not been fully paid or finally settled. No administrative, judicial or other proceeding is presently pending with respect to any Taxes or Tax Returns of any Group Company or with respect to the business or the assets of any Group Company.
- (e) All necessary information, notices, accounts, statements, reports, computations, assessments and returns which ought to have been made or given, have been properly and duly submitted by each Group Company to the tax authorities and all information, notices, computations, assessments and returns submitted to the tax authorities are true and accurate and are not the subject of any dispute with a value in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) nor are likely to become the subject of any dispute with a value in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) with such authorities.
- (f) All Taxation of any nature whatsoever for which any Group Company is liable to account has been duly paid (insofar as such Taxation ought to have been paid) and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing each Group Company has made all such deductions and retentions as it was obliged or entitled to make and all such payments as should have been made.
- (g) No Group Company has within the past twenty-four months received any notice of enquiry or suffered any enquiry, investigation audit or visit by the tax authorities (other than an audit visit made by the tax authorities in the Ordinary Course of Business), and no such enquiry, investigation audit or visit, so far as the Investor is aware, is planned for the next twelve months.

15. Liabilities

- (a) Other than the Credit Facilities, there are no material facilities for overdrafts, loans, acceptance credits and other finance available to the Group Companies (including any financing arrangements not shown in the Accounts) with a total amount available under such facility in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles); and, to the Investor's knowledge, each Group Company has complied, in all material respects, with the terms of those facilities.
- (b) No Group Company is a party to and is liable under a guarantee, indemnity or other agreement to secure or incur a financial or other obligation with respect to another person's obligation other than where such guarantee or indemnity is entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business.
- (c) No part of the loan capital, borrowing or indebtedness in the nature of borrowing of any Group Company is dependent on the guarantee or indemnity of, or security provided by, another person.
- (d) No event has occurred or is subsisting or been alleged or, to the Investor's knowledge, is likely to arise which:

(i) constitutes an event of default, or otherwise gives rise to an obligation to repay, or to give security under an agreement relating to borrowing or indebtedness in the nature of borrowing (or will do so with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both);

(ii) will lead to an Encumbrance constituted or created in connection with borrowing or indebtedness in the nature of borrowing, a guarantee, an indemnity, suretyship or other obligation of any Group Company becoming enforceable (or will do so with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both); or

(iii) with the giving of notice and/or lapse of time constitute or result in a default or the acceleration of any obligation under any agreement or arrangement to which any Group Company is a party or by which it or any of its properties, revenues or assets is bound.

16. Intellectual Property

- (a) Each Group Company is an owner of all intellectual property rights (registered and unregistered) free from all Encumbrances which are required in the Ordinary Course of Business and/or operations. All rights on intellectual property and/or licenses which each Group Company holds are in full legal force, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. All registration and renewal fees payable in respect of any of the intellectual property that each Group Company holds have been paid up to date. No Group Company has taken any actions or done any omissions as a result of which such intellectual property rights of the relevant Group Company have been threatened, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) There are no agreements or arrangements in effect whereby a licence, sub-licence or other permission to use has been granted by, or is obliged to be granted by any Group Company in respect of any Intellectual Property (other than where such agreements or arrangements are between the Group Companies).

- (c) To the Investor's knowledge, the activity of each Group Company has not violated and will not lead to violation of intellectual property rights of any third party and there have not been any claims or lawsuits from the third party for such violation other than those Disclosed.
- (d) All registration and renewal fees have been paid in relation to the Intellectual Property which is registered or applied for in the name of each Group Company. All steps have been taken diligently for the prosecution and maintenance of such Intellectual Property and all steps have been taken diligently for the maintenance and protection of unregistered Intellectual Property owned by each Group Company, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) No proceedings claims or complaints have been brought or threatened by any third party or competent authority in relation to the Intellectual Property owned by or licensed to any Group Company including any concerning title subsistence validity or enforceability or grant of any right or interest in such Intellectual Property.
- (f) To the Investor's knowledge, no third party is infringing or misusing or threatening to infringe or misuse the Intellectual Property owned by or licensed to any Group Company.
- (g) No Group Company is subject to any injunction, undertaking or court order or order of any other authority of competent jurisdiction not to use or restricting the use of any Intellectual Property.

17. Employees

- (a) No Group Company employs any employee other than those listed in Schedule 8 (Employees).
- (b) Except as Disclosed, all of the employees are employed on the basis of the standard contract provided to QIWI in course of due diligence and are not entitled to any remuneration or other benefits other than as specified in the contracts provided.
- (c) To the Investor's knowledge, each Group Company has in all material respects complied with its obligations under applicable law to applicants for employment, its employees and former employees, any relevant trade union, works council and employee representatives.
- (d) No claim in relation to employees or former employees of any Group Company has been made against the relevant Group Company or against any person whom the relevant Group Company is liable to indemnify.
- (e) No Group Company has made, announced or proposed any material changes to the salaries or benefits of any employee inconsistent with past practice of such Group Company, and no Group Company is under any express or implied obligation to make any such changes with or without retrospective operation.
- (f) All salaries, wages, fees and other benefits of all employees of each Group Company have, to the extent due, been paid or discharged in full together with all related payments to third party benefit providers and relevant authorities.
- (g) No employees of any Group Company are members of a trade union, staff association or any other body representing workers and no such union, association or body is recognised by any Group Company for the purposes of collective bargaining.
- (h) There is not, and during the three years preceding the date of this Agreement there has not been, any collective labour dispute or industrial action affecting any Group Company.

- (i) No employee of any Group Company has within a period of three years before the date of this Agreement been presented with any criminal charges relating to the business of any Group Company.
- (j) No Group Company makes any payments to any person who is not a party to an employment contract with the relevant Group Company as at the date of this Agreement and no Group Company is or will be required to make any payments to, on behalf of, or in respect of any person who is not a party to an employment contract with the relevant Group Company as at the date of this Agreement.
- (k) There are no amounts owing or agreed to be loaned or advanced by any Group Company to any employee (other than amounts representing remuneration accrued due for the current pay period, accrued holiday pay for the current holiday year or for reimbursement of expenses).
- (1) No enquiry or investigation affecting any Group Company or the Investor has been made or threatened by any governmental, regulatory, supervisory, statutory or professional body in respect of any act, event, omission or other matter arising out of or in connection with:

(i) any application for employment by any person; or

(ii) the employment (including terms of employment, working conditions, benefits and practices) or termination of employment of any person,

having an adverse consequence for the operation of the business of the Group and, to the Investor's knowledge, there is no circumstance which may give rise to any such claim or investigation.

18. Contracts

- (a) Complete and accurate copies of each Material Contract to which each Group Company is a party are attached to the Disclosure Letter, and no additional terms or modified terms have been agreed between the parties to such Material Contracts that are not expressly included in such copies.
- (b) There is not outstanding any contract or arrangement to which the Investor or the Investor Guarantor (or any of their Related Parties) is a party or of which either the Investor or the Investor Guarantor has the benefit which would have to be assigned to or vested in any Group Company to enable such Group Company to carry on its business.
- (c) There is not outstanding any contract or arrangement between the Investor or the Investor Guarantor (or any of their Related Parties) relating to the management of any Group Company's business or conduct of such Group Company's affairs.
- (d) To the Investor's knowledge, there has been no breach of the terms of any Material Contract or instrument with a value in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) to which any Group Company is a party by any other party thereto.
- (e) No default or event (including the sale of the Interest to QIWI) has occurred, to the Investor's knowledge, as a result of which:
 - (i) any Material Contract or arrangement with a value in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) to which any Group Company is a party or any material right or privilege which any Group Company enjoys will or may be varied as to its material terms or conditions or be terminated;

- (ii) any indebtedness in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) of any Group Company will or may become payable or any security given by any Group Company that if enforced would have a Material Adverse Effect on the Group Companies, taken as a whole, will or may become enforceable;
- (iii) any grant made or financial assistance given to any Group Company by any national, supra-national or local authority will or may become repayable or forfeited in whole or in part.

19. U.S. Securities Laws Compliance

- (a) The Investor is not a "U.S. person" (as such term is defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act).
- (b) Neither the Investor nor any of its affiliates (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) or any person acting on its or their behalf has engaged in any directed selling efforts (as such term is defined in Regulation S of the Securities Act) in connection with the issuance of the Subscription Shares.

20. Money laundering laws

(a) The operations of each Group Company are, and have been, conducted in compliance in all material respects with all anti-money laundering laws and all financial record keeping and reporting requirements, rules, regulations and guidelines, in each case, applicable to it (collectively, *Money Laundering Laws*) and no investigation, action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority or body or any arbitrator involving any Group Company with respect to Money Laundering Laws is pending and, to the Investor's knowledge, no such actions, suits or proceedings are or have been threatened.

21. Sanctions

- (a) No Group Company nor, to the Investor's knowledge, any of their directors, officers, employees, agents or affiliates:
 - (a) is in violation of, or has violated, any applicable Sanctions;
 - (b) is conducting any business dealings or activities in a violation of any applicable Sanctions.
- (b) No Group Company, nor, to the Investor's knowledge, any of their affiliates, directors, officers, employees, agents or distributors, has been, in the past five (5) years, engaged in or been subject to any litigation, arbitration, settlement, alternative dispute resolution proceedings or process, proceedings (including criminal and/or administrative proceedings), enquiry or investigation (including with or by any governmental, administrative or regulatory body) (*Action*) concerning or relating to any Sanctions and/or Sanctions Targets.
- (c) None of the Interests or assets and/or financial or commercial interests of the Group Companies are, or have been, subject to any freeze, prohibition, restriction or block under or pursuant to any Sanctions.

22. Consequences of Sale

- (1) Compliance with the terms of the Transaction Documents does not:
- (a) constitute a default under any provision of:
 - (i) any Material Contract or instrument with a value in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) to which any Group Company is a party or by which the relevant Group Company is bound; or
 - (ii) any lien, lease, order, judgment, award, injunction, decree, law, ordinance or regulation or any other restriction of any kind or character with a value in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) by which any Group Company is bound; or

- (b) relieve any other party to a Material Contract with any Group Company of its obligations or enable that party to vary or terminate its rights or obligations under that contract or result in the loss of a benefit under or require any consent under any Material Contract; or
- (c) result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance on any of the material property or assets of any Group Company.

For the purposes of this warranty, "material" means any contract (i) which involves revenue or expenditure of any Group Company in excess of RUB 40,000,000, or (ii) which is incapable of termination by any Group Company on 12 months' notice or less without penalty, or (iii) which is otherwise of operational or strategic importance to the Group and which, if terminated, would not reasonably be expected to be capable of replacement on materially similar terms.

(2) No material customer or source of supply has, since the Accounts Date, informed any Group Company that it will or is likely to terminate any contract with the relevant Group Company or reduce the level of business it does with the relevant Group Company whether as a result of the proposed acquisition of the Group Company by QIWI or otherwise. For these purposes, a material customer or source of supply is one in which, in the financial period immediately preceding the Accounts Date accounted for three per cent. or more (in the case of a customer) of the turnover of such Group Company or (in the case of a source of supply) of the goods, services or equipment supplied to such Group Company.

23. Information Technology and Data Protection

- (a) Except as Disclosed, in the 12 months prior to the date hereof no Group Company has suffered failures or bugs in or breakdowns of any System used in connection with the business of any Group Company which have caused any substantial disruption or interruption in or to its use and the Investor is not aware of any fact or matter which is likely to disrupt, interrupt or affect the use of such equipment following the Completion Date on the same basis as it is presently used.
- (b) No action will be necessary to enable the Systems to continue to be used in the business of the relevant Group Company to the same extent and in the same manner as they have been used prior to the date hereof.
- (c) Except as Disclosed, each Group Company is validly licensed to use the software used in its business and no action will be necessary to enable it to continue to use such software to the same extent and in the same manner as they have been used prior to the date hereof.

SCHEDULE 4

LIMITS ON WARRANTY CLAIMS

For the purposes of this Schedule, "Investor" shall mean each of the Investor and the Investor Guarantor.

1. Threshold

- 1.1 The Investor shall not be liable in respect of any Warranty Claim unless:
 - (a) the amount of an individual Warranty Claim exceeds RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) (each a "qualifying claim"); and
 - (b) the aggregate amount of all qualifying claims exceeds RUB 120,000,000 (one hundred and twenty million roubles).
- 1.2 The aggregate liability of the Investor for all Warranty Claims shall be limited to:
 - (a) RUB 4,000,000,000 (four billion roubles) in connection with any Warranty Claim in relation to a breach of Title Warranties; and
 - (b) RUB 2,000,000,000 (two billion roubles) in respect of all other Warranty Claims.

2. Time limits

- 2.1 The liability of the Investor in respect of the Warranties (other than Title Warranties) shall terminate:
- (a) within three (3) years from the end of the Accounting Period in which Completion Date 2 falls in respect of Tax Warranty Claims;
- (b) within one (1) year from the Completion Date 2 in respect of all other matters contained in that Schedule,

except in respect of any Warranty Claim of which written notice is given to the Investor before the relevant date.

3. Notice of Warranty Claims

- 3.1 If QIWI becomes aware of a matter which is likely to give rise to a Warranty Claim, QIWI shall give Notice of the relevant facts to the Investor as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware of those facts. The Investor shall not be liable for any Warranty Claim unless written notice of such Warranty Claim has been given to the Investor within the time period specified in paragraph 2 (*Time Limits*) above.
- 3.2 The written notice of the Warranty Claim referred to at paragraph 3.1 above shall state in reasonable detail the nature of the Warranty Claim.

4. Other Exclusions

- 4.1 The Investor shall not be liable in respect of any Warranty Claim if and to the extent that:
- (a) solely in relation to Warranty Claims, the liability is caused by a breach by QIWI of any of its obligations under this Agreement;

- (b) it arises, or is increased or extended by the passing of or any change in any legislation or regulation made on and/or after Completion Date 1;
- (c) it arises, or is increased or extended by any change in the accounting reference date of the Investor or CIHRUS made on and/or after Completion Date 1;
- (d) it arises, or is increased or extended by any change in any accounting basis, policy, practice or approach of, or applicable to, QIWI or a Group Company, or any change in the way an accounting basis is adapted for Tax purposes, in each case, made on and/or after Completion Date 1;
- (e) the Warranty Claim is increased by virtue of QIWI failing to comply with the provisions of paragraph 5 below.

5. Third Party Claims

- 5.1 In respect of any claim against QIWI after Completion Date 1 by a third party (a "**Third Party Claim**") that would or would be reasonably expected to give rise to a claim against the Investor, QIWI shall (and shall procure, where relevant, that CIHRUS shall):
- (a) as soon as reasonably practicable, give written notice and reasonable details of the Third Party Claim to the Investor;
- (b) not make any admission of liability, agreement, settlement or compromise with any person, body or authority in relation to the Third Party Claim, except as required by Applicable Law, without consulting with the Investor regarding any material actions to be taken by QIWI in order to avoid, dispute, resist, defend, appeal, compromise, settle, mitigate or remedy the Third Party Claim;
- (c) give the Investor or its duly authorised representatives such assistance as the Investor may reasonably require and shall ensure that QIWI gives the Investor and its professional advisers reasonable access during working hours to relevant employees and premises of QIWI and access to (and permission to take copies of) all relevant documents in order to allow the Investor to investigate the Third Party Claim and take the actions referred to in this paragraph (c);
- (d) keep the Investor reasonably informed as to the progress of the Third Party Claim including the receipt of any material communications;
- (e) consult with the Investor as to any ways in which the Third Party Claim might be avoided, disputed, resisted, mitigated, settled, compromised, defended or appealed;
- (f) at QIWI's sole discretion, allow the Investor to participate in any action involving a Third Party Claim and assume the defence thereof, with counsel satisfactory to QIWI (who shall not, except with the consent of QIWI, also be counsel to QIWI), following which the Investor shall not be liable to QIWI under this paragraph 5 for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by QIWI in connection with the defence thereof other than properly incurred costs of investigation. The Investor may agree to any settlement or compromise of any such Third Party Claim in its sole discretion, so long as such settlement or compromise (i) does not obligate QIWI to take or refrain from taking any action, (ii) provides for a complete release of QIWI by such third party, and (iii) does not include any statement as to or any admission of liabilitt by or on behalf of QIWI. In all other events, the Investor will seek the consent of QIWI in connection with the Investor's agreement to any settlement or compromise of any such Third Party Claim; and
- (g) take such action, at the written request of the Investor, as the Investor may reasonably require to avoid, dispute, resist, mitigate, settle, compromise, defend or appeal the Third Party Claim.

6. No Double Recovery

6.1 QIWI shall not be entitled to recover damages or otherwise obtain reimbursement or restitution more than once in respect of the same Loss.

7. Remediable Breaches

7.1 The Investor shall not be liable for any claim to the extent that the facts, matters, events and/or circumstances giving rise to such claim are remedied in full (and not in part only) to the reasonable satisfaction of QIWI by and at the expense of the Investor within 30 Business Days of the date on which written notice of such claim is given to the Investor pursuant to paragraph 2 above.

8. Insurance

8.1 With respect to any Claim, the Investor shall not be liable for any amount if QIWI, any member of QIWI's consolidated Subsidiaries is insured against any Loss which is the basis of such Claim under the terms of any insurance policy unless and until the insured company has made a claim against the insurers under such policy and that claim has been settled, agreed or otherwise determined (provided that this shall not prevent QIWI from giving notice in accordance with paragraph 2 of this Schedule 4). The amount recoverable under the claim shall be reduced by any amount which is recovered under such policy.

9. Reimbursement of claims

- 9.1 If, after the Investor has made any payment in respect of a Warranty Claim, the recipient of that payment (or QIWI) recovers from a third party (including any Tax Authority) a sum in immediately available funds which specifically relates to that payment (the "**Recovery Amount**"), then QIWI shall forthwith as soon as reasonable practicable pay (or procure the repayment of) to the Investor such sum that is the lesser of:
- (a) the Recovery Amount less any Tax suffered in respect of that Recovery Amount and any costs and expenses (including any increases in insurance premiums) incurred in recovering that Recovery Amount; and
- (b) the amount paid by the Investor in respect of such Warranty Claim.

10. Mitigation

Nothing in this Schedule 4 shall have the effect of limiting or restricting any general law obligation of QIWI to mitigate loss or damage resulting from a fact, matter or circumstance that would, could or might give rise to a claim and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall, in respect of any right of recovery (whether by payment, discount, credit, relief or otherwise) which could or might be made by QIWI against any third party, take reasonable steps to maximise the amount recovered in respect of such right of recovery.

SCHEDULE 5

LIMITS ON QIWI WARRANTY CLAIMS

1. Threshold

- 1.1 QIWI shall not be liable in respect of any QIWI Warranty Claim unless:
 - (a) the amount of an individual QIWI Warranty Claim exceeds RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) (each a "**qualifying claim**"); and
 - (b) the aggregate amount of all qualifying claims exceeds RUB 120,000,000 (one hundred and twenty million roubles).
- 1.2 The aggregate liability of QIWI for all QIWI Warranty Claims shall be limited to:
 - (a) RUB 4,000,000,000 (four billion roubles) in connection with any QIWI Warranty Claim in relation to a breach of the warranty contained in clause 5.11.2; and
 - (b) RUB 2,000,000,000 (two billion roubles) in respect of all other QIWI Warranty Claims.

2. Time limits

2.1 The liability of QIWI in respect of any QIWI Warranty Claim shall terminate within eighteen (18) months from the Completion Date 2, except in respect of any QIWI Warranty Claim of which written notice is given to QIWI by the Investor before such relevant date.

3. Notice of Warranty Claims

- 3.1 If the Investor becomes aware of a matter which is likely to give rise to a QIWI Warranty Claim, the Investor shall give written notice of the relevant facts to QIWI as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware of those facts. QIWI shall not be liable for any QIWI Warranty Claim unless written notice of the claim has been given to QIWI within the time period specified in paragraph 2 (*Time Limits*) above.
- 3.2 The written notice of the claim shall state in reasonable detail the nature of the claim.

4. Other Exclusions

- 4.1 QIWI shall not be liable in respect of any QIWI Warranty Claim if and to the extent that:
- (a) the liability is caused by a breach by the Investor of any of its obligations under this Agreement;
- (b) it arises, or is increased or extended by the passing of or any change in any legislation or regulation made on and/or after Completion Date 1;
- (c) it arises, or is increased or extended by any change in the accounting reference date of QIWI made on and/or after Completion Date 1;
- (d) it arises, or is increased or extended by any change in any accounting basis, policy, practice or approach of, or applicable to, the Investor, or any change in the way an accounting basis is adapted for tax purposes, in each case, made on and/or after Completion Date 1;
- (e) the QIWI Warranty Claim is increased by virtue of the Investor failing to comply with the provisions of paragraph 5 below.

5. Third Party Claims

- 5.1 In respect of any claim against the Investor after Completion Date 1 by a third party (a "**Third Party Claim**") that would or would be reasonably expected to give rise to a claim against QIWI, the Investor shall:
- (a) as soon as reasonably practicable, give written notice and reasonable details of the Third Party Claim to QIWI;
- (b) not make any admission of liability, agreement, settlement or compromise with any person, body or authority in relation to the Third Party Claim, except as required by applicable law, rule or regulation, without consulting with QIWI regarding any material actions to be taken by the Investor in order to avoid, dispute, resist, defend, appeal, compromise, settle, mitigate or remedy the Third Party Claim;
- (c) give QIWI or its duly authorised representatives such assistance as QIWI may reasonably require and reasonable access during working hours to relevant employees and premises of the Investor and access to (and permission to take copies of) all relevant documents in order to allow QIWI to investigate the Third Party Claim and take the actions referred to in this paragraph (c);
- (d) keep QIWI reasonably informed as to the progress of the Third Party Claim including the receipt of any material communications;
- (e) consult with QIWI as to any ways in which the Third Party Claim might be avoided, disputed, resisted, mitigated, settled, compromised, defended or appealed;
- (f) at the Investor's sole discretion, allow QIWI to participate in any action involving a Third Party Claim and assume the defence thereof, with counsel satisfactory to the Investor (who shall not, except with the consent of the Investor, also be counsel to the Investor), following which QIWI shall not be liable to the Investor under this paragraph 5 for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the Investor in connection with the defence thereof other than properly incurred costs of investigation. QIWI may agree to any settlement or compromise of any such Third Party Claim in its sole discretion, so long as such settlement or compromise (i) does not obligate the Investor to take or refrain from taking any action, (ii) provides for a complete release of the Investor by such third party, and (iii) does not include any statement as to or any admission of liability by or on behalf of the Investor. In all other events, QIWI will seek the consent of the Investor in connection with QIWI's agreement to any settlement or compromise of any such Third Party Claim; and
- (g) take such action, at the written request of QIWI, as QIWI may reasonably require to avoid, dispute, resist, mitigate, settle, compromise, defend or appeal the Third Party Claim.

6. No Double Recovery

6.1 The Investor shall not be entitled to recover damages or otherwise obtain reimbursement or restitution more than once in respect of the same Loss.

7. Remediable Breaches

7.1 QIWI shall not be liable for any claim to the extent that the facts, matters, events and/or circumstances giving rise to such claim are remedied in full (and not in part only) to the reasonable satisfaction of the Investor by and at the expense of QIWI within 30 Business Days of the date on which written notice of such claim is given to the Investor pursuant to paragraph 2 above.

8. Insurance

8.1 With respect to any Claim, QIWI shall not be liable for any amount if the Investor, any member of the Investor's group is insured against any Loss which is the basis of such Claim under the terms of any insurance policy unless and until the insured company has made a claim against the insurers under such policy and that claim has been settled, agreed or otherwise determined (provided that this shall not prevent the Investor from giving notice in accordance with paragraph 2 of this Schedule 5). The amount recoverable under the claim shall be reduced by any amount which is recovered under such policy.

9. Reimbursement of claims

- 9.1 If, after QIWI has made any payment in respect of a Warranty Claim, the recipient of that payment (or the Investor) recovers from a third party (including any Tax Authority) a sum in immediately available funds which specifically relates to that payment (the "**Recovery Amount**"), then the Investor shall forthwith as soon as reasonable practicable pay (or procure the repayment of) to QIWI such sum that is the lesser of:
- (a) the Recovery Amount less any Tax suffered in respect of that Recovery Amount and any costs and expenses (including any increases in insurance premiums) incurred in recovering that Recovery Amount; and
- 9.2 the amount paid by QIWI in respect of such Warranty Claim.

10. Mitigation

10.1 Nothing in this Schedule 5 shall have the effect of limiting or restricting any general law obligation of the Investor to mitigate loss or damage resulting from a fact, matter or circumstance that would, could or might give rise to a claim and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall, in respect of any right of recovery (whether by payment, discount, credit, relief or otherwise) which could or might be made by it or the Investor against any third party, take reasonable steps to maximise the amount recovered in respect of such right of recovery.

SCHEDULE 6

RESTRICTED ACTIONS

- 1. The Investor shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that no Group Company shall before Completion 1 without the prior written consent of QIWI which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed:
- 1.1 incur any expenditure on capital account exceeding RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) (exclusive of VAT) in the case of any single item or series of related items; or
- 1.2 dispose of (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice) or grant any option or right of pre-emption in respect of any asset for a consideration in excess of RUB RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) (exclusive of VAT) or create any encumbrance over any material part of its assets (other than pursuant to the existing financing of the Group Companies, details of which are set out in the Disclosure Letter); or
- 1.3 create or raise any debt or borrow any money (except borrowings from its bankers and other financial institutions in accordance with its existing banking and other debt facilities, including uncommitted facilities, provided that no Group Company shall make any further drawdown resulting in an increase in the amount outstanding under such facilities) or make any payments out of or drawings on its bank account(s) (except payments in the Ordinary Course of Business including for the avoidance of doubt pursuant to existing contractual commitments); or
- 1.4 enter into or renew:
 - 1.4.1 any contracts, transactions, or commitments outside the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice; or
 - 1.4.2 any contracts, transactions, or commitments (i) which are not capable of being terminated without compensation at any time with three months' notice or less or (ii) which involve or may involve total annual expenditure in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) (exclusive of VAT) or (iii) having a term longer than one year;
- 1.5 grant, issue, or redeem any Encumbrance or give any guarantee or indemnity other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; or
- 1.6 make any change in the material terms and conditions of employment of any of its directors or Employees or other benefits or other amounts (other than salary reviews in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice); or
- 1.7 terminate the employment of any Employee other than for just cause or employ any additional person who would be deemed an Employee or hire any additional person who would become an Employee (other than pursuant to clause); or
- 1.8 announce or agree any redundancies or redundancy terms; or
- 1.9 introduce any new share incentive, share option, profit sharing or other incentive scheme or vary in any way the terms of any such scheme currently operated by any Group Company, including any variation to performance targets, objectives, quanta of payment or any variation to the identities of participants; or
- 1.10 enter into or settle any litigation which is material to any Group Company; or
- 1.11 create, issue, purchase or redeem any class of share capital; or
- 1.12 fail to maintain any banking licenses issued by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation held by any Group Company; or
- 1.13 fail to pay any renewal fees for any Intellectual Property of any Group Company; or

- 1.14 manage its debtors and creditors otherwise than substantially in the Ordinary Course of Business of such Group Company; or
- 1.15 terminate any contracts or agreements with sales agents or terminate any contracts or agreements involving revenue or expenditure in excess of RUB 40,000,000 (forty million roubles) per annum (exclusive of VAT) (other than where such contracts or agreements lapse, expire or otherwise terminate under their terms); or
- 1.16 make any payments to or transfer assets to or enter into any contracts with or assume any liabilities for the benefit of the Investor or any of its Affiliates; or
- 1.17 make any changes in its accounting or Tax policies other than as required by Applicable Law or any relevant accounting body; or
- 1.18 liquidate any Group Company or dispose of any shares in any Group Company; or
- 1.19 make any alterations to its articles of association or acquire any shares in any other company; or
- 1.20 fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the business of the Group Companies, including preserving its business organisation intact, retaining its present officers and key employees, and maintaining its relationships with suppliers, customers, creditors and others having business relations with it; or
- 1.21 fail to materially comply with, and perform its obligations under all Material Contracts, all Applicable Laws, and all permits held by any Group Company; or
- 1.22 file any Tax Return or amend any Tax Return or make any other Tax filing that is inconsistent with past practice other than as is required by Law; or
- 1.23 wilfully or knowingly do or permit to be done anything which would cause any breach of the Warranties when repeated immediately before the time of Completion 1; or
- 1.24 make any changes to the approach adopted or positions or actions taken prior to the date of this Agreement in respect of Tax matters or settle or compromise any disputes with a Tax Authority; or
- 1.25 agree, conditionally or otherwise, to do any of the foregoing; or
- 2. The Investor shall not dispose of any interest in the Interest or any of them or grant any Encumbrance over the Interest or any of them.

SCHEDULE 7

-

LEASES

Ň	.	Floor Space (square	
<u>No.</u> 1.	Lease Agreement Lease Agreement dd. 13.10.2014 No. 2603/2-AP-ПрМ3, tenant – NKO Rapida, landlord – Russlavbank OJSC (with Addendum No.1 dd. 01.12.2014, Addendum No.2 dd. 01.12.2014, Addendum No.3 dd. 03.02.2015)	<u>metres)</u> 427,6	Address Moscow, Prospect Mira, 3 block 3, 0 floor office 23, 2nd floor office 1 (partly), 3 rd floor offices 1,1d, attic floor offices 9, 11, 16, 21
2.	Lease Agreement dd. 06.12.2010 No. 121A/1-2010, tenant – NKO Rapida, landlord – VINITI RAN (with Addendum No.1 dd. 01.12.2011)	49,2	Moscow, Usievicha str., 20 block 2, office 1, rooms 65,66
3.	Lease Agreement dd. 08.04.201 No. 43A/1-2011, tenant – NKO Rapida, landlord – VINITI RAN	716,8	Moscow, Usievicha str., 20 block 2, office 2, rooms 1- 7,10,12,13,13b, 13c, 13d,14-23,23a, 24-30, 30a, 30b, 30c, 30d
4.	Lease Agreement dd. 20.06.2011 № 165A/1-2011, tenant – NKO Rapida, landlord – VINITI RAN (with Addendum No.1 dd. 01.02.2012)	116,2	Moscow, Usievicha str., 20 block 2, office 1, rooms 15,16,16a, 16b, 125, 126, 126b, 127-130, 130a, 131, 131a, 132, 133, 134, 135a, 135b, 135c
5.	Lease Agreement dd. 08.10.2012 No. 179A/1-2012, tenant – NKO Rapida, landlord – VINITI RAN	58,6	Moscow, Usievicha str., 20 block 2, office 1, rooms 17, 18, 124
6.	Lease Agreement dd. 08.10.2012 No. 180A/1-2012, tenant – NKO Rapida, landlord – VINITI RAN	49,2	Moscow, Usievicha str., 20 block 2, office 1, rooms 65, 66
7.	Lease Agreement dd. 08.04.2011 No. 44A/1-2011, tenant – Processing Center Rapida, landlord – VINITI RAN (with Addendum No.1 dd. 01.02.2012, Addendum dd. 10.06.2013 to Agreement No.71Д/3-2011 dd. 08.04.2011 for refund of utility and maintenance expenses, tenant – Processing Center Rapida, landlord – VINITI RAN	45,1	Moscow, Usievicha str., 20 block 2
8.	Lease Agreement dd. 01.03.2015 No.01/03-15, tenant – CIHRus LLC, landlord – Mr. Y.B. Bagirov	8,9	Moscow, Aviamotornaya str., 11 block 1, office 1, room 2a
9.	Lease Agreement dd. 01.11.2014 No.1, tenant – Gikor LLC, landlord – Kaskol Group LLC	4	Moscow, Barrikadnaya str., 8 block 5A, office 11
10.	Lease Agreement dd. 01.11.2014 No.2, tenant – Attenium LLC, landlord – Kaskol Group LLC	4	Moscow, Barrikadnaya str., 8 block 5A, office 11
11.	Lease Agreement dd. 01.11.2014 No.3, tenant – Processing Center Rapida, landlord – Kaskol Group LLC	24,6	Moscow, Barrikadnaya str., 8 block 5A, office 11
		50	

SCHEDULE 8

ЕМРLOYEES Список сотрудников ООО НКО "Рапида"

	список сотрудников ООО нКО "Рапида"	
	ФИО	Должность
1	Абрамейцев Алексей Юрьевич	Первый Заместитель Председателя Правления
2	Абрамян Елена Гургеновна,	Ведущий менеджер
3	Агафонов Николай Александрович	Начальник отдела
4	Агафонова Ольга Владимировна	Менеджер по продуктам
5	Адамович Алеся Витальевна	Ведущий экономист
6	Акимова Елена Владимировна	Бухгалтер-операционист
7	Аксаков Генрих Генрихович	Водитель
8	Алания Елена Николаевна	Начальник отдела
9	Андреева Наталья Сергеевна	Советник Председателя Правления по внутреннему аудиту и контролю
10	Антонов Александр Владимирович	Главный специалист
11	Баранникова Ирина Александровна	Бухгалтер-операционист
12	Баронова Ольга Олеговна	Ведущий специалист
13	Батова Наталья Александровна	Менеджер по сопровождению
14	Бауэр Георгий Маратович	Курьер
15	Белоусов Владимир Георгиевич	Советник Председателя Правления
16	Беспалова Евгения Вячеславовна,	Старший менеджер
17	Бессонов Александр Сергеевич	Главный специалист
18	Болотцева Татьяна Павловна	Бухгалтер-операционист
19	Болтенкова Наталья Ивановна	Заведующий кассой
20	Боровкова Светлана Сергеевна	Главный специалист
21	Бохан Оксана Васильевна	Ведущий менеджер
22	Буковская Ксения Константиновна	Технолог
23	Быкова Татьяна Сергеевна	Бренд - менеджер
24	Вартанова Елена Львовна,	Экономист
25	Васильчиков Михаил Иванович	Менеджер по работе с агентами
26	Винокурова Наталья Евгеньевна	Уборщица
27	Волкова Ирина Александровна	Ведущий экономист
28	Воронина Анастасия Сергеевна	Делопроизводитель
29	Воскобойников Юрий Александрович	Главный специалист
30	Гафарова Елена Игоревна	Вице - Президент - Начальник управления
31	Гнилякевич Владимир Михайлович	Начальник отдела
32	Голова Лариса Николаевна	Заместитель начальника управления
33	Гришин Олег Александрович	Председатель Правления
34	Гудошников Давид Викторович	Ведущий специалист
35	Гудыма Леонид Владимирович	Начальник отдела

36	Даниелян Елена Григорньевна	Менеджер
37	Денисов Сергей Михайлович	Менеджер по работе с агентами
38	Джабаров Александр Тофикович	Начальник отдела
39	Добрунова Ирина Андреевна	Старший менеджер
40	Доровских Мария Олеговна	Руководитель группы
41	Дяшкина Елена Геннадьевна	Менеджер
42	Евдокимова Ольга Александровна	Начальник отдела
43	Елизарова Марина Юрьевана	Менеджер
44	Епишева Наталья Юрьевна	Заместитель начальника управления
45	Ефремов Игорь Александрович	Вице - Президент - Начальник управления
46	Ефремов Сергей Игоревич	Начальник отдела
47	Жабина Татьяна Николаевна	Ведущий экономист
48	Жарков Виталий Евгеньевич	Администратор баз данных
49	Жидкова Инна Игоревна	Руководитель группы
50	Жирова Ирина Александровна,	Главный экономист
51	Жуменко Евгения Сергеевна	Начальник отдела
52	Журжалин Олег Алексеевич	Начальник управления
53	Заборина Наталья Сергеевна	Специалист
54	Зайцев Сергей Александрович	Ведущий специалист
55	Зенин Алексей Александрович	Руководитель проектов
56	Золотова Александра Евгеньевна,	Системный аналитик
57	Ибрагимова Вамида Ибрагимовна	Старший менеджер
58	Иванова Ирина Николаевна	Заместитель начальника отдела
59	Казакевич Екатерина Викторовна,	Старший менеджер
60	Калинин Дмитрий Леонидович,	Старший менеджер
61	Карапетьян Роксана Вячеславовна	Главный менеджер
62	Карапетьян Тамара Вячеславовна	Бухгалтер-операционист
63	Караченцева Анна Александровна	Заместитель главного бухгалтера
64	Каширский Артем Владимирович	Технический директор-начальник управления
65	Килимник Маргарита Петровна	Старший экономист
66	Кирхеснер Владимир Александрович	Системный архитектор
67	Кирьянов Роман Александрович,	Системный аналитик
68	Климушкина Оксана Александровна	Директор департамента
69	Клычников Михаил Михайлович	Начальник отдела
70	Козин Алексей Александрович	Главный специалист
71	Козлов Максим Александрович	Начальник отдела
72		Заместитель Председателя Правления
	Козлов Роман Владимирович,	Survey and the state of the sta
73	Козлов Роман Владимирович, Колетвинова Анна Анатольевна	Руководитель направления поддержки АБС
73		

76	Колодкина (Захарова) Любовь Александровна	Старший менеджер
77	Колпакова Оксана Валерьевна	Главный менеджер
78	Кондрашкина Екатерина Анатольевна,	Специалист по работе с юридическими лицами
79	Коноваленко Луиза Равильевна	Заведующий канцелярией
80	Кореневский Максим Владимирович	Начальник отдела
81	Корешков Андрей Андреевич	Начальник отдела
82	Корнеев Алексей Владимирович	Руководитель проекта
83	Королева Татьяна Владимировна,	Бухгалтер-операционист
84	Коршунова Наталья Дмитриевна	Начальник отдела
85	Кочегура Ольга Валерьевна	Начальник отдела
86	Крыжановская Ольга Константиновна	Начальник отдела
87	Кузнецов Вадим Александрович	Советник Председателя Правления
88	Кузнецов Владимир Владимирович,	Заместитель Председателя Правления
89	Кузьменко Юрий Петрович	Начальник отдела
90	Кулак Юлия Дмитриевна	Заместитель начальника управления
91	Кунин Владимир Игоревич	Начальник отдела
92	Кураксина Ирина Викторовна	Менеджер
93	Курганова Оксана Анатольевна	Начальник отдела
94	Курсенко Елена Андреевна	Экономист
95	Куцый Сергей Сергеевич	Проектный менеджер
96	Ланглебен Дмитрий Юрьевич	Старший дизайнер
97	Ланина Ирина Валерьевна	Директор департамента
98	Лапшин Михаил Анатольевич	Начальник отдела
99	Лапшин Сергей Николаевич	Начальник отдела
100	Ларченкова Ирина Владимировна	Ведущий менеджер
101	Лебедев Евгений Вячеславович	Директор по стратегическому маркетингу
102	Левина Наталья Евгеньевна	Главный бухгалтер
103	Литовченко Андрей Анатольевич	Начальник управления
104	Лончук Вячеслав Петрович	Начальник отдела
105	Лубянская Юлия Валерьевна,	Заместитель начальника отдела
106	Лутай Екатерина Александровна	Ведущий экономист
107	Макарова Мария Викторовна	Главный менеджер
108	Малеваная Татьяна Романовна	Младший бренд - менеджер
109	Мальгина Ольга Вениаминовна	Менеджер
110	Мальцев Сергей Юрьевич	Начальник отдела
111	Мареева Татьяна Викторовна	Начальник управления
112	Маркова Мария Вадимовна	Главный экономист
113	Мартынов Олег Викторович	Руководитель центра
114	Медведева Ирина Викторовна	Начальник отдела
	Мельников Владимир Анатольевич	Ведущий аналитик

116	Мерзликина Татьяна Николаевна, Худов Сергей Вячеславович	Менеджер
117	Мещеряков Дмитрий Валерьевич	Начальник отдела
118	Милехина (Скоблова) Елена Григорьевна	Старший менеджер
119	Миловидов Константин Дмитриевич	Главный менеджер
120	Минаева Ирина Николаевна	Руководитель центра - Заместитель начальника управления
121	Младковская Татьяна Анатольевна	Руководитель службы
122	Монастырских Марина Сергеевна	Ведущий специалист
123	Мурник Сергей Николаевич,	Оперативный дежурный
124	Нагаева Лилия Ильдаровна	Ведущий специалист
125	Назарова Елена Сергеевна	Менеджер
126	Нестеров Сергей Валерьевич	Директор департамента
127	Новоселова Светлана Владимировна	Начальник отдела
128	Носикова Дарья Сергеевна	Старший менеджер
129	Нуднов Валентин Юрьевич	Начальник отдела
130	Ободзинская Ангелина Викторовна	Главный экономист по отчетности
131	Овсянникова Эльмира Садековна	Руководитель группы
132	Огнев Алексей Вячеславович	Заместитель начальника управления
133	Пакетов Александр Александрович,	Менеджер
134	Пакетов Александр Иванович,	Оперативный дежурный
135	Пастухов Виталий Игоревич	Главный менеджер по работе с агентами
136	Пахоль Наталья Сергеевна	Аналитик
137	Петрушкова Ольга Евгеньевна	Руководитель группы
138	Пискунов Андрей Юрьевич	Заместитель начальника управления
139	Пищало Людмила Андреевна	Старший менеджер
140	Погодаев Андрей Владимирович,	Заместитель Председателя Правления
141	Полунина Елена Адольфовна	Технолог
142	Потапов Андрей Геннадиевич	Руководитель проекта
143	Потапова Людмила Станиславовна	Бухгалтер-операционист
144	Потапова Наталия Викторовна	Главный менеджер по работе с агентами
145	Пронина Александра Александровна	Заместитель директора департамента - Начальник отдела рекламы
146	Разумовская Мария Олеговна	Руководитель службы
147	Рогачев Илья Олегович,	Старший менеджер
148	Ромянц Елена Артюшевна	Руководитель проектов
149	Руссов Геннадий Вадимович	Руководитель службы
150	Рябченко Кристина Александровна	Заместитель руководителя группы
151	Савельев Алексей Вячеславович	Водитель
152	Салиенко Растислав Янович	Главный менеджер
153	Светикова Ирина Николаевна,	Бухгалтер-операционист

154	Свидетелева Елена Александровна	Ведуший специалист
155	Семенцова Елена Николаевна	Заместитель начальника управления
156	Семкина Елена Ксенофонтовна	Уборщица
157	Синицын Евгений Евгеньевич	Курьер
158	Скундин Дмитрий Леонидович	Директор департамента
159	Смирнов Андрей Евгеньевич	Заместитель начальника управления
160	Соловьев Павел Валерьевич	Главный менеджер
161	Спиридонов Владимир Владимирович	Менеджер по работе с агентами
162	Сулиманова Елена Анатольевна	Руководитель проектов
163	Сухопаров Александр Сергеевич	Начальник отдела
164	Талибов Рэнат Керимович	Ведущий менеджер по сопровождению
165	Терлецкий Арсений Васильевич	Дизайнер
166	Трабо Ирина Сергеевна	Начальник отдела
167	Трусова Мария Сергеевна	Главный менеджер по продажам
168	Тюнев Игорь Дмитриевич	Начальник отдела
169	Устюжанин Александр Анатольевич	Старший менеджер
170	Усяев Александр Сергеевич	Ведущий менеджер
171	Уткина Татьяна Анатольевна	Начальник управления
172	Ушаков Роман Александрович	Начальник отдела
173	Ушакова Марина Андреевна	Юрисконсульт
174	Ушничкова Алла Германовна	Ведущий экономист
175	Филипенков Владимир Николаевич	Заместитель директора департамента
176	Филиппович Павел Владимирович	Руководитель проекта
177	Финагина Елена Михайловна	Главный менеджер по работе с банками
178	Фролова Светлана Валентиновна	Вице - Президент - Начальник управления
179	Харо Дмитрий Олегович	Главный специалист
180	Холмогорова Анастасия Владимировна	Начальник управления
181	Хомич Кирилл Владимирович,	Старший менеджер
182	Хорлуштай Елена Александровна	Руководитель группы
183	Хребтов Михаил Евгеньевич	Технологический руководитель проекта
184	Худиева Инна Николаевна	Начальник управления
185	Худова Наталья Вячеславовна	Ведущий бухгалтер
186	Цой Татьяна Борисовна	Главный менеджер по работе с агентами
187	Чаклина Мария Сергеевна,	Главный менеджер
188	Черепанов Александр Ливерьевич	Водитель
189	Чижова Елена Федоровна	Начальник отдела
190	Чувашин Роман Евгеньевич	Руководитель проектов
191	Чумакова Лариса Николаевна	Специалист по работе с юридическими лицами
192	Шабанов Дмитрий Евгеньевич	Системный аналитик
	шабанов дзиприи свісивськи	Chereshibin unumining

194	Шарапов Рамиль Евгеньевич	Главный специалист по анализу финансовых институтов
195	Шатунова Мария Александровна	Заместитель начальника отдела
196	Шейко Оксана Станиславовна	Начальник управления
197	Шенгелия Екатерина Афтондиловна	Начальник отдела
198	Шендяпина Ольга Игоревна	Начальник отдела
199	Шибенкова Любовь Вячеславовна	Заместитель начальника отдела
200	Широкорад Татьяна Владимировна	Бухгалтер-операционист
201	Шишова Анастасия Вячеславовна	Ведущий специалист
202	Шматкова Людмила Александровна	Начальник отдела
203	Шохин Денис Игоревич	Менеджер по торговому маркетингу
204	Юсипова Хасяня Хасяновна	Специалист
205	Яковлева Маргарита Яковлевна	Менеджер

Список сотрудников Процессинговый Центр "Рапида"

	Ф.И.О.	Должность
1	Аверьянова Марина Евгеньевна	Старший инженер
2	Акимов Сергей Александрович	Главный администратор
3	Аношкин Алексей Николаевич	Дежурный инженер
4	Астафурова Марина Александровна	Специалист
5	Афросина Кристина Александровна	Начальник смены
6	Бабушина Елена Николаевна	Старший программист
7	Базанов Сергей Иванович	Администратор баз данных
8	Белов Василий Андреевич	Программист
9	Бережной Александр Сергеевич	Руководитель группы
10	Бойко Светлана Евгеньевна	Руководитель группы
11	Болтенкова Елена Викторовна	Бухгалтер
12	Бондарь Валентин Александрович	Начальник отдела
13	Вавина Александра Владимировна,	Специалист
14	Валенюк Алексей Алексеевич	Системный администратор
15	Великая Марина Петровна,	Специалист
16	Волков Александр Николаевич	Инженер
17	Гринькин Максим Андреевич	Специалист
18	Гришина(Овчеренко) Екатерина Владимировна	Специалист
19	Дибров Александр Александрович	Генеральный директор
20	Ермолаев Николай Сергеевич	Начальник отдела
21	Журавлева Юлия Юрьевна	Начальник отдела
22	Игнатов Дмитрий Евгеньевич	Старший программист
23	Калугин Алексей Сергеевич	Ведущий программист
24	Кашевский Вячеслав Олегович	Заместитель генерального директора
25	Каширин Игорь Валентинович	Дежурный инженер
26	Кириленко Маргарита Юрьевна	Руководитель группы
27	Кудряшов Тимофей Михайлович	Старший инженер

28	Кукурузов Александр Владимирович	Программист
29	Кухтенков Владимир Игоревич	Начальник отдела
30	Лозюк Татьяна Николаевна	Специалист
31	Локтеев Вячеслав Михайлович	Старший инженер
32	Луковкин Павел Александрович	Старший инженер
33	Мизинов Сергей Викторович	Дежурный инженер
34	Михайлова Ирина Владимировна	Начальник смены
35	Некрасов Александр Павлович	Руководитель группы
36	Павлова Елена Николаевна	Программист
37	Пакуляк Вячеслав Анатольевич	Системный администратор
38	Панкратов Роман Петрович	Программист
39	Панфилова Елена Матвеевна,	Начальник смены
40	Паськова Ксения Владимировна,	Специалист
41	Пряников Михаил Иванович	Ведущий программист
42	Салаш Ирина Петровна	Инженер
43	Салтыкова Оксана Владимировна	Старший инженер
44	Семенцова (Лопанова) Елена Николаевна (совместитель)	Специалист по кадрам
45	Сорокин Владимир Владимирович	Заместитель генерального директора
46	Соснов Александр Сергеевич	Ведущий администратор
47	Сосновый Николай Николаевич	Старший программист
48	Стругова Инна Юрьевна	Специалист
49	Тростников Александр Юрьевич	Старший программист
50	Федулова Екатерина Николаевна,	Специалист
51	Фетининский Александр Николаевич	Начальник отдела
52	Холмогорова Анастасия Владимировна (совместитель)	Специалист по кадрам
53	Хохлов Георгий Евгеньевич	Начальник управления
54	Хромова Дарья Андреевна	Старший инженер
55	Чернов Иван Сергеевич	Старший инженер
56	Шаманина Ольга Васильевна	Главный бухгалтер
57	Шаренков Максим Николаевич	Старший программист
58	Шаренков Максим Николаевич (совместитель)	Ведущий администратор
59	Шелест Виктор Олегович	Дежурный инженер
	Список сотрудников "СиАй	ЭйчРус"
	Ф.И.О.	Должность
1	Абрамейцев Алексей Юрьевич	Генеральный директор
2	Бирюкова Ирина Евгеньевна	Финансовый директор
3	Митюшина Марина Викторовна Сердюков Владимир Викторович	Главный бухгалтер Начальник управления

Список сотрудников ООО «Аттениум»

	Ф.И.О.	Должность
1	Шаманина Ольга Васильевна	Генеральный директор

Список сотрудников ООО Гикор

	Ф.И.О.	Должность
1	Сорокин Владимир Владимирович	Генеральный директор

SCHEDULE 9

FORM OF THE TRANSFER AGREEMENT 1

ФОРМА ДОГОВОРА ПЕРЕДАЧИ ДОЛИ В УСТАВНОМ КАПИТАЛЕ ОБЩЕСТВА С ОГРАНИЧЕННОЙ ОТВЕТСТВЕННОСТЬЮ «СиАйЭйчРус»

Город Москва, [•] две тысячи пятнадцатого года.

Настоящий договор передачи доли в уставном капитале Общества с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус» («Договор») заключен между:

Компанией Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед, юридическим лицом, учрежденным и действующим по законодательству Республики Кипр, зарегистрированным [●] г. Министерством Торговли, Промышленности и Туризма, Управлением Регистратора Компаний и Официального Ликвидатора за регистрационным номером НЕ 301373, с местом нахождения по адресу: Ангелу Влаху 4А, а/я 6052, Ларнака, Кипр («Сторона-1»), в лице [●], действующего на основании доверенности от [●] года, апостиль № [●], проставлен [●] года в г. Никосия; и

Компанией КИВИ ПиЭлСи, юридическим лицом, учрежденным и действующим по законодательству Республики Кипр, зарегистрированным 26 февраля 2007 г. Министерством Торговли, Промышленности и Туризма, Управлением Регистратора Компаний и Официального Ликвидатора за регистрационным номером НЕ 193010, с местом нахождения по адресу: Кеннеди 12, Бизнес Центр Кеннеди, 2-й этаж, а/я 1087, Никосия, Кипр («Сторона-2»), в лице [●], действующего на основании доверенности от [●] года, апостиль № [●], проставлен [●] года в г. Никосия; и

далее также совместно именуемыми "Стороны", а по отдельности "Сторона".

ПРЕАМБУЛА

поскольку:

(A) Сторона-1 является законным собственником Доли (как это определено ниже);

(Б) Сторона-2 планирует произвести дополнительную эмиссию 3 915 129 (Три миллиона девятьсот пятнадцать тысяч сто двадцать девять) Акций (как это определено ниже) в пользу Стороны-1 за счет внесения Стороной-1 имущественного вклада в виде Доли в акционерный капитал Стороны-2;

(В) Стоимость Доли составляет [●] рублей, что подтверждается отчетом независимого оценщика [●] от [●] 2015 года.

Стороны договорились о нижеследующем:

1. ОПРЕДЕЛЕНИЯ И ТОЛКОВАНИЕ

1.1 Использованные в настоящем Договоре, включая его Преамбулу, следующие определения, имеют значения указанные в Договоре, если из его контекста не вытекает иное:

"Акции" означает обыкновенные именные акции класса Б в акционерном капитале Стотона-2 номинальной стоимостью 0,0005 Евро каждая, предоставляющих 1 (Один) голос на 1 (Одну) акцию на собрании акционеров Сторона-2;

"Закон об ООО" означает Федеральный закон «Об обществах с ограниченной ответственностью» № 14-ФЗ от 8 февраля 1998 года, в редакции Федерального закона № 409-ФЗ от «01» июля 2014 года;

"Общество" означает общество с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус», юридическое лицо по законодательству Российской Федерации, зарегистрированное Межрайонной инспекцией Федеральной налоговой службы №46 по г. Москве «29» марта 2012 года за основным государственным регистрационным номером 1127746224792, ИНН 7722772200, КПП 772201001, с местом нахождения по адресу: Российская Федерация, 111020, Москва, ул. Авиамоторная, д.11, стр. 1;

"Обременение" означает залог, арест, удержание, применение каким-либо судом обеспечительных мер, а также любое иное ограничение прав по владению, пользованию и распоряжению Долей, предусмотренное российским или иным применимым законодательством;

"Доля" означает долю Стороны-1 в уставном капитале Общества в размере 70% (семьдесят процентов) уставного капитала Общества, номинальной стоимостью 287 000 (Двести восемьдесят семь тысяч) рублей;

2. ПРЕДМЕТ ДОГОВОРА

- 2.1 Сторона-1 настоящим передает в собственность Стороны-2 Долю, а Сторона-2 принимает эту Долю в качестве имущественного вклада в акционерный капитал Стороны-2 и оплаты дополнительной эмиссии Акций Стороны-2.
- 2.2 В обмен на внесение имущественного вклада Стороной-1 в акционерный капитал Стороны-2, Сторона-2 осуществляет дополнительную эмиссию 3 915 129 (Три миллиона девятьсот пятнадцать тысяч сто двадцать девять) Акций, выпускаемых в пользу Стороны-1.
- 2.3 В результате увеличения акционерного капитала Стороны-2 за счет имущественного вклада Стороны-1, размер доли Стороны-1 в акционерном капитале Стороны-2 составит 3 915 129 (Три миллиона девятьсот пятнадцать тысяч сто двадцать девять) Акций, что эквивалентно 6,7% (Шесть целых семь десятых процента) выпущенного акционерного капитала Стороны-2 на дату настоящего Договора, и предоставляет 3 915 129 (Три миллиона девятьсот пятнадцать тысяч сто двадцать девять) голосов на общем собрании акционеров Стороны-2, что эквивалентно 1,75% (Одна целая семьдесят пять сотых процента) от общего количества голосов акционеров Стороны-2 на дату настоящего Договора.

3. ПЕРЕХОД ПРАВ НА ДОЛЮ

3.1 Доля переходит к Стороне-2 с момента нотариального удостоверения настоящего Договора.

- 3.2 Обязанность Стороны-1 по передаче Доли Стороне-2 и обязанность Стороны-2 по принятию Доли считаются исполненными с момента нотариального удостоверения настоящего Договора.
- 3.3 Нотариусом разъяснено Стороне-1, что, в соответствии с пунктом 7 статьи 93 Гражданского Кодекса Российской Федерации, переход доли участника общества с ограниченной ответственностью к другому лицу влечет за собой прекращение его участия в обществе.
- 3.4 В соответствии с пунктом 14 статьи 21 Закона об ООО, на нотариуса, совершающего действие по нотариальному удостоверению настоящего договора, возлагается обязанность по совершению нотариальных действий по передаче в уполномоченный орган, осуществляющий государственную регистрацию юридических лиц, всех необходимых документов для внесения соответствующих изменений в Единый Государственный Реестр Юридических Лиц.

4. ЗАВЕРЕНИЯ И ГАРАНТИИ

- 4.1 Настоящим Сторона-1 предоставляет Стороне-2 следующие Заверения и Гарантии:
- 4.1.1. Доля принадлежит Стороне-2 на праве собственности на основании Договора купли-продажи части доли в уставном капитале от «30» июня 2014 года, заключенного между компанией «Контакт Интернешнл Холдинг АГ» и компанией «Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед», что подтверждается выпиской из Единого государственного реестра юридических лиц №[●] от [●];
- 4.1.1 Общество надлежащим образом учреждено, зарегистрировано и существует как юридическое лицо в соответствии с требованиями законодательства Российской Федерации и не находится в состоянии банкротства, реорганизации или ликвидации;
- 4.1.2 Сторона-1 имеет все разрешения, согласования и иные документы, необходимые для заключения и надлежащего исполнения Договора, включая все необходимые согласования и разрешения со стороны органов управления Стороны-1;
- 4.1.3 Доля оплачена полностью и свободна от каких-либо Обременений, что подтверждается выпиской из Списка участников Общества №[●] от [●] и справкой Общества №[●] от [●];
- 4.1.4 Сторона-1 полностью соблюла порядок уведомления Общества и других участников Общества о намерении передать Стороне-2 принадлежащую ей Долю, что от других участников Общества и самого Общества получены отказы от использования преимущественного права приобретения Доли или части Доли пропорционально и непропорционально размеру Доли;
- 4.1.5 Сторона-1 предупреждена нотариусом о необходимости подписания ей заявления о внесении соответствующих изменений в Единый государственный реестр юридических лиц в соответствии с Федеральным законом «О государственной регистрации юридических лиц и индивидуальных предпринимателей» № 129-ФЗ от «08» августа 2001 года.

- 4.2 Настоящим Сторона-2 предоставляет Стороне-1 следующие Заверения и Гарантии:
- 4.2.1 Сторона-2 имеет все одобрения, разрешения и согласования государственных органов Российской Федерации, а также иные документы, необходимые для заключения и надлежащего исполнения Договора, включая все необходимые согласования и разрешения со стороны органов управления Стороны-2;
- 4.3 Стороны гарантируют, что никакие нормы права страны, где учреждены Стороны – Республика Кипр, в том числе императивные нормы, не препятствуют и не накладывают ограничения на совершение настоящего Договора, а также не делают его недействительным.
- 4.4 Стороны признают и подтверждают, что выдача каждой Стороной соответствующих Заверений и Гарантий другой Стороне является существенным условием Договора, и что Стороны заключили Договор, полагаясь на полноту, точность и достоверность всех Заверений и Гарантий без исключения.

5. ПРИМЕНИМОЕ ПРАВО И РАЗРЕШЕНИЕ СПОРОВ

- 5.1 Настоящий Договор регулируется и толкуется в соответствии с нормами права Российской Федерации.
- 5.2 Все споры, разногласия или требования, возникающие из настоящего Договора или в связи с ним, в том числе касающиеся его исполнения, нарушения, прекращения или недействительности, подлежат разрешению в Арбитражном суде города Москвы.

6. ИЗМЕНЕНИЯ И ДОПОЛНЕНИЯ

Все изменения и дополнения к настоящему Договору оформляются в письменном виде, подписываются Сторонами и/или их представителями и подлежат нотариальному удостоверению.

7. УСТУПКА ПРАВ И ОБЯЗАТЕЛЬСТВ ПО ДОГОВОРУ

Если иное не будет прямо согласовано Сторонами в письменной форме, Стороны не имеют права на уступку всех или любых своих прав либо передачу каких-либо из своих обязательств по настоящему Договору.

8. ЗАКЛЮЧИТЕЛЬНЫЕ ПОЛОЖЕНИЯ

- 8.1 Настоящий Договор вступает в силу с момента его нотариального удостоверения и действует до даты полного выполнения Сторонами своих обязательств, вытекающих из Договора.
- 8.2 Нотариусом было разъяснено Сторонам содержание статей 10 (Пределы осуществления гражданских прав), 87 (Основные положения об обществе с ограниченной ответственностью), 93 (Переход доли в уставном капитале общества с ограниченной ответственностью), 160 (Письменная форма сделки), 163 (Нотариально удостоверенные сделки), 165 (Последствия несоблюдения нотариальной формы сделки и требований о его регистрации), 167 (Общие положения о последствиях недействительности сделки) и 488 (Оплата товара, проданного в кредит) Гражданского кодекса Российской Федерации, статей 6, 8,

9, 14, 21 и 46 Закона об ООО и статей 28, 30 Федерального закона «О защите конкуренции» №135-ФЗ от «26» июля 2006 года.

- 8.3 Стороны пришли к соглашению о том, что обязанность по передаче Обществу документов, предусмотренных пунктом 15 статьи 21 Закона об ООО возлагается на Сторону-2. Сторона-2 обязано уведомить Общество в письменной форме о приобретении Доли по настоящему Договору не позднее трех дней с момента нотариального удостоверения настоящего Договора.
- 8.4 Компания предупреждена о необходимости подписания уполномоченным лицом Компании заявления о внесении изменений в Единый государственный реестр юридических лиц в соответствии с Федеральным законом «О государственной регистрации юридических лиц и индивидуальных предпринимателей» № 129-ФЗ от «08» августа 2001 года.
- 8.5 Расходы по удостоверению настоящего Договора, а также по свидетельствованию подлинности подписи на заявлении о внесении изменений в Единый государственный реестр юридических лиц, передаче заявления в налоговый орган, передаче документов Обществу, Стороны несут в равных долях.
- 8.6 Стороны настоящего Договора подтверждают в присутствии нотариуса, что содержание настоящего Договора перед его подписанием прочитано им нотариусом вслух; также Сторонам полностью понятны условия настоящей сделки; и подписывая настоящий договор представители Сторон гарантируют, что не страдают заболеваниями, препятствующими осознавать суть подписываемого Договора и обстоятельства его заключения; что у них отсутствуют обстоятельства, вынуждающие их заключить настоящий договор на крайне невыгодных для Сторон условиях, Договор не заключается под влиянием стечения крайне неблагоприятных для Сторон обстоятельств; условия настоящей сделки не является для её Сторон кабальными.
- 8.7 Настоящий Договор подписан в 3 (Трёх) оригинальных экземплярах на русском языке: один экземпляр договора хранится в делах нотариуса г. Москвы Федорченко Александра Вячеславовича, удостоверившего договор, по адресу: Российская Федерация, 107031, город Москва, улица Большая Дмитровка, дом 32, строение 4, один экземпляр выдается Стороне-1, один экземпляр – Стороне-2.

9. АДРЕСА И РЕКВИЗИТЫ СТОРОН

Сторона-1: Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед Адрес: Ангелу Влаху 4А, а/я 6052, Ларнака, Кипр

Сторона-2: КИВИ ПиЭлСи Адрес: Кеннеди 12, Бизнес Центр Кеннеди, а/я 1087, Никосия, Кипр.

В ПОДТВЕРЖДЕНИЕ ЧЕГО, Стороны подписали настоящий Договор.

от имени компании Открытие Инвестментс Сайпрус Лимитед

Имя: [•] Должность: [•], действует на основании [•]

от имени компании КИВИ ПиЭлСи

Имя: [●] Должность: действует на основании [●]

Город Москва, Российская Федерация. ______ две тысячи пятнадцатого года.

Настоящий договор удостоверен мной, Федорченко Александром Вячеславовичем, нотариусом города Москвы.

Договор подписан в моем присутствии. Личность подписавших договор установлена, их дееспособность, а также полномочия представителей и принадлежность компании Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед отчуждаемой доли в уставном капитале общества с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус» проверены.

Зарегистрировано в реестре за №____

Взыскано по тарифу: _____ руб. (с учетом прав. и тех.работы).

SCHEDULE 10

FORM OF THE TRANSFER AGREEMENT 2

ФОРМА ДОГОВОРА ПЕРЕДАЧИ ДОЛИ В УСТАВНОМ КАПИТАЛЕ ОБЩЕСТВА С ОГРАНИЧЕННОЙ ОТВЕТСТВЕННОСТЬЮ «СиАйЭйчРус»

Город Москва, [•] две тысячи пятнадцатого года.

Настоящий договор передачи доли в уставном капитале Общества с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус» («Договор») заключен между:

Компанией Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед, юридическим лицом, учрежденным и действующим по законодательству Республики Кипр, зарегистрированным [●] г. Министерством Торговли, Промышленности и Туризма, Управлением Регистратора Компаний и Официального Ликвидатора за регистрационным номером НЕ 301373, с местом нахождения по адресу: Ангелу Влаху 4А, а/я 6052, Ларнака, Кипр («Сторона-1»), в лице [●], действующего на основании доверенности от [●] года, апостиль № [●], проставлен [●] года в г. Никосия; и

Компанией КИВИ ПиЭлСи, юридическим лицом, учрежденным и действующим по законодательству Республики Кипр, зарегистрированным 26 февраля 2007 г. Министерством Торговли, Промышленности и Туризма, Управлением Регистратора Компаний и Официального Ликвидатора за регистрационным номером НЕ 193010, с местом нахождения по адресу: Кеннеди 12, Бизнес Центр Кеннеди, 2-й этаж, а/я 1087, Никосия, Кипр («Сторона-2»), в лице [●], действующего на основании доверенности от [●] года, апостиль № [●], проставлен [●] года в г. Никосия; и

далее также совместно именуемыми "Стороны", а по отдельности "Сторона".

ПРЕАМБУЛА

поскольку:

(A) Сторона-1 является законным собственником Доли (как это определено ниже);

(Б) Сторона-2 планирует произвести дополнительную эмиссию 1 677 912 (Один миллион шестьсот семьдесят семь тысяч девятьсот двенадцать) Акций (как это определено ниже) в пользу Стороны-1 за счет внесения Стороной-1 имущественного вклада в виде Доли в акционерный капитал Стороны-2;

(В) Стоимость Доли составляет [●] рублей, что подтверждается отчетом независимого оценщика [●] от [●] 2015 года.

Стороны договорились о нижеследующем:

1. ОПРЕДЕЛЕНИЯ И ТОЛКОВАНИЕ

1.1 Использованные в настоящем Договоре, включая его Преамбулу, следующие определения, имеют значения указанные в Договоре, если из его контекста не вытекает иное:

"Акции" означает обыкновенные именные акции класса Б в акционерном капитале Стотона-2 номинальной стоимостью 0,0005 Евро каждая, предоставляющих 1 (Один) голос на 1 (Одну) акцию на собрании акционеров Сторона-2;

"Закон об ООО" означает Федеральный закон «Об обществах с ограниченной ответственностью» № 14-ФЗ от 8 февраля 1998 года, в редакции Федерального закона № 409-ФЗ от «01» июля 2014 года;

"Общество" означает общество с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус», юридическое лицо по законодательству Российской Федерации, зарегистрированное Межрайонной инспекцией Федеральной налоговой службы №46 по г. Москве «29» марта 2012 года за основным государственным регистрационным номером 1127746224792, ИНН 7722772200, КПП 772201001, с местом нахождения по адресу: Российская Федерация, 111020, Москва, ул. Авиамоторная, д.11, стр. 1;

"Обременение" означает залог, арест, удержание, применение каким-либо судом обеспечительных мер, а также любое иное ограничение прав по владению, пользованию и распоряжению Долей, предусмотренное российским или иным применимым законодательством;

"Доля" означает долю Стороны-1 в уставном капитале Общества в размере 30% (семьдесят процентов) уставного капитала Общества, номинальной стоимостью 123 000 (Сто двадцать три тысячи) рублей.

2. ПРЕДМЕТ ДОГОВОРА

- 2.1 Сторона-1 настоящим передает в собственность Стороны-2 Долю, а Сторона-2 принимает эту Долю в качестве имущественного вклада в акционерный капитал Стороны-2 и оплаты дополнительной эмиссии Акций Стороны-2.
- 2.2 В обмен на внесение имущественного вклада Стороной-1 в акционерный капитал Стороны-2, Сторона-2 осуществляет дополнительную эмиссию 1 677 912 (Один миллион шестьсот семьдесят семь тысяч девятьсот двенадцать) Акций, выпускаемых в пользу Стороны-1.
- 2.3 В результате увеличения акционерного капитала Стороны-2 за счет имущественного вклада Стороны-1, размер доли Стороны-1 в акционерном капитале Стороны-2 составит 5 593 041 (Пять миллионов пятьсот девяносто три тысячи сорок одна) Акция, что эквивалентно [●]% ([●] процентов) выпущенного акционерного капитала Стороны-2 на дату настоящего Договора, и предоставляет 5 593 041 (Пять миллионов пятьсот девяносто три тысячи сорок одна) голосов на общем собрании акционеров Стороны-2, что эквивалентно [●]% ([●]) от общего количества голосов акционеров Стороны-2 на дату настоящего Договора.

3. ПЕРЕХОД ПРАВ НА ДОЛЮ

- 3.1 Доля переходит к Стороне-2 с момента нотариального удостоверения настоящего Договора.
- 3.2 Обязанность Стороны-1 по передаче Доли Стороне-2 и обязанность Стороны-2 по принятию Доли считаются исполненными с момента нотариального удостоверения настоящего Договора.

- 3.3 Нотариусом разъяснено Стороне-1, что, в соответствии с пунктом 7 статьи 93 Гражданского Кодекса Российской Федерации, переход доли участника общества с ограниченной ответственностью к другому лицу влечет за собой прекращение его участия в обществе.
- 3.4 В соответствии с пунктом 14 статьи 21 Закона об ООО, на нотариуса, совершающего действие по нотариальному удостоверению настоящего договора, возлагается обязанность по совершению нотариальных действий по передаче в уполномоченный орган, осуществляющий государственную регистрацию юридических лиц, всех необходимых документов для внесения соответствующих изменений в Единый Государственный Реестр Юридических Лиц.

4. ЗАВЕРЕНИЯ И ГАРАНТИИ

- 4.1 Настоящим Сторона-1 предоставляет Стороне-2 следующие Заверения и Гарантии:
- 4.1.2. Доля принадлежит Стороне-2 на праве собственности на основании Договора купли-продажи части доли в уставном капитале от [●] года, заключенного между Обществом с ограниченной ответственностью «Инвестактив» и компанией «Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед», что подтверждается выпиской из Единого государственного реестра юридических лиц №[●] от [●];
- 4.1.1 Общество надлежащим образом учреждено, зарегистрировано и существует как юридическое лицо в соответствии с требованиями законодательства Российской Федерации и не находится в состоянии банкротства, реорганизации или ликвидации;
- 4.1.2 Сторона-1 имеет все разрешения, согласования и иные документы, необходимые для заключения и надлежащего исполнения Договора, включая все необходимые согласования и разрешения со стороны органов управления Стороны-1;
- 4.1.3 Доля оплачена полностью и свободна от каких-либо Обременений, что подтверждается выпиской из Списка участников Общества №[●] от [●] и справкой Общества №[●] от [●];
- 4.1.4 Сторона-1 полностью соблюла порядок уведомления Общества и других участников Общества о намерении передать Стороне-2 принадлежащую ей Долю, что от других участников Общества и самого Общества получены отказы от использования преимущественного права приобретения Доли или части Доли пропорционально и непропорционально размеру Доли;
- 4.1.5 Сторона-1 предупреждена нотариусом о необходимости подписания ей заявления о внесении соответствующих изменений в Единый государственный реестр юридических лиц в соответствии с Федеральным законом «О государственной регистрации юридических лиц и индивидуальных предпринимателей» № 129-ФЗ от «08» августа 2001 года.
- 4.2 Настоящим Сторона-2 предоставляет Стороне-1 следующие Заверения и Гарантии:
- 4.2.1 Сторона-2 имеет все одобрения, разрешения и согласования государственных органов Российской Федерации, а также иные документы,

необходимые для заключения и надлежащего исполнения Договора, включая все необходимые согласования и разрешения со стороны органов управления Стороны-2.

- 4.3 Стороны гарантируют, что никакие нормы права страны, где учреждены Стороны – Республика Кипр, в том числе императивные нормы, не препятствуют и не накладывают ограничения на совершение настоящего Договора, а также не делают его недействительным.
- 4.4 Стороны признают и подтверждают, что выдача каждой Стороной соответствующих Заверений и Гарантий другой Стороне является существенным условием Договора, и что Стороны заключили Договор, полагаясь на полноту, точность и достоверность всех Заверений и Гарантий без исключения.

5. ПРИМЕНИМОЕ ПРАВО И РАЗРЕШЕНИЕ СПОРОВ

- 5.1 Настоящий Договор регулируется и толкуется в соответствии с нормами права Российской Федерации.
- 5.2 Все споры, разногласия или требования, возникающие из настоящего Договора или в связи с ним, в том числе касающиеся его исполнения, нарушения, прекращения или недействительности, подлежат разрешению в Арбитражном суде города Москвы.

6. ИЗМЕНЕНИЯ И ДОПОЛНЕНИЯ

Все изменения и дополнения к настоящему Договору оформляются в письменном виде, подписываются Сторонами и/или их представителями и подлежат нотариальному удостоверению.

7. УСТУПКА ПРАВ И ОБЯЗАТЕЛЬСТВ ПО ДОГОВОРУ

Если иное не будет прямо согласовано Сторонами в письменной форме, Стороны не имеют права на уступку всех или любых своих прав либо передачу каких-либо из своих обязательств по настоящему Договору.

8. ЗАКЛЮЧИТЕЛЬНЫЕ ПОЛОЖЕНИЯ

- 8.1 Настоящий Договор вступает в силу с момента его нотариального удостоверения и действует до даты полного выполнения Сторонами своих обязательств, вытекающих из Договора.
- 8.2 Нотариусом было разъяснено Сторонам содержание статей 10 (Пределы осуществления гражданских прав), 87 (Основные положения об обществе с ограниченной ответственностью), 93 (Переход доли в уставном капитале общества с ограниченной ответственностью), 160 (Письменная форма сделки), 163 (Нотариально удостоверенные сделки), 165 (Последствия несоблюдения нотариальной формы сделки и требований о его регистрации), 167 (Общие положения о последствиях недействительности сделки) и 488 (Оплата товара, проданного в кредит) Гражданского кодекса Российской Федерации, статей 6, 8, 9, 14, 21 и 46 Закона об ООО и статей 28, 30 Федерального закона «О защите конкуренции» №135-ФЗ от «26» июля 2006 года.
- 8.3 Стороны пришли к соглашению о том, что обязанность по передаче Обществу документов, предусмотренных пунктом 15 статьи 21 Закона об ООО возлагается

на Сторону-2. Сторона-2 обязано уведомить Общество в письменной форме о приобретении Доли по настоящему Договору не позднее трех дней с момента нотариального удостоверения настоящего Договора.

- 8.4 Компания предупреждена о необходимости подписания уполномоченным лицом Компании заявления о внесении изменений в Единый государственный реестр юридических лиц в соответствии с Федеральным законом «О государственной регистрации юридических лиц и индивидуальных предпринимателей» № 129-ФЗ от «08» августа 2001 года.
- 8.5 Расходы по удостоверению настоящего Договора, а также по свидетельствованию подлинности подписи на заявлении о внесении изменений в Единый государственный реестр юридических лиц, передаче заявления в налоговый орган, передаче документов Обществу, Стороны несут в равных долях.
- 8.6 Стороны настоящего Договора подтверждают в присутствии нотариуса, что содержание настоящего Договора перед его подписанием прочитано им нотариусом вслух; также Сторонам полностью понятны условия настоящей сделки; и подписывая настоящий договор представители Сторон гарантируют, что не страдают заболеваниями, препятствующими осознавать суть подписываемого Договора и обстоятельства его заключения; что у них отсутствуют обстоятельства, вынуждающие их заключить настоящий договор на крайне невыгодных для Сторон условиях, Договор не заключается под влиянием стечения крайне неблагоприятных для Сторон обстоятельств; условия настоящей сделки не является для её Сторон кабальными.
- 8.7 Настоящий Договор подписан в 3 (Трёх) оригинальных экземплярах на русском языке: один экземпляр договора хранится в делах нотариуса г. Москвы Федорченко Александра Вячеславовича, удостоверившего договор, по адресу: Российская Федерация, 107031, город Москва, улица Большая Дмитровка, дом 32, строение 4, один экземпляр выдается Стороне-1, один экземпляр – Стороне-2.

9. АДРЕСА И РЕКВИЗИТЫ СТОРОН

Сторона-1: Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед Адрес: Ангелу Влаху 4А, а/я 6052, Ларнака, Кипр

Сторона-2: КИВИ ПиЭлСи Адрес: Кеннеди 12, Бизнес Центр Кеннеди, а/я 1087, Никосия, Кипр.

В ПОДТВЕРЖДЕНИЕ ЧЕГО, Стороны подписали настоящий Договор.

от имени компании Открытие Инвестментс Сайпрус Лимитед

Имя: [•] Должность: [•], действует на основании [•]

от имени компании КИВИ ПиЭлСи Имя: [•] Должность: действует на основании [•]

Город Москва, Российская Федерация. две тысячи пятнадцатого года.

Настоящий договор удостоверен мной, Федорченко Александром Вячеславовичем, нотариусом города Москвы.

Договор подписан в моем присутствии. Личность подписавших договор установлена, их дееспособность, а также полномочия представителей и принадлежность компании Открытие Инвестментс Кипр Лимитед отчуждаемой доли в уставном капитале общества с ограниченной ответственностью «СиАйЭйчРус» проверены.

Зарегистрировано в реестре за №_____

Взыскано по тарифу: _____ руб. (с учетом прав. и тех.работы).

Signed in the presence of:

Witness Signature

Witness Name

)))

Witness Occupation

Witness Address

EXECUTED and **DELIVERED** as a **DEED** for and on behalf of **OTKRITIE INVESTMENT CYPRUS LIMITED**

Signed in the presence of:

Witness Signature

Witness Name

)))

Witness Occupation

Witness Address

EXECUTED and **DELIVERED** as a **DEED** for and on behalf of **OTKRITIE HOLDING JSC**

Signed in the presence of:

Witness Signature

Witness Name

)))

Witness Occupation

Witness Address

THIS VOTING AGREEMENT is dated <u>02</u> June 2015.

AMONG:

- (1) **SALDIVAR INVESTMENTS LIMITED**, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with its registered office at Themistokli Dervi, 6 P.C. 1066, Nicosia, Cyprus (the "<u>Principal Shareholder</u>"); and
- (2) **OTKRITIE INVESTMENTS CYPRUS LIMITED**, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with registration number HE 301373, whose registered address is at Angelou Vlachou, 4A, 6052, Larnaca, Cyprus ("<u>OICL</u>").

RECITALS

- (A) On 14 May 2015, OICL entered into a subscription agreement (the "<u>Subscription Agreement</u>") with, *inter alios*, QIWI plc (the "<u>Company</u>") to acquire 5,593,041 class B ordinary shares (the "<u>Subscription Shares</u>") in the Company.
- (B) Saldivar Investments Limited holds 11,877,821 class A ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately 58.83 per cent of the voting power of the Company's issued share capital.
- (C) The articles of association of the Company (the "<u>Articles of Association</u>") provide that members of the Company's board of directors ("<u>Directors</u>") who are not deemed "Independent Directors" (as such term is defined in the Company's Articles of Association) shall be elected by a resolution of the general meeting of the Company in which each shareholder may cast for one or more nominees as many votes as the votes attached to its shares multiplied by a number equal to the number of Directors to be so appointed.
- (D) The Principal Shareholder and OICL have agreed to enter into this Agreement in order to govern certain arrangements with respect to the appointment and election of the Nominated Director.

THE PARTIES AGREE as follows:

- 1. <u>Definitions and Interpretation</u>
- 1.1 In this Agreement, the following words and expressions shall unless the context otherwise requires have the following meanings:

"ADS" means American depositary shares;

"<u>Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to any person, any other person directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, Controlling, Controlled by or under common Control with such person and, in the case of a trust, any trustee or beneficiary (actual or potential) of that trust and, in the case of an individual, any person connected with him, provided that, for the purposes of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is to be regarded as an Affiliate of OICL;

"<u>Applicable Law(s)</u>" means all laws, regulations, directives, statutes, subordinate legislation, common law and civil codes of any jurisdiction, all judgments, orders, notices, instructions, decisions and awards of any court or competent authority or tribunal and all codes of practice having force of law, statutory guidance and policy notes;

"Board" means the board of directors of the Company from time to time;

"Business Day" means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Moscow (Russia); New York (United States) and Nicosia (Cyprus);

"Completion 1" has the meaning ascribed to it in the Subscription Agreement;

"<u>Confidential Information</u>" means the existence and contents of this Agreement and the arrangements contemplated by this Agreement in each case except to the extent that such information is, has or does become available:

(i) to a Party through the public domain other than pursuant to a breach of an obligation of confidentiality in respect thereof by such Party or its Representatives; or

(ii) pursuant to disclosure, in a non-confidential manner, to a Party by a source which to the knowledge of such Party is not prohibited to disclose the information by reason of any legal, contractual or fiduciary obligation;

"<u>Control</u>" in relation to an undertaking means the direct or indirect holding or control of: (a) a majority of the voting rights exercisable at general meetings of the members of that undertaking on all, or substantially all, matters; (b) the right to appoint or remove directors having a majority of the voting rights exercisable at meetings of the board of directors of that undertaking on all, or substantially all, matters; or (c) the right (whether pursuant to a contract, understanding or other arrangement) to direct or cause to be directed directly or indirectly a dominant influence over such other undertaking, and (i) where an undertaking is not a company, references above to directors, general meetings and members shall be deemed to refer to the equivalent bodies in such undertaking; and (ii) "<u>Controlled</u>" and "<u>Controlling</u>" shall have a corresponding meaning;

"Director" means a member of the Board of the Company;

"Dispute" has the meaning given to it in clause 15.2;

"General Meeting" has the meaning given to it in Regulations 53 and 54 of the Articles of Association;

"LCIA" has the meaning given to it in clause 15.2;

"LCIA Rules" has the meaning given to it in clause 15.2;

"<u>Nominated Director</u>" has the meaning given in clause 2.1;

"Parties" means the Principal Shareholder and OICL, each a "Party" and, together, the "Parties";

"<u>Repo</u>" means any agreement whereby OICL (a) enters into a repurchase agreement, hypothecation, securitisation or other similar arrangement in relation to the Subscription Shares or, following the deposit of the Subscription Shares into QIWI's ADS program, the ADSs, (b) grants security over the Subscription Shares or ADSs, as the case may be; or (c) uses as collateral or pledge the Subscription Shares or ADSs, as the case may be.

- 1.2 In this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires:
 - 1.2.1 references to a "person" include a body corporate, an unincorporated association, a trust and a partnership;
 - 1.2.2 references to any statutory provision, rule or law shall include references to such statutory provision, rule or law as it may, after the date of this Agreement, from time to time be amended, supplemented or re-enacted and any subordinate legislation made under such statutory provision;
 - 1.2.3 references to "clauses" are to clauses of this Agreement; and
 - 1.2.4 words denoting the singular shall include the plural and vice versa and words denoting any gender shall include all genders.
- 1.3 The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect its interpretation or construction.

2. <u>Undertakings</u>

- 2.1 OICL shall have a right (but not an obligation) to nominate for appointment as Director at the General Meeting, in accordance with Regulation 82B of the Articles of Association, (i) Mr. Evgeny Dankevitch, or (ii) if Mr. Evgeny Dankevitch does not consent to his appointment as Director (for any reason in Mr. Dankevitch's sole discretion and without a necessity to justify such decision), then (a) a replacement nominee agreed with the Principal Shareholder (any such nominee pursuant to this clause 2.1, a "Nominated Director").
- 2.2 Subject to clause 3.2, the Principal Shareholder undertakes that:
 - 2.2.1 at written request of OICL to the Principal Shareholder, the Principal Shareholder and OICL shall, together, call a General Meeting in accordance with Regulation 54(b) and 55 of the Articles of Association to elect the Nominated Director as Director, provided however that OICL may only deliver one written request to call a General Meeting pursuant to this clause 2.2.1;
 - 2.2.2 the Principal Shareholder shall cast at any General Meeting called pursuant to clause 2.2.1 such votes as are necessary in order to ensure the election of the Nominated Director at the General Meeting;
 - 2.2.3 for a one year period following the election of the Nominated Director, the Principal Shareholder shall:
 - 2.2.3.1 at any annual General Meeting or a General Meeting where a new composition of the Board is being elected, cast such votes as is necessary in order to ensure the re-election (or if no notice pursuant to clause 2.2.1 was served, the election) of the Nominated Director at the General Meeting, and
 - 2.2.3.2 not call any General Meeting relating to the removal of the Nominated Director or otherwise cast any votes at any general meeting of members of the Company to remove the Nominated Director,

provided that such one-year term shall start from the date of first election of the Nominated Director pursuant to Clause 2.2.2, notwithstanding any further possible re-election of such Nominated Director pursuant to clause 2.2.3.1.

provided however, that the Principal Shareholder shall not have any obligations under this clause 2.2, if the appointment of such Nominated Director would violate Applicable Law or the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC.

3. <u>Effectiveness and Termination</u>

- 3.1 This clause 3 and clauses 1, 4 to 12 (inclusive) and 14 to 15 (inclusive) come into force and effect upon the execution of this Agreement by the Parties. The remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be effective only upon Completion 1.
- 3.2 Save in respect of any rights and obligations which have accrued in favour of any Party before such time, this Agreement shall immediately terminate and cease to have effect upon the earlier of:
 - 3.2.1 the first anniversary of the date of execution of this Agreement; or
 - 3.2.2 on and from the date upon which OICL and all of its Affiliates cease to hold (directly or indirectly) more than 2,237,216 class B shares (or ADSs representing such class B shares). For the avoidance of doubt, Subscription Shares (or ADSs representing Subscription Shares) subject to a Repo will be deemed to be held by OICL.
- 3.3 Notwithstanding clause 3.2, clauses 1, 3, 4 to 12 (inclusive) and clauses 14 to 15 (inclusive) shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
- 4. <u>Confidentiality</u>
- 4.1 Save as provided in clause 4.2, no Party shall disclose to any third party, or use or exploit commercially for its or their own purposes any Confidential Information. The obligations of the parties under this clause 4.1 shall remain in force until the relevant information enters the public domain otherwise than by the default of a Party.
- 4.2 The obligations of confidentiality in clause 4.1 shall not apply in respect of the disclosing of Confidential Information in the following circumstances:
 - 4.2.1 in connection with the performance of each Party's obligations hereunder or the enforcement of its rights hereunder;

- 4.2.2 to its Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, and professional advisers or its and/or their Affiliates (the "<u>Representatives</u>") to the extent reasonably required for purposes connected with this Agreement or any other Transactional Document;
- 4.2.3 pursuant to any listing agreement with or the rules and regulations of any recognised security exchange on which securities of such Party or any of its Affiliates are listed and/or traded;
- 4.2.4 as required by Applicable Law,

provided in each case set out in clauses 4.2.1 and 4.2.2 above, the Party disclosing the same shall take all reasonable steps to preserve the confidentiality thereof and to ensure that such information shall be used only for the purposes for which it has been disclosed.

- 4.3 If a Party becomes required, in circumstances contemplated by clause 4.2.3 or 4.2.4, to disclose any information such Party shall (save to the extent prohibited by such rules and regulations or Applicable Law) give to the other Party such notice as is practical in the circumstances of such disclosure and shall co-operate with the other Party, having due regard to the other Party's views, and take such steps as the other Party may reasonably require in order to enable it to mitigate the effects of, or avoid the requirements for, any such disclosure, <u>provided</u> that the Parties agree that this Agreement may be disclosed by each Party and any of each of their Affiliates in any statement required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules promulgated thereunder.
- 4.4 In the event that any Affiliate of any Party who has received Confidential Information is requested in any Litigation to disclose Confidential Information, that Party shall give each other Party prompt written notice of such request (if permitted by Applicable Law) so that each other Party may seek an appropriate protective order. If in the absence of a protective order a Party's Affiliate is compelled to disclose Confidential Information, such Representative may disclose such portion of the Confidential Information that in the opinion of the disclosing Party's counsel such Affiliate is compelled to disclose without liability under this Agreement; provided, however, that the disclosing Party shall give the other Party written notice of the Confidential Information to be disclosed as far in advance of its disclosure as is practicable (if permitted by Applicable Law) and shall use reasonable efforts to obtain assurances that confidential treatment will be accorded to such Confidential Information.

In this clause 4.4, "<u>Litigation</u>" means any action, cause of action, claim, demand, suit, proceeding, citation, summons, subpoena, inquiry or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, regulatory or otherwise, in law or in equity, pending or threatened, by or before any court, tribunal, arbitrator, expert or other governmental authority.

5. <u>Variations</u>

No variation of this Agreement (or any of the documents referred to in it) shall be valid unless it is in writing (which, for this purpose, does not include email) and signed by or on behalf of each of the Parties. The expression "variation" includes any variation, supplement, deletion or replacement however effected.

6. <u>Waiver</u>

The rights and remedies of the Parties shall not be affected by any failure to exercise or delay in exercising any right or remedy or by the giving of any indulgence by any other Party or by anything whatsoever except a specific waiver or release in writing and any such waiver or release shall not prejudice or affect any other rights or remedies of the Parties. No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy shall prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy.

7. <u>Entire Agreement</u>

- 7.1 Each of the Parties to this Agreement confirms on behalf of itself and its Affiliates that this Agreement, represents the entire understanding, and constitutes the whole agreement, in relation to its subject matter and supersedes any previous agreement between the Parties with respect thereto and, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, excludes any warranty, condition or other undertaking implied at law or by custom, usage or course of dealing.
- 7.2 Each Party confirms on behalf of itself and its Affiliates that:
 - 7.2.1 in entering into this Agreement it has not relied on any representation, warranty, assurance, covenant, indemnity, undertaking or commitment which is not expressly set out or referred to in this Agreement or the agreed form documents; and
 - 7.2.2 in any event, without prejudice to any liability for fraudulent misrepresentation or fraudulent misstatement, the only rights or remedies in relation to any representation, warranty, assurance, covenant, indemnity, undertaking or commitment given or action taken in connection with this Agreement or with any of the agreed form documents are those pursuant to this Agreement or such agreed form document, and for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, no Party has any other right or remedy (whether by way of a claim for contribution or otherwise) in tort (including negligence) or for misrepresentation (whether negligent or otherwise, and whether made prior to, or in, this Agreement).

8. <u>Assignment</u>

No Party shall be entitled to assign its rights or transfer its obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party, except that OICL may assign its rights to an Affiliate, subject to any assignee becoming a party to this Agreement by entering into a Deed of Adherence in the form contained in <u>Appendix A</u> to this Agreement.

9. <u>Unenforceable Provisions</u>

If any provision or part of this Agreement is void or unenforceable due to any Applicable Law, it shall be deemed to be deleted and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. Each Party shall use its reasonable endeavours to replace the invalid provision in that respect with a valid and enforceable substitute provision the effect of which is as close (commercially and legally) to its intended effect as possible.

10. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the Parties to it on separate counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original, but all the counterparts together constitute one instrument.

11. <u>Costs</u>

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each of the Parties shall each be responsible for their own costs, charges and other expenses (including those of their respective Affiliates) incurred in connection with negotiating, preparing, entering into and completing this Agreement (including any notarization and/or registration fees).

12. <u>Notices</u>

- 12.1 A notice (including any approval, consent or other communication) in connection with this Agreement and the documents referred to in it or with any arbitration under this Agreement:
 - 12.1.1 must be in writing in English;
 - 12.1.2 for the avoidance of doubt, must not be sent by electronic mail;
 - 12.1.3 must be delivered by hand, fax or courier using an internationally recognised courier company to the address specified below in relation to the Party to whom the notice is addressed, and marked for the attention of the person so specified, or to such other address or fax number or marked for the attention of such other person, as the relevant Party may from time to time specify by notice given in accordance with this clause.
 - 12.1.4 The relevant details of each Party at the date of this Agreement are:

12.1.4.1 in the case of the Principal Shareholder, to:

8, Digeni Akrita Avenue Office 403, P.C. 1045 Nicosia, Cyprus

12.1.4.2 in the case of OICL, to:

2\4 Letnikovskaya street

115114, Moscow, Russia

12.2 In the absence of evidence of earlier receipt, any notice shall take effect from the time that it is deemed to be received in accordance with clause 12.3.

- 12.3 Subject to clause 12.4, a notice is deemed to be received:
 - 12.3.1 in the case of a notice delivered by hand or courier at the address of the addressee given in clause 12.1 above, upon delivery at that address; and
 - 12.3.2 in the case of a notice delivered by fax, at the time of transmission (provided that a transmission report from the machine from which the fax was sent is received by the sender which indicates that the fax was sent in its entirety to the fax number of the recipient).
- 12.4 A notice received, or deemed to be received, on a day which is not a business day in the place of receipt, or after 5pm on any business day in the place of receipt, shall be deemed to have been received on the next following business day in the place of receipt (and for the purposes of this clause, a business day in the place of receipt shall mean a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open for general business in that place).
- 12.5 The parties agree that the provisions of this clause shall not apply to the service of any writ, summons, order, judgment or other document relating to or in connection with any legal proceedings and service of any request for arbitration or other document in arbitral proceedings commenced pursuant to this Agreement shall be at the address given at clause 15.

13. <u>Representations and Warranties</u>

- 13.1 OICL represents and warrants to the Principal Shareholder as follows:
 - 13.1.1 it has the requisite power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement;
 - 13.1.2 this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of OICL enforceable in accordance with its terms; and
 - 13.1.3 the execution and delivery of, and the performance by it of its obligations under, this Agreement will not:
 - 13.1.3.1 result in any breach of any provision of its memorandum or articles of association or equivalent constitutional documents;
 - 13.1.3.2 result in breach of, or constitute a default under, any instrument to which OICL is a party or by which OICL is bound and which is material in the context of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
 - 13.1.3.3 result in breach of any order, judgment or decree of any court or governmental agency to which OICL is a party or by which OICL is bound and which is material in the context of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or
 - 13.1.3.4 require it to obtain any consent or approval of, or give any notice to or make any registration with, any governmental or regulatory authority which has not been obtained or made at the date hereof.

- 13.2 The Principal Shareholder represents and warrants to OICL as follows:
 - 13.2.1 it has the requisite power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement;
 - 13.2.2 this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Principal Shareholder enforceable in accordance with its terms; and
 - 13.2.3 the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the Principal Shareholder of its obligations under, this Agreement will not:
 - 13.2.3.1 result in any breach of any provision of its memorandum or articles of association or equivalent constitutional documents of the Principal Shareholder;
 - 13.2.3.2 result in breach of, or constitute a default under, any instrument to which the Principal Shareholder is a party or by which the Principal Shareholder is bound and which is material in the context of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
 - 13.2.3.3 result in breach of any order, judgment or decree of any court or governmental agency to which the Principal Shareholder is a party or by which the Principal Shareholder is bound and which is material in the context of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or
 - 13.2.3.4 require the Principal Shareholder to obtain any consent or approval of, or give any notice to or make any registration with, any governmental or regulatory authority which has not been obtained or made at the date hereof.

14. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No term of this Agreement is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by a person who is not a Party to this Agreement.

15. Law and Jurisdiction

- 15.1 This Agreement and any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter, existence, negotiation, validity, termination, breach or enforceability (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 15.2 Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter, including any question regarding its existence, negotiation, termination, breach, validity or enforceability (including any non-contractual disputes or claims) ("<u>Dispute</u>") shall be referred to, and finally resolved by, arbitration under the Rules of Arbitration (the "<u>LCIA Rules</u>") of the London Court of International Arbitration (the "<u>LCIA</u>") which rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this clause 15.2.
- 15.3 There shall be three (3) arbitrators appointed in accordance with the LCIA Rules. The claimant Party and the respondent Party shall each nominate one (1) arbitrator. Where either Party fails to nominate an arbitrator within the time provided by the LCIA Rules, that

arbitrator shall be appointed by the LCIA. The third arbitrator, who shall act as the chairman of the tribunal, shall be nominated by agreement of the first two (2) party-appointed arbitrators within fifteen (15) Business Days of the confirmation of the appointment of the second arbitrator, or in default of such agreement, appointed by the LCIA. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the LCIA Rules, in agreeing upon a third arbitrator, the two arbitrators may communicate directly with each other and their respective appointing parties. Each Party expressly agrees and consents to this process for nominating and appointing the arbitrators and, in the event that this clause 15.3 operates to exclude a Party's right to choose its own arbitrator, irrevocably and unconditionally waives any right to do so.

- 15.4 The seat, or legal place, of arbitration shall be London, England.
- 15.5 The language of the arbitration proceedings shall be English.
- 15.6 The award of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on the Parties, their successors and assigns.
- 15.7 Nothing in clauses 15.2 to 15.6 shall limit the rights of the Parties to bring proceedings against another Party in any court of competent jurisdiction in order to:
 - 15.7.1 enforce an arbitration award rendered in accordance with clauses 15.2 to 15.6; or
 - 15.7.2 make a claim for interim or injunctive relief.
- 15.8 Each Party agrees that if more than one arbitration is commenced under this Agreement or any document related to this Agreement, and any Party contends that two or more arbitrations are substantially related and that the issues should be heard in one proceeding, the arbitral tribunal appointed in such proceedings as have been filed with the LCIA first in time shall have the discretion to determine whether, in the interests of justice and efficiency and taking into account the stage of the proceedings and all other relevant circumstances, the proceedings should be consolidated before that arbitral tribunal and any Party should be joined to such proceedings.
- 15.9 Each Party agrees that it may be joined as an additional party to an arbitration involving other Parties under this Agreement or any document related to this Agreement. Any joined Party (even if it chooses not to participate in the arbitral proceedings) shall be bound by any award rendered by the arbitral tribunal.
- 15.10 The law of this arbitration agreement shall be the law of England and Wales.

15.11 Each Party hereby irrevocably undertakes to at all times maintain an agent with an address in England and Wales for service of process and any other documents in proceedings in England or any other proceedings in connection with this Agreement, and to keep the other Party advised of the identity and address of such agent, for so long as it has any obligations under this Agreement. Any claim form, request for arbitration, judgement or any other notice of legal process whatsoever shall be sufficiently served on:

(a) Saldivar Investments Limited, if delivered to:

(i) Saldivar Investments Limited
c/o Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited
Fifth Floor
100 Wood Street
London EC2V 7EX
United Kingdom

or

(ii) if delivered to the last address notified to OICL as an address for service under this clause 15.

(b) OICL, if delivered to:

(i) Otkritie Capital International Limited12th Floor, 88 Wood Street,London, EC2V 7RSUnited Kingdom

or

(ii) if delivered to the last address notified to the Principal Shareholder as an address for service under this clause 15.

IN WITNESS whereof this Agreement has been executed and hereby delivered as a deed on the date first above written.

Executed and delivered as a deed by **SALDIVAR INVESTMENTS LIMITED** acting by who, in accordance with the laws of the territory in which it is incorporated, is acting under its authority

in the presence of: Witness signature: Name:

Executed and delivered as a deed by OTKRITIE INVESTMENTS CYPRUS LIMITED

acting by

who, in accordance with the laws of the territory in which it is incorporated, is acting under its authority

in the presence of: Witness signature: Name:

APPENDIX A DEED OF ADHERENCE

THIS AGREEMENT is dated

AMONG:

- (1) **SALDIVAR INVESTMENTS LIMITED**, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with its registered office at Themistokli Dervi, 6 P.C. 1066, Nicosia, Cyprus (the "<u>Principal Shareholder</u>"); and
- (2) OTKRITIE INVESTMENTS CYPRUS LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Cyprus with registration number HE 301373, whose registered address is at Angelou Vlachou, 4A, 6052, Larnaca, Cyprus ("<u>OICL</u>" and, together with the Principal Shareholder and the Company, the "<u>Original Parties</u>"); and
- (3) [*insert name*] of [*insert address*]]/[*insert name of corporate*] [a company] incorporated under the laws of [*insert jurisdiction*] [with registered number [*insert number*]] and having its [registered office]/[principal place of business at [*insert address*]] (the "<u>New Party</u>").

RECITALS:

- (A) Prior to the date hereof, the New Party is not a contracting party to the voting agreement executed as a deed and dated [*insert date*] amongst the Original Parties (the "<u>Voting Agreement</u>").
- (B) This Agreement is entered into between the Original Parties to the Voting Agreement and the New Party in compliance with the terms of the Voting Agreement [(as amended)].

THIS DEED WITNESSES as follows:

- 1. The New Party confirms that it has been supplied with a copy of the Voting Agreement.
- 2. The New Party undertakes to be bound by the Voting Agreement in all respects as if the New Party was a party to the Voting Agreement and named in it as [] and to observe and perform all the provisions and obligations of the Voting Agreement applicable to or binding on [] under the Voting Agreement insofar as they fall to be observed or performed on or after the date of this Agreement.
- 3. This Agreement is made for the benefit of the parties to the Voting Agreement and for every other person who after the date of the Voting Agreement (and whether before or after the execution of this Agreement) assumes any rights or obligations under the Voting Agreement or adheres to it.
- 4. The address of the New Party for the purposes of the notice provision under the Voting Agreement is as follows:

Address: [insert address]

Attention of [insert name]

- 5. The New Party hereby irrevocable appoints [•] of [•] as its agent to receive and acknowledge on its behalf service of any claim for, application notice, judgment or other notice of legal process in England.
- 6. This Agreement, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law.

IN WITNESS whereof this Agreement has been executed and hereby delivered as a deed on the date first above written.

Executed and delivered as a deed by **SALDIVAR INVESTMENTS LIMITED** acting by who, in accordance with the laws of the territory in which it is incorporated, is acting under its authority

in the presence of: Witness signature: Name:

Executed and delivered as a deed by OTKRITIE INVESTMENTS CYPRUS LIMITED acting by

who, in accordance with the laws of the territory in which it is incorporated, is acting under its authority

in the presence of: Witness signature: Name: Executed and delivered as a deed by [•] acting by [•] who, in accordance with the laws of the territory in which it is incorporated, is acting

in the presence of:

under its authority

Witness signature:

Name: